



# Evidence-based care for

# older people with colorectal cancer:

# a grey area

Mikaela Louise Jorgensen

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney

# Contents

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	iv
DECLARATION	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
ABSTRACT	viii
ARISING FROM THIS THESIS	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	. 1
1.1. Cancer and the older person	. 1
1.2. Age differences in treatment and outcomes	10
1.3. Factors that may influence age differences in treatment	22
1.4. Specific gaps in existing literature	28
1.5. Thesis aims and hypotheses	31
1.6. References	33
Appendix 1.1. Permission to reproduce published material	73
Appendix 1.2. Definitions of survival and life expectancy	74
Appendix 1.3. Proportion of literature focusing on cancer and ageing	75
Chapter 2: Issues in measurement	76
Study 1. Contribution statement	77
2.1.1. Abstract	78
2.1.2. Introduction	79
2.1.3. Method	80
2.1.4. Results	82
2.1.5. Discussion	86
2.1.6. References	89
Appendix 2.1.1. Permission to reproduce published material	94

	Study 2. Contribution statement	. 95
	2.2.1. Abstract	. 96
	2.2.2. Introduction	. 97
	2.2.3. Method	. 98
	2.2.4. Results	102
	2.2.5. Discussion	107
	2.2.6. References	111
Ch	apter 3: Local context	116
	Contribution statement	117
	3.1. Abstract	118
	3.2. Introduction	119
	3.3. Method	120
	3.4. Results	124
	3.5. Discussion	129
	3.6. References	132
	Appendix 3.1. Additional information about the NSW ClinCR	137
Ch	apter 4: The surgeon	138
	Contribution statement	139
	4.1. Abstract	140
	4.2. Introduction	141
	4.3. Method	142
	4.4. Results	144
	4.5. Discussion	149
	4.6. References	153
	Appendix 4.1. Permission to reproduce published material	158
	Appendix 4.2. Comparison of postal and internet survey methods	159
	Appendix 4.3. Example screenshot of online version of surgeon survey	160
	Appendix 4.4. Postal version of surgeon survey	161

Cł	hapter 5: The patient	166
	Contribution statement	167
	5.1. Abstract	168
	5.2. Introduction	169
	5.3. Method	171
	5.4. Results	174
	5.5. Discussion	178
	5.6. References	182
	Appendix 5.1. Permission to reproduce published material	187
	Appendix 5.2. Inpatient version of patient survey	188
Cł	napter 6: A risk model	192
	Contribution statement	193
	6.1. Abstract	194
	6.2. Introduction	195
	6.3. Method	196
	6.4. Results	200
	6.5. Discussion	205
	6.6. References	208
Cł	napter 7: Conclusions	214
	7.1. Summary of unique research findings	214
	7.2. Practical implications of findings	219
	7.3. Limitations	224
	7.4. Future directions and priorities	227
	7.5. References	229

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Figure 1. Age-specific colorectal cancer incidence rates by sex	2
Figure 2. Number and rate of new colorectal cancer cases by year and age group	3
Figure 3. Colorectal cancer mortality rates by year and age group	4
Table 1. Population and colorectal cancer life expectancy in years by sex and age	5
Table 2. Staging and guidelines for adjuvant therapy 1	2

#### **Chapter 2: Issues in measurement**

#### Study 1

Table 1. Characteristics of participants by age group at baseline	82
Table 2. Multiple regression results for age and other independent predictors	83
Figure 1. Levels of unmet need by domain and age group	84
Figure 2. Percentage of answers in each response category by age group	85

## Study 2

Table 1. Characteristics of participants at baseline	101
Table 2. FACT-C items with a non-response rate of over 5% at each time point	102
Figure 1. Percentage of participants with FACT-C items missing at each time point	103
Table 3. Significant associations between age and item non-response	103
Table 4. Two examples comparing imputation methods for mean domain scores	106

## **Chapter 3: Local context**

Figure 1. Flowchart defining the denominator for receipt of adjuvant therapy	120
Table 1. Characteristics of patients receiving surgery for colorectal cancer in NSW	124
Figure 2. Unadjusted rates of chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt by age	125
Table 2. Results of multivariable models for receipt of adjuvant therapy	127

## Chapter 4: The surgeon

Figure 1. Example of self-reported practice question	142
Table 1. Characteristics of colorectal surgeons responding to survey	144
Table 2. Likelihood of referring an older and younger patient for chemotherapy	145
Table 3. Responses to knowledge questions	146
Table 4. Responses to opinion questions	147

## Chapter 5: The patient

Table 1. Characteristics of colorectal cancer patients responding to survey	173
Table 2. Factors of importance in chemotherapy decision making	175
Table 3. Patient preferences for information and involvement in decision making	176

## Chapter 6: A risk model

Figure 1. Flowchart defining the denominator for the mortality risk model	196
Table 1. Characteristics of older patients receiving surgery for colon cancer	200
Table 2. Risk factors for one-year mortality in multilevel logistic regression model	201
Table 3. Scores for each factor in mortality risk model	201
Figure 2. One-year mortality by total risk score	204

This thesis is submitted to the University of Sydney in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

The work presented in this thesis is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, original except as acknowledged in the text. I carried out the research and compilation of this thesis under the supervision of Professor Jane Young, Sydney School of Public Health, and Professor Michael Solomon, Discipline of Surgery, University of Sydney. My specific contributions to jointly authored papers are outlined at the start of the relevant chapter.

I hereby declare that I have not submitted this material, either in full or in part, for a degree at this or any other institution.

Signature: \_\_\_\_

Date: 08/01/2014

Though the process of completing this thesis has literally given me grey hair, there are a number of people who have made these last few years easier.

First and foremost, to my supervisor Jane Young – I would like to express my deepest gratitude for your time, wisdom and encouragement; without you I would have given up on this whole endeavour. To my associate supervisor Michael Solomon, thank you for your expertise and pragmatism, and I think I can just about read your handwriting now! I would also like to thank all of my colleagues at the Surgical Outcomes Research Centre (SOuRCe) and Cancer Epidemiology and Services Research (CESR) for the daily chats and advice, particularly Tim Dobbins, for teaching me how to use Stata and subject lines, and James Harrison, for the wise words.

To my better half Andrew, the "a lot" to my "alot", thank you for proofreading the introduction and conclusion chapters, and more importantly, for your love, laughter and devastating good looks. Marion and John, thanks too for your ongoing support. A shout out to my friends for supplying much needed distractions over these years, and yes, I have finished writing my thesis! Last but certainly not least, I am forever grateful to my oldest and biggest fans: my parents Jayne and Baz, my Nan, and even my sis Britta. I wish Damon were here to share all of the LOLs too.

I would also like to acknowledge the Cancer Institute NSW for their support in providing a postgraduate scholarship and grant funding. And of course, my sincere appreciation goes to all participants who took part in this research.

# Abstract

Colorectal cancer is primarily a disease of ageing, yet older adults are underrepresented in both clinical and health services cancer research. There is evidence that older patients are less likely to receive guideline-recommended treatment than younger patients based on their age alone. However, treatment decision making for this group can be complex. This thesis presents a series of studies that explore the barriers to the evidence-based care of older people with colorectal cancer in New South Wales (NSW), with a focus on the receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy. The chapters forming the body of the thesis consist of peer-reviewed published, accepted or submitted publications.

**Chapter 1** provides an introduction to the role of age in cancer care and outcomes. People aged over 65 currently represent more than two-thirds of newly diagnosed colorectal cancer cases in NSW. With the ageing of the population, the number of older adults with colorectal cancer is expected to increase dramatically. This chapter describes the unique physiological, functional, social, life expectancy, quality of life, and cost-effectiveness considerations in treating this growing and heterogeneous group. Current evidence-based recommendations for colorectal cancer treatment are outlined, including the efficacy and potential adverse effects of surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Chapter 1 then summarises existing literature on the impact of age on the receipt of colorectal cancer care and on patient outcomes. Previously identified barriers to the implementation and acceptance of guideline-recommended treatment for older adults are described, as well as gaps and limitations of this research. Lastly, the specific aims of this thesis are outlined. These consist of: 1) exploring issues in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes that may affect patient care, 2) establishing current levels and predictors of adjuvant therapy receipt in NSW, 3) investigating physician and patient-based barriers to adjuvant therapy use, and 4) developing a risk model that could be used in chemotherapy decision making.

Patient-reported outcomes are increasingly being recognised as integral to both research and clinical practice for informing decision making and monitoring treatment effects. **Chapter 2** presents the results of two studies that explore issues in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes that may affect the treatment and care that older patients receive. This involved the use of existing prospectively collected data from participants in the control groups of pilot phases of a supportive care intervention following colorectal cancer surgery (n=57). In Study 1, the unmet supportive care needs of older and younger patients were compared at one month and three months after hospital discharge. Older age independently predicted significantly lower levels of unmet need in nearly all domains of the Supportive Care Needs Survey-Short Form 34. However, older patients were less likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs, instead being more likely to report items were 'not applicable' at both one month (mean difference 29%, p<0.001) and three months (mean difference 23%, p=0.01). More than half of all older patients also had unmet needs at both time points. In Study 2, age differences in item non-response were explored in quality of life (QOL) assessments that had been completed using the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Colorectal at baseline, one month and three months after hospital discharge. Older age was significantly associated with non-response to a number of 'sensitive' questionnaire items (e.g. sex life, diarrhoea), as well as with greater levels of missing data overall. QOL in the social/family domain was overestimated when simple mean imputation was used to manage missing data. Where needs and QOL are not accurately captured or represented, older adults may be less likely to receive care that would enable them to better cope with their cancer and cancer treatment.

**Chapter 3** establishes current levels of adjuvant therapy use for colorectal cancer in NSW and identifies patient and hospital-level predictors of treatment receipt. Linked populationbased administrative and clinical data was used to examine the records of 580 people with lymph node-positive colon cancer, and 498 people with high-risk rectal cancer, who underwent surgery in NSW following their diagnosis in 2007/2008. Overall, 65-73% of eligible patients received chemotherapy and 42-53% received radiotherapy. Increasing age was strongly associated with decreasing likelihood of receiving chemotherapy for lymph node-positive colon cancer (p<0.001) and receiving radiotherapy for high-risk rectal cancer (p=0.003), even after adjusting for confounders such as Charlson comorbidity score and American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status. Other independent predictors of chemotherapy receipt included having an elective resection and having a current partner. Being discussed at a multidisciplinary team meeting also facilitated radiotherapy use. Adjuvant therapy rates varied widely between hospitals where surgery was performed. While chronological age alone continues to impact receipt of guidelinerecommended adjuvant therapy, variation by hospital and other identified predictors indicates the potential to improve the care of older colorectal cancer patients in NSW.

Surgeons act as important gatekeepers to the care of patients after their cancer surgery. In Chapter 4, a survey of Australian and New Zealand colorectal surgeons was conducted to identify factors affecting their decisions to refer older patients to oncology. The selfadministered survey consisted of three sections: 1) knowledge of current research evidence, 2) opinions on evidence and adjuvant therapy use in older patients, and 3) selfreported practice, or likelihood of referring a younger patient (60 years) and an older patient (80 years) across a range of different scenarios. Seventy percent of surgeons responded (n=102). Surgeons were significantly less likely to refer an older patient than a younger patient for adjuvant therapy in all scenarios (p<0.001), including when the patient had no other medical problems. The difference in referral recommendations was greatest when patients lived a long way from treatment, had a comorbid condition, or had little social support. There was larger variation in referral recommendations for older patients, and marked disagreement between surgeons in knowledge and opinion questions. Greater knowledge and more positive opinions predicted similar referral recommendations for older and younger patients (p=0.02, p=0.01). The lack of consensus among surgeons suggests that more research is needed both to predict the benefit and risks of treatment for older patients, and to determine how information from emerging evidence can best be used to assist physicians' treatment decisions.

Х

Patients who decide not to undergo adjuvant therapy are typically older than those who accept treatment. **Chapter 5** reports the findings of a survey that aimed to identify potential barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use in older patients by examining the associations between patient age, factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions, and preferences for information and decision-making involvement. A self-administered survey was completed by sixty-eight patients who had undergone surgery for colorectal cancer in a tertiary referral hospital in NSW within the previous 24 months. Fear of dying, health status, age, quality of life, and understanding treatment procedures and effects were significantly more important to older patients (aged  $\geq$ 65 years) than younger patients in deciding whether to accept chemotherapy (all p<0.05). Reducing the risk of the cancer returning and physician trust were important factors for all patients. While older patients preferred less information and less involvement in treatment decisions than younger patients, the majority of the older group wanted detailed chemotherapy information and rated many factors as important in their decision making. This study also revealed that surgeons' and patients' perceived barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use may differ. Practical barriers such as distance to treatment were important to the colorectal surgeons surveyed in Chapter 4, but were not important to the older patients in this study. Through greater understanding and explicit assessment of patient preferences and perceived barriers to treatment, physicians may be better able to support older patients to make informed decisions about their care.

Taken together, the results of Chapters 3 and 4 imply that surgeon knowledge and views are a contributing factor to the age differences in adjuvant therapy receipt in NSW. **Chapter 6** describes the development of a mortality risk model that could be used by clinicians to assist the identification of patients who would benefit from discussion about adjuvant chemotherapy and their treatment preferences. All lymph node-positive patients aged  $\geq 65$  years who received surgery for colon cancer in NSW in 2007/2008 were identified using a linked population-based dataset (n=1,550). 12% of these patients did not survive the first year after surgery and therefore would not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

xi

A mortality risk model was built using multilevel logistic regression, and risk scores based on model predictors were summed for each patient. The risk model consisted of fourteen factors, including patient comorbidities, hospital admission factors, and other markers of frailty or health status. Age was not an independent predictor of mortality in the adjusted model. People with a total risk score of 0, 1 or 2 were considered at low risk (predicted one-year mortality of 3.0%), those scoring 3 to 6 at medium risk (7.5% mortality), and those with a score of 7 or above were considered at high risk of mortality (25.8% mortality). The model had good discrimination (AUC=0.79, 95% CI: 0.75-0.83) and calibration (p=0.46).The risk model may be useful in shifting the emphasis in treatment decision making from chronological age to the identification of those of any age who will live to benefit from these resources.

**Chapter 7** provides an overview of the unique contributions of the research presented in this thesis. This includes the identification of a range of factors that impact the treatment of older colorectal cancer patients locally, and the potential of linked routinely collected data to monitor and generate evidence for an underresearched and at-risk patient group in NSW. This chapter also addresses the limitations and methodological issues that were encountered, and discusses implications of the work for clinical practice and for the future research that is needed to ensure greater understanding and improved outcomes for older people with colorectal cancer.

#### **Peer-reviewed publications**

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Harrison JD, Solomon MJ. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Supportive Care in Cancer 2012; 20(6): 1275-81.

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. Does patient age still affect receipt of adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in New South Wales, Australia? Journal of Geriatric Oncology. [Accepted].

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Diseases of the Colon & Rectum 2011; 54(3): 335-41.

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions. Patient Preference and Adherence 2013; 7: 827-34.

#### Papers submitted for review

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older cancer patients and missing data in quality of life questionnaires.

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. A mortality risk prediction model for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer.

#### Awards

Early Career Researcher Award, NSW & ACT Cancer Epidemiology Network Meeting, Sydney, December 2011.

Early Career Award, Australasian Epidemiological Association Annual Scientific Meeting, Sydney, September 2010.

#### **Oral presentations at conferences**

Jorgensen M, Young J, Dobbins T, Solomon M. A mortality risk prediction tool for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Annual Scientific Meeting, Adelaide, November 2013.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Dobbins T, Solomon M. A mortality risk prediction tool for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer. National Conference of Emerging Researchers in Ageing, Sydney, November 2013.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Dobbins T, Solomon M. The effect of patient age on receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy for node-positive colon cancer: a population-based health data linkage study, Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Annual Scientific Meeting, Brisbane, November 2012.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. What do older colorectal cancer patients want? Age differences in factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions, NSW & ACT Cancer Epidemiology Network Meeting, Sydney, December 2011.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions and practice. National Conference of Emerging Researchers in Ageing, Newcastle, October 2010.

Jorgensen M. Assessment of older cancer patients' needs. Australasian Epidemiological Association Annual Scientific Meeting, Early Career Workshop, Sydney, September 2010. Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions and practice. Sydney Cancer Conference, July 2010.

Jorgensen M, King M, Harrison J, Young J. The curious case of the missing items: older patients and a quality of life questionnaire. Cancer Epidemiology Network Inaugural Meeting, University of Sydney, December 2009.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions and practice. University of Sydney Cancer Research Network Scientific Meeting, November 2009.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Harrison J, Solomon M. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Health Services & Policy Research Conference, Brisbane, November 2009.

#### Poster presentations at conferences

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. A matter of opinion: age differences in colorectal cancer patients' and physicians' views on chemotherapy treatment decisions. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Annual Scientific Meeting, Brisbane, November 2012.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions and practice. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Annual Scientific Meeting, November 2010.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Solomon M. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions and practice. Royal Australasian College of Surgeons Annual Scientific Meeting, Perth, May 2010.

Jorgensen M, Young J, Harrison J, Solomon M. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Clinical Oncology Society of Australia (COSA) Annual Scientific Meeting, Gold Coast, November 2009.

# **1** Introduction

This chapter provides an overview of the role of age in cancer care and outcomes. There are several excellent reviews and resources about cancer in the older person,<sup>1-6</sup> each reflecting the authors' own areas of interest and expertise. While a truly comprehensive review is beyond the scope of this thesis, the following chapter summarises the unique challenges faced by older people with colorectal cancer and their physicians, with a focus on the factors that may contribute to age differences in treatment practices. Gaps and limitations of the existing literature are identified, and the specific aims and approaches of this thesis to filling these gaps are outlined.

#### 1.1. Cancer and the older person

"If you're not a paediatric oncologist, you're a geriatric oncologist" (Lichtman, 2007).<sup>7</sup>

#### 1.1.1. A growing population

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in the world, with over 1.2 million new cases and an estimated 608,700 deaths occurring in 2008.<sup>8</sup> Australia has one of the highest incidence rates of CRC.<sup>9</sup> It is the second most frequently diagnosed invasive cancer and the second most common cause of cancer death, accounting for 13% of the total cancer burden and 9% of cancer-related deaths in Australia.<sup>10</sup> Five-year relative survival from CRC in Australia is currently 66%.<sup>11</sup> The majority of colorectal cancers are adenocarcinomas (96%),<sup>12</sup> with approximately two thirds arising in the colon and one third in the rectum.<sup>13</sup> Men have a higher lifetime risk of CRC than women, with 1 in 10 men and 1 in 15 women being diagnosed by the age of 85.<sup>14</sup> Cases are relatively rare in those under 45 years, however incidence rates rise sharply with age until around 80 years (see Figure 1). CRC is therefore described as a disease of ageing.



Figure 1. Age-specific colorectal cancer incidence rates by sex\*

The incidence of CRC in Australia has more than doubled in the last 30 years, from 6,970 cases in 1982 to 14,401 cases in 2009.<sup>14</sup> By 2020, the number of new cases is projected to reach 19,960,<sup>15</sup> an annual growth of over 3%. This outstrips the expected increase in the Australian population of 1% per year,<sup>16</sup> indicating that CRC will present an ever-increasing burden on the healthcare system. The main driver of the increasing incidence of CRC is population ageing.<sup>15</sup> While the age-standardised incidence rate has remained relatively stable since 1982, there has been a large increase in the number of new cases in those over 65 years (see Figure 2). People aged over 65 currently represent more than two thirds of newly diagnosed CRC cases,<sup>14,17</sup> and the average age of diagnosis is nearly 70 years.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>\*</sup>Based on Australian Institute of Health and Welfare material<sup>14</sup>



Figure 2. Number and rate of new colorectal cancer cases by year and age group\*

\*Based on Australian Institute of Health and Welfare material<sup>14</sup>

Population ageing is generally defined as a rise in the median age of an area caused by increasing life expectancy and/or a decline in birth rates. Population ageing is occurring in nearly every country and region,<sup>18</sup> and the speed of this ageing is likely to increase over the coming decades.<sup>19</sup> In Australia, the median age of the population has risen from 28 years in 1970 to 37 years in 2012.<sup>20,21</sup> People aged over 65 years currently make up more than 14% of Australia's population.<sup>21</sup> With those born during the post-WWII baby boom now beginning to enter into old age, the percentage of people over 65 is projected to increase to between 20% and 22% by 2033.<sup>16</sup> The number of people over 85 is also expected to more than double from 430,000 to nearly 1 million over the next 20 years.<sup>16</sup> Given the expected increase in the number of older people and therefore the number of older CRC patients, the needs of this population require increasing attention.

Preventing illness and promoting good health throughout life are a core part of the national strategy to encourage participation and reduce the potential burden of future health care costs.<sup>22</sup> CRC is particularly amenable to prevention and early detection, as most cancers are thought to originate from previously benign adenomas.<sup>23</sup> Improved detection through public awareness and screening could explain trends for increasing incidence rates of CRC

in older groups up to age 85,<sup>14</sup> despite a flat age-standardised rate overall. The National Bowel Cancer Screening program, in operation since 2006, has been found to be effective in diagnosing people at earlier stages of disease,<sup>24</sup> though it remains limited in scope.<sup>25</sup> Other community screening programs, such as Rotary Bowelscan, have been reported to have significant reach.<sup>26</sup> While Australia has one of the highest incidence rates of CRC, it has fewer late stage diagnoses than many other countries and is a leader in CRC survival.<sup>13</sup> Mortality rates among the elderly have also improved considerably (see Figure 3). Though 75% of the 4,047 CRC deaths in 2007 occurred in those over 65,<sup>14</sup> improved survival means a growing number of older CRC survivors with unique health needs.<sup>27,28</sup>



Figure 3. Colorectal cancer mortality rates by year and age group\*

\*Based on Australian Institute of Health and Welfare material<sup>14</sup>

Life expectancy should play a central role in treatment decisions.<sup>29</sup> Most of the life expectancy gains in the last few decades have been driven by people living longer into old age. Life expectancy at age 65 has increased since 1980 from 14 to 19 years for men, and from 18 to 22 years for women.<sup>30</sup> An important consideration alongside population ageing and cancer survivorship is the amount of remaining life spent in good health. Three major theories have emerged to explain how increases in life expectancy may affect health on a population level.<sup>31</sup> The "compression of morbidity" theory suggests that increases in life expectancy will be accompanied by a delay in the onset of disease.<sup>32</sup> In the "expansion of morbidity" theory, the lives of people with chronic disease will simply be extended by lifesustaining medical care.<sup>33,34</sup> The "dynamic equilibrium" theory highlights a delay in the progression of chronic disease, with a decreasing proportion of the life span spent in serious illness, but an expanding proportion of the life span with less severe illness.<sup>35</sup> A fourth more recent theory suggests an eventual emergence of a *very* old and frail population: an "epidemic of frailty".<sup>31</sup>

While people with CRC have a reduced life expectancy compared to the general population (see Table 1), even those aged 80 have a life expectancy of 5-7 years, and could expect 3-4 years of self-reported good health.<sup>36</sup> Differing definitions and a complicated and fluid relationship between longevity and morbidity means there is yet no consistent evidence of a compression or expansion of disability among older populations.<sup>37-40</sup> However, around half of the gains in life expectancy at age 65 between 1998 and 2009 in Australia were years with disability,<sup>40</sup> some of which were likely due to cancer sequelae. As the population ages, there will be a greater number of older people both with and without chronic health conditions. This means a growing and diverse population of older people with CRC who may also present with unique issues relating to the biology of ageing and cancer.

			Male	5				Female	S	
Age	Aus <sup>a</sup>	Aus DFLE <sup>b</sup>	CRC III, 0°	CRC III, 1-2 <sup>c</sup>	CRC surv HLE <sup>d</sup>	Aus <sup>a</sup>	Aus DFLE <sup>b</sup>	CRC III, 0 <sup>c</sup>	CRC III, 1-2 <sup>c</sup>	CRC surv HLE <sup>d</sup>
50	31.7	18.1			9.5	35.4	19.7			9.9
65	18.9	8.2			7.3	21.8	9.7			7.9
67	17.3		8.4	6.8	•	20.1		8.5	7.9	•
71	14.3		7.4	6.1	•	16.8		8.3	6.6	•
76	10.9		6.3	5.2	•	12.9		7.4	5.8	•
80	8.5	2.1			3.8	10.1	2.7			4.1
81	7.9		5.5	4.9	•	9.4		6.4	4.8	•
85	6.0	1.0				7.1	1.4			

Table 1. Population and colorectal cancer (CRC) life expectancy in years by sex and age

<sup>a</sup>All population life expectancy (Australia)<sup>30</sup>; <sup>b</sup>All population disability-free life expectancy (DFLE) (Australia)<sup>40</sup>;

<sup>c</sup>CRC stage III life expectancy, 0 or 1-2 comorbidities (USA)<sup>41</sup>; <sup>d</sup>CRC survivors healthy life expectancy (HLE) (Netherlands)<sup>36</sup>

#### 1.1.2. A disease of ageing

The strongest risk factor for cancer is age. However, there is no universally accepted view of the cause of this increased risk.<sup>42</sup> One view holds that time is the risk factor rather than age. Time is required for neoplastic changes to take place in normal tissues, and the dose and duration of carcinogenic exposure increases over a person's lifetime regardless of any effects of ageing.<sup>43,44</sup> Another view holds that age-related changes in physiology may provide a favourable environment for the initiation and growth of cancer cells.<sup>45</sup> Increasing evidence suggests the rise in cancer incidence with age results from the accumulation of cancer-causing cellular mutations *alongside* age-related changes in tissue microenvironment, gene silencing and telomere dysfunction.<sup>46</sup>

As ageing involves genetic events that appear similar to those occurring in early cancer growth, cellular senescence and telomeres are often implicated in unifying theories of ageing and cancer.<sup>47</sup> Telomeres are gibberish DNA that act like shoelace tips in protecting chromosomes from fraying during cell division and replication. These regions progressively shorten with each division and therefore with age. When telomeres become critically short or DNA damage is sustained, cells can become inactive ("senescent") or die to prevent instability and tumour growth.<sup>48</sup> A cell that escapes from these normal controls and begins to become cancerous divides rapidly, and its telomeres quickly become very short. Shortened telomeres are thus a common feature of CRC tissue,<sup>49</sup> and have been associated with other age-related diseases and characteristics such as heart failure and immunosenescence.<sup>50</sup> Telomere length has also been proposed as a biomarker of ageing, as it appears to predict lifespan.<sup>51,52</sup> The rate at which telomeres wear down varies between people and can depend on environmental stimuli (e.g. smoking).<sup>53</sup> Accumulation of senescent cells with age compromises tissue function and repair, but also appears to promote cancer growth by triggering inflammation in nearby cells and tissues.<sup>54</sup> Though still largely theoretical, increased understanding of the common pathways of cancer and ageing implies that older patients are not simply "adults who are old".

Paradoxically, age-related biological changes may also act to suppress cancer development and improve prognosis. While national cancer organisations typically aggregate incidence data for those aged over 85, researchers have noted a deceleration and decline in all-site cancer incidence and prevalence from between the ages of 75 and 84, and a decline in cancer mortality from age 90.<sup>55,56</sup> Changes in screening practices or differential exposures to environmental carcinogens are potential contributing factors. However, a strong genetic component to exceptional longevity (e.g. clustering of centenarians in families) suggests that those living to the oldest ages have a survival advantage that protects them from ageing-related diseases like cancer.<sup>57</sup> Age-related declines in metabolism, rate of cell proliferation, and a high proportion of senescent cells may reduce the probability of malignant transformation and spread.<sup>56</sup> Indeed, the lower rates of metastatic disease reported in older people with CRC,<sup>58</sup> and the presence of less poorly differentiated tumours,<sup>59</sup> may help to explain improved survival in the very old.<sup>57</sup>

However, other age-associated biological features may impact on treatment success. A greater proportion of older people present with right-sided colon cancers.<sup>60</sup> These are considerably more likely to be associated with microsatellite instability (MSI),<sup>61</sup> the molecular fingerprint of a deficient DNA mismatch repair (MMR) system. Colorectal cancers with MSI have a better prognosis than microsatellite stable CRC,<sup>62</sup> but their responses to fluorouracil-based chemotherapy regimens may be poorer.<sup>63</sup> However, MSI is only present in about 15% of cancers.<sup>61</sup> Ageing-related changes in the way drugs affect the body (pharmacodynamics) and the way the body affects drugs (pharmacokinetics) may cause enhanced chemotherapy toxicity and reduced effectiveness.<sup>64</sup> Nonetheless, these factors do not prevent effective cancer treatment for the majority of older adults.<sup>65</sup> Individualised assessment of ageing and its effects is therefore required to ensure the most appropriate treatments, and therefore the best outcomes, are achieved.

#### 1.1.3. Definitions of old age

While ageing is a universal reality, definitions of "old age" vary between countries and over

time. In the developed world, chronological time plays an important role in the definition. Old age is often linked to the age at which the state offers an age pension, currently 60 to 65 years in most countries.<sup>66</sup> However, changes in the social, political and economic environment have resulted in pension ages gradually being increased, and women's eligibility age brought into line with men. In many parts of the developing world, chronological time has little importance in the meaning of old age, and a loss of ability to perform roles and to actively contribute in society plays more into the definition.<sup>67</sup>

This definition recognises that individuals with the same chronological age vary widely in their health and ability to function. Because of this heterogeneity, chronological age is not an accurate measure of the ageing process, remaining life expectancy, or how well a person will cope with treatment.<sup>68</sup> Individual biomarkers (e.g. telomere length, inflammation markers) are not yet adequately developed to be used exclusively to determine biological age.<sup>69</sup> The *consequences* of biological ageing are typically explained as a cumulative decline of physiological reserves across multiple systems.<sup>70</sup> Concepts such as loss of entropy, allostatic load or loss of homeostasis have been used to describe this decreased ability to cope with stress, in the presence of adequate baseline functioning.<sup>65</sup> Those with critically reduced reserves may be characterised as "frail".<sup>71</sup> Though there is no consensus on the definition of frailty, it is generally conceptualised in one of two ways:<sup>72</sup> as a "frailty phenotype" or syndrome identified by the presence of a number of criteria (e.g. weight loss, exhaustion, gait speed, grip strength, low physical activity),<sup>73</sup> or as a "deficit accumulation" model across a number of domains, including chronic disease, ability to manage daily activities, and physical signs.<sup>74</sup>

Those that support the frailty phenotype model suggest that comorbidity, disability, and frailty are distinct clinical entities.<sup>75</sup> Comorbidities may be measured based on the presence of a number of chronic conditions, or as a comorbidity index reflecting the severity of a set of predefined conditions, for example the Charlson comorbidity index.<sup>76</sup> The prevalence of chronic conditions increases with age,<sup>77</sup> and the severity of comorbidities appears to have a

"dose-dependent" effect on overall survival of cancer patients.<sup>78</sup> However, there is minimal correlation between comorbidity and the ability to manage daily activities (functional status).<sup>79</sup> Functional status is frequently assessed in oncology research as a single performance status score, for example, the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) score or the Karnofsky score.<sup>80,81</sup> Ideally, evaluation of functional status for treatment decision making should be more extensive than assigning a performance status score,<sup>82</sup> and may include assessment of independence in a checklist of self-care activities of daily living (ADLs) or activities for living independently in the community (instrumental ADLs).<sup>83,84</sup>

However, the current gold standard in assessing physiological age is a comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA), which identifies a suite of factors that better predict reduced life expectancy and underlying vulnerability than any single element alone.<sup>82,86-88</sup> CGA commonly includes assessment of functional status, comorbidity, nutrition, mobility, polypharmacy, social support, mood, cognition, and the presence of geriatric syndromes such as falls and incontinence.<sup>89</sup> Because of the resource intensiveness of the CGA, a two-step approach to geriatric assessment is widely recommended.<sup>90</sup> This involves the use of screening tools to identify those requiring further full evaluation.

For practical reasons, a chronological definition of ageing is often used in research. Conventionally, old age has been defined as beginning at 65 years.<sup>91</sup> The categorisation of "young old" (65-74), "old old" (75-84), and "oldest old" (85+) may have some usefulness in accounting for the diversity of this population.<sup>1</sup> The age of 70 has also been identified as a commonly used cutoff in the field of geriatric oncology.<sup>92</sup> This is based on a sharp increase in the clinical signs of ageing,<sup>93</sup> though it is recognised that ageing-related bodily changes appear to start decades earlier. Various terms are also used to describe this population in research. One international media style guide suggests that "older" is preferable to "elderly" or "senior".<sup>94</sup> In this thesis, any age cutoffs are explicitly defined within the chapter. The population will generally be described as "older", implying that individuals are "older than" but not necessarily "elderly" or "frail".

#### 1.2. Age differences in treatment and outcomes

#### 1.2.1. Recommended treatment: surgery

Surgery is the mainstay of curative treatment for colorectal cancer. In a population-based patterns of care study of 3,095 people diagnosed with colorectal cancer in New South Wales (NSW) in 2000, 96.4% received surgery (n=2,984).<sup>95</sup> Operative treatment for colon cancer should consist of en bloc removal of the involved bowel segment ("resection"), the associated lymphatic tissue to the origin of the feeding vessels ("apical nodes"), and any adjacent tissue or organs that are attached or adhered to the tumour.<sup>96,97</sup> At least 12 lymph nodes be examined to confirm the absence of nodal involvement.<sup>98</sup> Nodes outside the field of resection that are suspected of being positive for disease should be sampled.<sup>99</sup> The type of bowel resection performed is determined by the tumour location. For example, a right hemicolectomy is the accepted treatment for tumours in the ascending colon.<sup>100</sup> People with disease that has metastasised to distant organs or tissues may still benefit curatively from surgery.<sup>97</sup> Following a resection, reconnection of the two healthy ends of the bowel ("anastomosis") should be performed if possible. Laparoscopic-assisted colon surgery has been shown to have equivalent outcomes to conventional surgery when performed by experienced surgeons, and may also reduce morbidity.<sup>101,102</sup>

Elective surgery for rectal cancer should be carried out by a specialist surgeon as it is more technically challenging and has greater potential for poor patient outcomes.<sup>97</sup> For many years, abdominoperineal resection (APR) was the standard treatment for rectal cancer.<sup>103</sup> APE includes the removal of the anus, rectum and part of the sigmoid colon. In a procedure called a colostomy, the end of the remaining colon is brought out permanently through the abdominal wall ("stoma") and fixed to the surface of the skin, so faecal matter can leave the body. Advances in treatment techniques and equipment mean that preservation of the anal sphincter and avoidance of a permanent colostomy is now possible. A low anterior resection, where the colon is attached to the remaining part of the rectum, typically achieves superior rates of survival and recurrence<sup>104</sup> and is therefore the preferred treatment where a distal clearance margin of 1-2 cm can be achieved.<sup>97</sup>

For tumours in the middle or lower third of the rectum, total mesorectal excision (TME) is recommended.<sup>97</sup> In this operation, the perirectal soft tissue envelope including the entire rectum (proctectomy) is removed to reduce local recurrence and the colon connected to the anus. Temporary stomas are typically created to give distal anastomoses at particular risk of leakage or breakdown time to heal. Local excision of some early colon or rectal cancers can be performed transanally i.e. using instruments inserted through the anus.<sup>97</sup>

#### A note on the rectosigmoid junction

The site where the colon ends and the rectum begins is known as the rectosigmoid junction. There are no consistent anatomical or histological features to distinguish this region; a tumour is generally classified as rectal if its lower margin lies less than 16cm from the anal verge.<sup>105</sup> Because rectosigmoid junction cancers account for only 10% of cases,<sup>106</sup> they are typically combined with either colon or rectal cancers for research purposes. Similar rates of survival and recurrence suggest they may be better classified and treated with colon cancers,<sup>107</sup> however there remains no consensus in the literature. In this thesis, the categorisation of rectosigmoid junction cancers are defined where necessary.

#### 1.2.2. Recommended treatment: adjuvant therapy

Adjuvant therapy refers to treatment that is given in addition to the primary or main treatment. In the context of cancer care, this includes radiation therapy or systemic treatments (chemotherapy, immunotherapy, hormone therapy). Treatment can be given adjuvantly (post-surgery) or neoadjuvantly (pre-surgery). Adjuvant therapy is intended to eliminate any residual micrometastatic disease after potentially curative surgery, in order to reduce the risk of recurrence and improve survival.<sup>108</sup> It is distinct from palliative chemotherapy or radiotherapy, which is typically used in advanced disease to alleviate symptoms, slow cancer progression, and prolong life.<sup>109,110</sup> The anatomy and physiology of the human pelvis essentially dictates adjuvant therapy approaches to colon and rectal cancer. Radiotherapy is used primarily for rectal cancers, which tend to recur locally or

regionally because of the close proximity of the rectum to pelvic structures and organs and difficulties in achieving wide margins.<sup>111</sup> A systemic approach is more appropriate for colon cancers, as these tend to recur only at distant sites such as the liver and lungs.<sup>112</sup>

Specific adjuvant therapy recommendations are outlined in the current Australian clinical practice guidelines for colorectal cancer.<sup>97</sup> These guidelines broadly reflect those of the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO),<sup>113,114</sup> the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) in the USA,<sup>96,115</sup> and the International Society of Geriatric Oncology.<sup>108</sup> Treatment approaches are guided by accurate staging of a tumour according to the extent of its spread. In Australia, it is recommended that both Australian Clinicopathological Staging (ACPS) and Tumor-Node-Metastases (TNM) staging are recorded.<sup>97</sup> Both of these are extensions of the original Dukes staging method that have evolved to better define treatment and prognosis.<sup>116</sup>

Australian clinical practice guideline recommendations for adjuvant therapy according to staging are highlighted in Table 2 and detailed below. Guidelines also exist for metastatic and recurrent colorectal cancer but are not outlined here.

		TN	M stagin	ng	
Stage	ACPS	т	Ν	М	TNM classification notes
0	-	Tis	NO	M0	Tis: Carcinoma in situ, confined to mucosa
I	А	T1	NO	M0	T1: Invades submucosa
I	А	T2	NO	M0	T2: Invades muscularis propria
II-A	В	Т3	NO	M0	T3: Invades pericolorectal tissues
II-B	В	T4a	NO	M0	T4a: Penetrates to surface of visceral peritoneum
II-C	В	T4b	NO	M0	T4b: Invades or adheres to other organs or structures
III-A	С	T1-2	N1	M0	N1: 1-3 positive regional lymph nodes
III-B	С	T3-4	N1	M0	
III-C	С	T1-4	N2	M0	N2: 4 or more positive regional nodes
IV	D	T1-4	N0-2	M1	M1: Distant metastasis

Table 2. Staging and guidelines for adjuvant therapy<sup>97</sup>

Radiotherapy strongly recommended (rectal)

Chemotherapy strongly recommended (colon)

Strongly recommended (Level 1 evidence: systematic review)<sup>97</sup>

- People with resected Dukes C (i.e. node-positive) colon cancer should be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy.
- Adjuvant preoperative or postoperative radiotherapy is recommended for high-risk (T3/4 or N+) rectal cancer.

Recommended (Level 2 evidence: randomised control trial)<sup>97</sup>

- There is a small but statistically significant benefit for the use of adjuvant chemotherapy in Stage II colon cancer. High risk sub-groups are more likely to benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.
- 2) Preoperative therapy for rectal cancer may lower the incidence of late morbidity.
- Where radiotherapy is indicated for rectal cancer, fluorouracil-based chemotherapy should be administered.

#### Recommended adjuvant therapy regimens

The standard of care following surgery for stage III colon cancer is six months of FOLFOX, which consists of oxaliplatin and fluorouracil (5-FU) with leucovorin (LV), every two weeks for 12 cycles.<sup>96</sup> This chemotherapy regime has increased disease-free survival and reduced recurrence compared to 5-FU/LV alone.<sup>117</sup> Other treatment options include bolus 5-FU/LV/oxaliplatin (FLOX), capecitabine/oxaliplatin (CapeOx or XELOX). Single agent 5-FU/LV or capecitabine can be used if patients are felt to be inappropriate for oxaliplatin therapy.<sup>96</sup> Capecitabine is an oral prodrug of 5-FU with equivalent outcomes to 5-FU/LV and a better tolerability profile,<sup>118</sup> making it particularly attractive for elderly patients, except in the case of renal impairment.<sup>108</sup> Adjuvant chemotherapy should be initiated within 8 weeks after surgery.<sup>119</sup> Those with high-risk stage II colon cancer can also be considered for these adjuvant chemotherapy regimes.<sup>120</sup> A range of active drugs, either in combination or as single agents, may be used in metastatic and recurrent disease.<sup>96</sup> Radiotherapy in colon cancer is generally only considered for select patients with T4 tumours penetrating to a fixed structure or for patients with recurrent disease.<sup>96</sup>

For patients with high-risk rectal cancer, preoperative radiation is preferred as it is more effective in reducing local recurrence and less toxic than postoperative treatment.<sup>114</sup> Reducing tumour volume with preoperative radiation may also facilitate resection.<sup>115</sup> The addition of 5-FU-based chemotherapy concurrent with preoperative radiation is recommended.<sup>121</sup> Evidence of the effectiveness of postoperative chemotherapy following preoperative treatment is less clear.<sup>122</sup> Recent studies have shown that capecitabine is equivalent to 5-FU in perioperative chemoradiation therapy.<sup>123</sup> Recommended doses of radiation are typically 45-50 Gy in 25-28 fractions to the pelvis using three or four fields.<sup>115</sup> For patients treated with preoperative chemoradiation, an interval of 5 to 10 weeks prior to resection after completion of the five and a half week course is recommended to allow patient recuperation.<sup>115</sup> Short-course radiotherapy may be appropriate in some situations.<sup>115</sup> Radiation and chemotherapy are also used to manage metastatic and recurrent rectal cancer.

#### Specific age guidelines

The Australian Federal Age Discrimination Act (2004) states that taking a person's age into account when making healthcare decisions must be "reasonably based on evidence". A number of evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for colorectal cancer specifically outline that:

- Age alone should not be a contraindication for curative surgery in colon cancer<sup>124</sup>
- Advanced chronological age should not be used to exclude patients from being offered adjuvant chemotherapy<sup>97</sup>
- Age alone should not exclude any stage III colon cancer patient from consideration for adjuvant therapy<sup>108</sup>
- Irrespective of age, a person who is functionally independent and without serious comorbidities should be a good candidate for most forms of cancer treatment.<sup>124</sup>

However, the risk of comorbid conditions and functional impairment increases with age. These factors therefore need to be considered both in individual treatment decision making and in determining concordance with guidelines.

#### 1.2.3. Age differences in treatment

#### Diagnosis and surgery

Differences between the treatment of older and younger people with CRC are apparent along the pathway of cancer care.<sup>125,126</sup> Older people with CRC are more likely to have prolonged wait times from diagnosis to first cancer treatment,<sup>127-130</sup> though emergency resection is also more common with advancing age.<sup>58,125,131,132</sup> Many studies report that older CRC patients are less likely to undergo surgery than younger patients.<sup>58,125,126,133-135</sup> While comorbidities can justifiably affect eligibility for surgery, age differences remain after accounting for this factor.<sup>136-138</sup> Differences between younger and older patients also exist in rates of surgery for cancer recurrence.<sup>139</sup> However, the proportion of older patients receiving colorectal cancer surgery has increased considerably over time.<sup>140-142</sup>

Age differences in type of surgery for CRC are also apparent. Older people who do undergo resection are more likely to have less radical surgery than their younger counterparts, <sup>131,143</sup> even after adjusting for comorbidities.<sup>138</sup> Laparoscopic colonic surgery appears to have at least equivalent outcomes to conventional open surgery<sup>101,102</sup> and may in fact be of most benefit to the elderly.<sup>144</sup> Yet, increasing age is a significant predictor of non-receipt of laparoscopic surgery.<sup>145,146</sup> A greater proportion of older people receive APR for rectal cancer, <sup>147-149</sup> which can be associated with both higher rates of local recurrence and poorer survival than restorative rectal resection.<sup>104</sup> Inadequate lymph node evaluation ( $\geq$ 12 nodes) is also more likely with increased age.<sup>58,150-153</sup>

#### Differences in adjuvant therapy receipt

Age differences in the receipt of guideline-recommended adjuvant therapy have been widely documented, both nationally and internationally, and across a range of cancer

types.<sup>154-158</sup> Older people are less likely to receive adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer.<sup>95,151,159-162</sup> These differences remain after accounting for age-related factors such as comorbidities<sup>163-175</sup> and physical function.<sup>176,177</sup> Older patients are less likely to be referred to<sup>178,179</sup> and seen by an oncologist,<sup>163,180</sup> which are crucial factors in the receipt of chemotherapy.<sup>181</sup> For stage II/III rectal cancer, increasing age is a predictor of non-receipt of radiotherapy,<sup>95,143,182-184</sup> even when accounting for comorbidities,<sup>166,185-187</sup> and is associated with decreasing use of combined chemoradiation.<sup>126,188</sup> Older adults are also less likely to receive chemotherapy for metastatic CRC.<sup>170,189,190</sup> However, adjuvant treatment rates are increasing over time.<sup>125,126,134,184,191,192</sup>

A number of additional issues in the receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy exist. Older age is associated with significantly longer intervals from surgery to chemotherapy initiation.<sup>193</sup> Doses are routinely reduced even in older patients who are fit,<sup>194</sup> and the addition of oxaliplatin to the standard 5-FU/LV regime to increase survival is less likely with older age.<sup>195-197</sup> Early discontinuation or a shorter than recommended treatment duration for older patients is also commonly reported.<sup>164,195,196,198</sup>

#### Differences in follow-up

Increasing patient age is also associated with poorer follow-up care in cancer.<sup>199</sup> Older CRC survivors are less likely to receive care from both a primary care provider and oncology specialist,<sup>200</sup> and have fewer physician visits overall.<sup>201</sup> They are less likely to receive preventative care including cholesterol testing and bone densitometry,<sup>200</sup> and surveillance procedures such as colonoscopy.<sup>201,202</sup>

#### 1.2.4. Age differences in outcomes

There have been significant increases in colorectal cancer survival over recent decades in many developed countries,<sup>9</sup> including for those over 70 years.<sup>14</sup> However, differences continue to exist between younger and older patients for both short-term and long-term outcomes. Though greater levels of comorbidity among older people with CRC increases

the complexity of cancer management and affects survival,<sup>203-205</sup> poorer treatment appears to contribute to age differences in outcomes.<sup>108</sup>

#### Differences in perioperative outcomes

The incidence of 30-day operative mortality is frequently reported to increase with age,<sup>131,206,207</sup> including after adjusting for comorbidity<sup>208-210</sup> and American Society of Anaesthesiologists (ASA) physical health status.<sup>58,210,211</sup> Older age has been associated with longer length of stay<sup>132,210,212,213</sup> and hospital readmission within 30 days,<sup>212,214</sup> which may be the result of a greater frequency of post-operative complications.<sup>131,210,215</sup> However, other studies report no age association with hospital readmission<sup>216</sup> or that older people are actually less likely to have an emergency readmission.<sup>213</sup>

Side effects and complications of colorectal cancer surgery can include pain, wound healing and infection, anastomotic leakage, bowel dysfunction, urinary and sexual dysfunction, and issues related to the presence of a stoma.<sup>217-219</sup> In a systematic review of surgical outcomes in rectal cancer, postoperative morbidity and complications were not consistently associated with age.<sup>220</sup> However, complications such as anastomotic leakage may have a greater impact on the consequent survival of older patients.<sup>220</sup> There have also been reports that increasing age is not associated with postoperative complications when ASA physical status is accounted for,<sup>221</sup> and that age is a predictor of higher rates of nonsurgical complications but not surgical complications.<sup>222</sup> Regardless of any age differences in perioperative outcomes, many researchers conclude that colorectal resection for older patients has acceptable levels of perioperative morbidity and mortality,<sup>212,223-225</sup> particularly given that operative mortality has improved considerably over time.<sup>140,226</sup>

#### Differences in survival

Longer term survival outcomes are often poorer for older adults with CRC, though there is large variation between countries.<sup>203</sup> <u>Appendix 1.2</u> outlines the definitions for a number of commonly used survival measures. Many studies report that while overall five-year survival

of older patients is poorer, cancer-specific survival is not associated with age.<sup>131,223,227,228</sup> That is, a substantial proportion of deaths in older people with CRC can be attributed to factors such as congestive heart failure, diabetes mellitus, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.<sup>229</sup> However, some studies do report decreasing cancer-specific survival with age,<sup>140,143</sup> and poorer relative survival for those older patients with metastatic disease or locally recurrent cancer.<sup>139</sup> Other findings suggest that after surviving the first year, older patients have the same relative survival as younger patients.<sup>230,231</sup> This indicates a prolonged effect of surgery and anaesthesia on those with reduced reserves.<sup>70</sup>

Conflicting findings may be partly explained by differing methods for estimating cancer survival.<sup>232</sup> Nonetheless, suboptimal treatment appears to be a major contributor where poorer outcomes are reported.<sup>108,143,233</sup> Increased rates of radical resection for older patients have produced marked improvements in five-year relative survival for this group.<sup>140,141,226,234</sup> Poorer outcomes may also be explained by age differences in factors such as adequate lymph node evaluation, which is important for treatment planning and is associated with survival.<sup>235,236</sup> Similarly, longer time to adjuvant chemotherapy initiation, early discontinuation, and dose reduction are all associated with poorer CRC survival.<sup>119,237-241</sup> Underuse of laparoscopy in older patients may increase rates of complicated postoperative recovery,<sup>242</sup> potentially resulting in further omission, delay and discontinuation of adjuvant chemotherapy.<sup>243</sup> Moreover, deviations from practice recommendations may add to the perception that treatment is less effective for older patients, resulting in further undertreatment.

#### Differences in efficacy and toxicity of adjuvant therapy

In an analysis of pooled data from seven randomised trials with surgery-alone control arms, the addition of 5-FU based adjuvant chemotherapy improved five-year disease-free survival in node-positive colon cancer patients from 42% to 58% and five-year overall survival from 51% to 64%.<sup>244</sup> Older adults with node-positive colon cancer derive the same benefit from these regimes as younger patients in terms of disease-free and relative survival.<sup>245,246</sup>

However, the absolute survival benefits are smaller with age due to competing causes of death.<sup>245,247</sup> It also remains uncertain whether the addition of oxaliplatin to 5-FU-based therapies increases survival in those aged over 70.<sup>117,246,248</sup>

Meta-analyses of randomised trials indicate that radiotherapy improves cancer-related and overall survival compared to surgery alone, in addition to considerably reducing rates of local recurrence.<sup>249,250</sup> While the magnitude of the reported survival benefits are relatively small, preventing recurrence is a key treatment aim as pelvic recurrent rectal cancer has dismal prognosis and poor quality of life.<sup>251</sup> The addition of preoperative chemotherapy to radiotherapy improves local control but does not appear to improve disease-free or overall survival.<sup>252</sup> Nonetheless, the evidence suggests the efficacy of radiotherapy and combined chemoradiation is the same irrespective of patient age.<sup>108,253</sup>

Chemotherapy side effects are most apparent in healthy cells that multiply quickly, as these drugs indiscriminately target rapidly dividing cells. A substantial proportion of patients experience nausea and vomiting, despite the availability of modern antiemetics.<sup>254,255</sup> Diarrhoea, oral mucositis, neutropenia, and cognitive dysfunction are also frequently reported.<sup>256-259</sup> Chemotherapy-induced anaemia can be a contributor to the fatigue experienced by many cancer patients.<sup>260</sup> Peripheral neuropathy caused by oxaliplatin may persist for a number of years for a small subset of patients.<sup>261</sup> Radiotherapy targets cancer cells within a treatment field, but may also affect normal tissues within this field. Acute side effects of pelvic radiotherapy include diarrhoea, skin problems, fatigue, urinary frequency, sexual dysfunction and pain.<sup>262,263</sup> Late (long-term) effects are less common with modern techniques, but typically involve anorectal and sexual function.<sup>264</sup> Generally, physical and functional well-being is improved by three or more years after diagnosis for most CRC survivors.<sup>265</sup>

Most evidence suggests that there are minimal age-related increases for fit older patients in toxicity of chemotherapy<sup>124,245,266,267</sup> and radiotherapy.<sup>124,253,268,269</sup> However, poorer health among older patients may enhance the risk of treatment-related complications.<sup>270</sup>

Predictors of severe chemotherapy toxicity for older patients identified in prospective studies include instrumental ADL score, falls, self-rated health and ECOG performance status.<sup>271,272</sup> The role of comorbidity in adjuvant treatment is less clear and will depend on the specific condition. Significant survival benefits from chemotherapy without increases in toxicity-related hospitalisation have been reported for those with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, and diabetes.<sup>273</sup> However, having diabetes does appear to increase the risk of recurrence, as well as short-term and long-term mortality.<sup>274,275</sup> While those with comorbidities generally have less potential to benefit from adjuvant therapy, it is difficult to determine from current research whether poorer survival is a consequence of the comorbid condition, reduced tolerability, or decreased treatment use.<sup>276</sup>

In the absence of specific comorbid diagnoses, reduced organ function associated with the ageing process may increase chemotherapy toxicity. Careful monitoring and dose reduction for older people may therefore be required,<sup>121</sup> particularly in combined chemoradiation.<sup>277</sup> Decreases in renal blood flow can affect clearance of chemotherapy agents that are renally excreted.<sup>278</sup> However, 5-FU is primarily metabolized by the liver,<sup>279</sup> and the consequences of age-related changes in hepatic metabolism on chemotherapy are not well understood.<sup>280</sup> Decreased secretion of gastric enzymes and splanchnic blood flow with age may impact the absorption of orally administered agents such as capecitabine.<sup>278</sup> The prevalence of anaemia also increases with age,<sup>281</sup> and appears to be a risk factor for chemotherapy toxicity.<sup>272</sup> Greater levels of polypharmacy in older age and the possible interactions with chemotherapy drugs is an additional concern.<sup>282</sup> For older women with rectal cancer, increased risk of pelvic fracture following radiotherapy has been reported.<sup>283</sup>

Toxicity in clinical trials is rated according to defined objective criteria, such as the National Cancer Institute (NCI) common terminology criteria.<sup>284</sup> Subjective toxicity is the extent to which people's well-being is influenced by objective toxicity measures.<sup>285</sup> There is evidence that quality of life (QOL) is not significantly poorer for older patients with CRC who receive adjuvant therapy compared to those who do not,<sup>286</sup> although it is not clear whether
chemotherapy or radiotherapy differentially affects the QOL of older patients compared to younger patients.<sup>263,287</sup> The recent development of a patient-reported version of the NCI common terminology criteria<sup>288</sup> may help to accelerate the move towards increased collection and reporting of QOL measures. Generally, older patients report similar or better QOL than their younger counterparts in the longer term,<sup>289</sup> and QOL following surgery does not appear to differ by age.<sup>220,290</sup> However, older patients may be less willing to sacrifice any level of impairment of function or QOL during treatment.

#### 1.2.5. A focus on adjuvant therapy

This brief review suggests that pervasive age differences exist in the receipt of guidelinerecommended adjuvant therapy for older CRC patients. Where a person is more likely to die of a comorbid condition than of cancer, or where poor health limits the ability to withstand treatment, these decisions will be clinically appropriate. However, an increasing number of individuals reach old age without measurable loss of functional capacity and free of severe medical conditions. These older adults are as likely to benefit from standard cancer treatment as younger adults do, with equal or at least manageable toxicity.

Chemotherapy and radiotherapy treatment decisions would appear to be more complex than surgical decision making for CRC, as surgery is now the mainstay of curative treatment. Given the expected growth in the number and proportion of older cancer patients, further exploration of the barriers and facilitators to the use of adjuvant therapy is required to ensure equal access to care and improved outcomes for this population. This thesis therefore largely focuses on exploring the reasons for the differences in adjuvant treatment of older CRC patients. The use of the term "difference" instead of "disparity" is a deliberate choice. While historically meaning "a large difference", to many, disparity implies an inequity or an injustice rather than a simple inequality.<sup>291</sup> This term may not reflect the many shades of grey in decision making for older CRC patients.

### 1.3. Factors that may influence age differences in treatment

### 1.3.1. Underrepresentation in research

While older patients make up the majority of CRC cases, they are underrepresented both in clinical trials and in health research generally. Older people make up only between 22% and 32% of clinical trial participants.<sup>292-294</sup> The median age of patients in clinical trials is 10 years younger than the median age of CRC incidence,<sup>113</sup> and little data is available for patients older than 80 years.<sup>124</sup> Reasons for this underrepresentation can be broadly separated into barriers to opportunity to participate in trials, barriers to awareness of trials, and barriers to acceptance of trial enrolment.<sup>295</sup>

Of 323 cancer trials recruiting adults in Australia in 2009, 11.1% had a maximum age criteria of 60 or above, with 70-79 years being the most frequent age cut-off.<sup>296</sup> Exclusion criteria such as comorbidities and functional status are also major contributors to the underrepresentation of older people in clinical trials,<sup>295</sup> though older people are still less likely to be offered participation even when these factors are not present.<sup>297</sup> Studies have generally found only small differences between the willingness of older and younger patients to participate in trials.<sup>297</sup> However, they are less likely to actively seek them out,<sup>298</sup> and report other barriers to participation such as transport.<sup>299</sup> While there is increasing attention on and participation of older people in research,<sup>300</sup> most clinical trials conducted to date have not addressed the most pressing issues in ageing and cancer, such as the impact of comorbidities, reduced physiologic reserve and polypharmacy on treatment tolerance, or changes in drug pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics.<sup>301</sup> There is therefore less certainty regarding the safety and effectiveness of adjuvant therapy for the very old and those with poorer fitness and functionality, resulting in fewer evidence-based guidelines for this population and potentially contributing to practice variation.

Older people are underrepresented in virtually all aspects of health-related research.<sup>302</sup> A Medline search was conducted using Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) to determine the

total proportion of cancer literature focusing on cancer and ageing (see <u>Appendix 1.3</u>). Of over two million articles indexed to cancer, 23.7% of articles were also indexed to a subject heading of "aged" or "aging". Only 0.33% were indexed with an ageing field as a primary focus of the article. A colorectal cancer-specific search yielded similar findings, with just 423 articles focusing on issues of the older patient in CRC (0.29%). A recent literature review of the QOL of cancer survivors, for example, noted that just 4 of 173 identified studies focused on older patients.<sup>303</sup> More non-interventional epidemiologic studies are required alongside clinical trials to ensure improved understanding of the unique needs of older patients and the causes of health inequalities.

### 1.3.2. Issues in measurement

Inequalities in health care access and outcomes have emerged as a public policy concern over the last few decades.<sup>304</sup> Originally focusing on racial and ethnic subgroups, more recently the scope has been expanded to include other priority populations such as women, people with disabilities, those living in rural areas, and older people. A lack of consistency across studies in adjusting for confounders is an issue that has been documented in racial and ethnic disparities research.<sup>305</sup> In the cancer field, the effect of older age on surgical and adjuvant therapy outcomes remains conflicting because of limitations in measuring and adjusting for comorbidities and health status.<sup>306,307</sup> This is a particular concern where population-based observational cohorts are used to generate evidence for treatment effectiveness, as lower rates of non-cancer deaths or early separation of survival curves may indicate methodological biases in favour of the treated group.<sup>306,308,309</sup> These measurement issues may add an additional layer of complexity for clinicians when considering the evidence.

Issues also appear to exist in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes (PROs) such as quality of life (QOL) and supportive care needs. PROs are increasingly being recognised alongside traditional survival and recurrence measures as integral to both cancer research and treatment decision making.<sup>310-312</sup> These measures are particularly valuable in

comparing a growing range of treatment options for an ageing population with increasingly complex health problems.<sup>313</sup> Despite carrying a more substantial burden of disease and disability, older people with CRC generally report similar or better QOL and similar or fewer unmet needs than younger patients.<sup>314-316</sup> It is possible that these contradictory findings result from a number of identified concerns, including a lack of elderly-specific tools to encompass the scope of relevant issues,<sup>317</sup> underreporting of symptoms,<sup>318</sup> or missing data due to patient attrition.<sup>319</sup> The potential implications of these factors for older patients' care and outcomes should be examined further.

# 1.3.3. Patient-based factors

Patients who decide not to undergo adjuvant therapy are significantly older than those who accept treatment.<sup>165,166,175,320-322</sup> Much of the recent focus on older cancer patients has been through a geriatric lens, i.e. exploring the impact of ageing-related conditions on cancer and physician decisions for cancer treatment. However, understanding the decision-making processes of older patients may require greater exploration from a gerontology perspective, i.e. including social, cultural, psychological, lifespan and life course concepts.<sup>4</sup>

Barriers to adjuvant therapy use in older cancer patients identified in previous studies include side effects, QOL, stage of life considerations, social support, transportation and costs.<sup>323-327</sup> However, older patients may also be more vulnerable to forgoing worthwhile treatment because of limited insight into their diagnosis and prognosis, or perceptions of treatment benefits and risks.<sup>328</sup> This vulnerability could result from a number of interrelated factors including poorer health literacy, <sup>329,330</sup> difficulties processing and remembering information, <sup>331</sup> cognitive and sensory deficits, <sup>332</sup> asking physicians fewer questions, <sup>333</sup> and typically preferring less information and less involvement in treatment decision making.<sup>334-336</sup> Older patients may have more negative attitudes and beliefs towards adjuvant treatment, <sup>337</sup> and appear to have a greater degree of cancer fatalism, <sup>338,339</sup> perhaps from growing up in a time when cancer survival was much poorer.<sup>68</sup> However, less is known about whether these factors uniquely affect the adjuvant therapy decision making of older cancer patients.

Those over 65 years report significantly fewer discussions about chemotherapy.<sup>337</sup> The involvement of older patients in decision making discussions may also be challenged by physician assumptions that they prefer a passive role,<sup>329</sup> perceptions that their cognition or communication is deficient,<sup>340</sup> or the reportedly poorer responsiveness and communication that physicians have with older patients in the clinical encounter.<sup>329,332</sup> This is a major concern, given that most older patients are willing to consider chemotherapy<sup>341</sup> and the primary determinant of treatment decisions is physician advice.<sup>342</sup>

#### 1.3.4. Translation of evidence

Evidence-based practice (EBP) is the use of current best evidence in conjunction with clinical expertise and patient values to guide health care decisions.<sup>343</sup> A significant gap often exists between scientific evidence or research-based guidelines and actual clinical practice.<sup>344</sup> The study of the methods, interventions and variables that influence the adoption of EBPs by individuals or organisations is described as translational research.<sup>345</sup> General factors identified in systematic reviews of EBP translation include lack of knowledge or awareness, physician attitudes and characteristics, evidence barriers, organisational or system barriers, and lack of support to implement guidelines.<sup>346,347</sup>

Many of these areas have been previously implicated in the uptake of adjuvant therapy in older cancer patients. Previous physician surveys have revealed that both surgeons and oncologists are less likely to recommend adjuvant therapy for older patients based on their age alone.<sup>348-351</sup> Differences in treatment recommendations and receipt have been associated with physician characteristics such as younger age and higher volume.<sup>159,351,352</sup> Physicians with less awareness of current evidence generally,<sup>353</sup> or of geriatrics specifically,<sup>68</sup> may assume that treatment would cause a loss of function simply on the basis of patient age. Negative age-related value judgments have also been implicated in surgeons' general decision-making processes,<sup>354</sup> and may reflect wider attitudes of society about ageing.<sup>355</sup> The associations between physician knowledge and attitudes and how these directly influence adjuvant therapy recommendations requires further exploration.

Institutional and health system factors may also explain age differences in adjuvant therapy receipt. The number of oncologists within a patient's residential area is associated with greater access to chemotherapy after surgery.<sup>174</sup> Significant variation between hospitals in rates of adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer has been noted, <sup>173,356</sup> and may be explained by hospital characteristics such as running an accredited cancer surgery program.<sup>357</sup> Colorectal surgeons have also been found to hold significantly stronger preferences against all adjuvant options compared with oncologists.<sup>358</sup> Referral to oncology is therefore a crucial factor in receipt of chemotherapy among older patients.<sup>181</sup> Higher oncology consultation rates appear to be associated with surgeons who work closely with oncologists, both in teaching hospitals and small hospitals, <sup>359,360</sup> and these surgeons are less likely to have patients "get lost in the system".<sup>361</sup> Nevertheless, older patients remain less likely to receive adjuvant therapy even after seeing an oncologist.<sup>175,185</sup>

Clinicians often report high satisfaction with clinical practice guidelines, but may consider them impractical or too rigid to apply to individual patients.<sup>362</sup> For older patients, the increasing prevalence of comorbidity appears to contribute significantly to variation in physician recommendations.<sup>349</sup> Research to guide clinicians on the impact of treatment on these vulnerable adults is sparse. While screening and subsequent comprehensive geriatric assessment have been suggested as an effective approach to identify those at risk of chemotherapy toxicity,<sup>363-365</sup> there remains little consensus on which screening tool clinicians should use or which CGA elements should be included.<sup>89,366</sup> However, practice variation and reduced rates of treatment appear to exist even for fit older patients.

# 1.3.5. Is it worth it?

A substantial debate in the literature exists over whether older patients are actually overtreated.<sup>306,367-369</sup> Certainly, these adjuvant therapy decisions require careful consideration of present-day risks against less well-defined future gains, for a sub-population that is not as robust as their younger counterparts. Older patients clearly have lower potential for absolute survival benefits from adjuvant therapy in terms of years left

to live, and may place a different value on the risk of adverse effects and logistical challenges of treatment. Treatment decisions also occur against a backdrop of increasing public focus on health expenditure and the rising costs of cancer treatment,<sup>370</sup> as well as frequent discussion about the impending "silver tsunami" that is portrayed as set to cause "unimaginable chaos" for public services.<sup>371</sup>

Cost-effectiveness is therefore an important concept in the treatment of older patients. Benefits are typically measured in terms of the number of quality-adjusted life years gained,<sup>372</sup> which accounts for both the quantity and quality of life lived. It is increasingly argued that cost-effectiveness analysis should take into consideration social concerns,<sup>373</sup> as opposed to valuing every year of "quality" life equally regardless of the person who gains it. There is a general societal preference to prioritise the health of younger adults over older adults.<sup>372,374</sup> This may be due to a number of reasons including the potential for productivity, remaining life expectancy, and the "fair innings" principal.<sup>375</sup> However, there is also a strong community desire to reduce health inequalities and prioritise disadvantaged groups. Johnstone and colleagues believe that much of the political debate around population ageing in Australia represents "demographic alarmism", that is both misleading and harmfully prejudicial to the health and social welfare of older Australians.<sup>371</sup> There is also substantial push-back from community groups against perceived ageism in cancer treatment.<sup>376</sup> A law banning age discrimination in the provision of healthcare was fully implemented in the UK in 2012, following public reports of poor treatment and outcomes of older patients in the National Health Service.<sup>377</sup>

While the acquisition cost of 5-FU/LV chemotherapy is less than A\$1,000 for an average course,<sup>378</sup> the current recommendation to incorporate oxaliplatin in this regime for an additional A\$12,000<sup>378</sup> perhaps deserves further economic consideration for older patients, given the unclear survival benefits.<sup>124</sup> These costs occur alongside administration costs ( $\approx$ A\$5,000)<sup>379</sup> as well as the costs of any adverse events.<sup>380</sup> However, the costs of not receiving recommended adjuvant therapy may far outweigh this, both in terms of the very

high treatment costs for recurrent metastatic cancer<sup>381</sup> as well as substantial loss of quality and quantity of life. Eighty percent of recurrences arise within the first two years after resection, and the median survival following recurrence in stage III CRC is 12.5 months.<sup>382</sup> The average life expectancy of a 70 year old in Australia is 15-17 years.<sup>30</sup> This suggests that older patients are a vulnerable population from which valuable and sometimes lifesaving therapy is withheld. Yet, considerable grey areas mean there is a need to further explore how these decisions are made by both patients and clinicians.

#### **1.4.** Specific gaps in existing literature

# 1.4.1. Shifting focus to the "whole person"

The move towards patient-centred models of health care in the last few decades<sup>383</sup> appears to be a promising step for patients in terms of satisfaction and perceived quality of care.<sup>384</sup> A key attribute of these models is holistic care, i.e. recognising and responding to the complete needs of the whole person.<sup>385</sup> Health measures most relevant to older adults (e.g. comorbidity, functional status) are rarely incorporated into oncology clinical trials.<sup>386,387</sup> Many risk tools only incorporate a limited evaluation of health status,<sup>388,389</sup> despite general acknowledgement that treatment decisions should be based on the assessment of individual life expectancy and predicted treatment tolerance and not on chronologic age. Typically, comorbidity is the sole health-related factor used in the exploration of age differences in treatment<sup>125,126</sup> and in barriers to the treatment of older patients.<sup>351</sup>

Much of the research exploring patient preferences for adjuvant therapy also focuses on weighing survival benefit against treatment toxicity.<sup>390</sup> While survival and toxicity are clearly central to these decisions, this emphasis tends to ignore the impact of logistical, social and emotional drivers on treatment decision making. The fact that patient and treatment characteristics are not a consistent predictor of preferences,<sup>391</sup> and the willingness of many patients to consider even negligible benefits sufficient to make chemotherapy worthwhile,<sup>392</sup> imply that there are important "whole person" considerations requiring further exploration.

#### 1.4.2. Relativity

If two percent of a treatment group die compared to four percent of a control group, this finding can be presented as a two percent absolute risk reduction, or a more impressive-sounding 50% lower risk of death. Relative or proportional reductions in risk are not readily understood by most patients.<sup>393</sup> Physicians' interpretations of the magnitude and significance of research findings can also be affected by the reporting of results in exclusively relative terms.<sup>394</sup> In patient-reported outcomes research, age is often presented solely as a relative predictor, potentially affecting clinicians' perceptions about the treatment and care that older patients need.

Relativity may also sometimes be underused when exploring the barriers to adjuvant treatment receipt. A number of studies focusing on barriers to treatment have involved older people only. While providing an important overview of the issues, this can make it difficult to determine what is uniquely different about the decision-making processes and barriers for older patients in comparison to their younger counterparts.

# 1.4.3. A local context

Australia has a land mass roughly the size of the continental United States and a population of just under 23 million people.<sup>21</sup> While it is one of the least densely populated countries in the world, Australia is highly urbanised. One third of Australia's population resides in New South Wales (NSW), and 64% of these people live in the Greater Sydney region.<sup>395</sup> More than a quarter of Australians were born overseas (26%),<sup>396</sup> a considerably higher proportion than Canada, the USA, or the UK. Australian life expectancy and health is among the highest in the world.<sup>397</sup> However, some groups have notably poorer health status, such as those living in rural and remote areas<sup>398</sup> and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (three percent of the population).<sup>399</sup> As the most populous state, NSW is a representative sample of the sociocultural and geographic diversity of the country, though with fewer people living in remote areas.

Australia has a taxpayer-funded universal health care system (Medicare), supplemented by a substantial private sector that is involved both in health care delivery and financing. Medicare consists of three components – medical services (including visits to general practitioners and other medical practitioners), hospital treatment as a public patient, and prescription pharmaceuticals.<sup>397</sup> Since 1993, the Australian Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme (PBS) has insisted on appropriate economic evidence before authorising public funding of a new drug.<sup>400</sup> The recommended regimes of capecitabine and 5-FU for stage III colon cancer, either alone or in combination with oxaliplatin, are all PBS listed. Surgery and chemotherapy administration are covered by Medicare for anyone electing to be treated as a public patient, and are also covered by private health insurance. Radiotherapy has been found to be cost-effective in rectal cancer.<sup>401</sup> However, outpatient radiotherapy is not covered by private insurance, which can result in substantial out-of-pocket costs in parts of the country where the only radiotherapy centre is a private facility.<sup>402</sup>

Despite a steadily growing population of older people with cancer, geriatric oncology in Australia is in its infancy.<sup>403</sup> Australia's cultural diversity, expansive distances, medical funding from public resources and generally high health outcomes, also mean that barriers and attitudes in the uptake of adjuvant therapy may be different to other countries and regions. In addition, the investigation of Australia-specific issues in treatment receipt and the development of tools based on local data may give findings greater clinical credibility.

### 1.5. Thesis aims and hypotheses

Older people with CRC are a growing and underresearched group who appear to be vulnerable to poor treatment and outcomes. The overall aim of this thesis is to explore the barriers to evidence-based care for older people with colorectal cancer, with a focus on receipt of guideline-recommended adjuvant therapy. More specifically, the aims of this thesis are:

- To explore issues in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes that may contribute to age differences in treatment, by:
  - a. Quantifying differences in the levels of need and unmet need of older and younger colorectal cancer patients in the three months following surgery
  - Determining age differences in levels of missing data and the effect of imputation methods on estimates of older patients' quality of life after colorectal cancer surgery
- To establish current levels of adjuvant therapy utilisation for colorectal cancer in NSW and determine patient and hospital-level predictors of treatment receipt
- To investigate physician-based and patient-based barriers to the receipt of adjuvant therapy, by:
  - a. Identifying factors that affect colorectal surgeons' decisions to refer older patients for adjuvant therapy and determining relationships between surgeon knowledge, opinions and self-reported practice
  - Exploring the association between patient age, factors that influence patients' chemotherapy treatment decisions, and preferences for information and involvement in treatment decision making
- To develop a mortality risk model that could be used by clinicians to assist adjuvant chemotherapy decision making

It is hypothesised that:

- a. Older patients with colorectal cancer will have lower levels of post-operative unmet need but a greater proportion of met needs compared to younger patients
  - b. Greater levels of missing data in quality of life questionnaires will be associated with older age and multiple imputation of missing data will more accurately estimate quality of life than simple mean imputation
- 2) Rates of adjuvant therapy utilisation for colorectal cancer in NSW will have increased from previously measured rates and patient age and hospital of surgery will be a significant predictors of adjuvant therapy receipt
- a. Patient age will affect colorectal surgeon's decisions to refer older patients for adjuvant therapy and surgeon knowledge and opinions will be associated with self-reported practice
  - b. Older patients will place greater importance on physician recommendations for adjuvant chemotherapy and maintaining quality of life than younger patients and will prefer less information and involvement in treatment decision making
- 4) A mortality risk model for chemotherapy decision making with good discrimination and calibration will be able to be developed using linked population-based data

### 1.6. References

- Carreca I, Balducci L, Extermann M. Cancer in the older person. Cancer Treat Rev 2005;31:380-402.
- Balducci L, Ershler WB. Cancer and ageing: a nexus at several levels. Nature Reviews Cancer 2005;5:655-662.
- Schrijvers D, Aapro M, Zakotnik B, Audisio R, van Halteren H, Hurria A. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Handbook of Cancer in the Senior Patient. London: Informa Healthcare; 2010.
- Blank TO, Bellizzi KM. A gerontologic perspective on cancer and aging. Cancer 2008;112:2569-2576.
- Bellizzi KM, Gosney M (eds.). Cancer and aging handbook: research and practice. Chicester: Wiley; 2013.
- Extermann M (ed.). Cancer and aging: from bench to clinics. Interdiscipl Top Gerontol. Basel: Karger; 2013.
- Lichtman SM, Balducci L, Aapro M, Lichtman SM, Balducci L, Aapro M. Geriatric oncology: a field coming of age. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:1821-1823.
- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61:69-90.
- Center MM, Jemal A, Smith RA, Ward E. Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer.
   CA Cancer J Clin 2009;59:366-378.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare & Australasian Association of Cancer Registries. Cancer in Australia: an overview, 2012. Canberra: AIHW, 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129542353.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). Cancer survival and prevalence in Australia: period estimates from 1982 to 2010. Cat. No. CAN 65. Canberra: AIHW;
   2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=10737422720.

- American Cancer Society. Colorectal Cancer Facts & Figures 2011-2013. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2011.
- Maringe C, Walters S, Rachet B et al. Stage at diagnosis and colorectal cancer survival in six high-income countries: a population-based study of patients diagnosed during 2000-2007. Acta Oncol 2013.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books. Canberra: AIHW; 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/acim-books/.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). Cancer incidence projections, Australia 2011 to 2020. Cat. No. CAN 62. Canberra: AIHW; 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=10737421461.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Population projections, Australia, 2006 to 2101.
   Cat. No. 3222.0. Canberra: ABS; 2012.
- Tracey E, Kerr T, Dobrovic A, Currow D. Cancer In NSW: Incidence and Mortality Report 2008. Sydney: Cancer Institute NSW; 2010.
- United Nations (UN). World Population Ageing: 1950-2050. Department of Economic and Social Affairs/Population Division. New York: UN; 2002.
- Lutz W, Sanderson W, Scherbov S. The coming acceleration of global population ageing. Nature 2008;451:716-719.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Australian historical population statistics, 2008.
   Cat. No. 3105.0.65.001. Canberra: ABS; 2008.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Australian demographic statistics, Jun 2012.
   Cat. No. 3101.0. Canberra: ABS; 2012.
- National Preventative Health Taskforce. Australia: the healthiest country by 2020 -National Preventative Health Strategy Overview. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2009.

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). National Bowel Cancer Screening Program monitoring report: July 2011–June 2012. Cat. No. CAN 71. Canberra: AIHW;
   2013. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129543635.
- Cole SR, Tucker GR, Osborne JM et al. Shift to earlier stage at diagnosis as a consequence of the National Bowel Cancer Screening Program. Med J Aust 2013;198:327-330.
- 25. Flitcroft KL, Salkeld GP, Gillespie JA, Trevena LJ, Irwig LM. Fifteen years of bowel cancer screening policy in Australia: putting evidence into practice? Med J Aust 2010;193:37-42.
- Cockburn J, Paul C, Tzelepis F, McElduff P, Byles J. Screening for bowel cancer among NSW adults with varying levels of risk: a community survey. Aust N Z J Public Health 2002;26:236-241.
- Alfano CM, Ganz PA, Rowland JH, Hahn EE. Cancer survivorship and cancer rehabilitation: revitalizing the link. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:904-906.
- Rao AV, Demark-Wahnefried W. The older cancer survivor. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2006;60:131-143.
- 29. Yourman LC, Lee SJ, Schonberg MA, Widera EW, Smith AK. Prognostic indices for older adults: a systematic review. JAMA 2012;307:182-192.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Life tables, Australia, 2008-2010. Cat. No.
   3302.0.55.001. Canberra: ABS; 2011.
- Robine JM, Michel JP. Looking forward to a general theory on population aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004;59:590-597.
- Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity. N Engl J Med 1980;303:130-135.

- Gruenberg EM. The failures of success. Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc 1977;55:3 24.
- Kramer M. The rising pandemic of mental disorders and associated chronic diseases and disabilities. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1980;62:382-397.
- Manton KG. Changing concepts of morbidity and mortality in the elderly population.
   Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc 1982;60:183-244.
- Soerjomataram I, Thong MS, Ezzati M, Lamont EB, Nusselder WJ, Van De Poll-Franse
   LV. Most colorectal cancer survivors live a large proportion of their remaining life in good health. Cancer Causes Control 2012;23:1421-1428.
- Howse K. Increasing life expectancy and the compression of morbidity: a critical review of the debate. Working paper no. 206. Oxford Institute of Ageing: 2006.
- Lynch C, Holman CD, Moorin RE. Use of Western Australian linked hospital morbidity and mortality data to explore theories of compression, expansion and dynamic equilibrium. Aust Health Rev 2007;31:571-581.
- Giles LC, Cameron ID, Crotty M. Disability in older Australians: projections for 2006-2031. Med J Aust 2003;179:130-133.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). Changes in life expectancy and disability in Australia 1998 to 2009. Cat. No. AUS 166. Canberra: AIHW; 2012.
   Available:

http://www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=60129542184.

- 41. Gross CP, McAvay GJ, Krumholz HM, Paltiel AD, Bhasin D, Tinetti ME. The effect of age and chronic illness on life expectancy after a diagnosis of colorectal cancer: implications for screening. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:646-653.
- 42. Anisimov VN. Biology of aging and cancer. Cancer Control 2007;14:23-31.
- 43. Peto R, Roe FJ, Lee PN. Cancer and ageing in mice and men. Br J Cancer 1975;32:411-426.

- 44. Peto R, Parish SE, Gray RG. There is no such thing as ageing, and cancer is not related to it. IARC Sci Publ 1985:43-53.
- Anisimov VN. The relationship between aging and carcinogenesis: a critical appraisal.
   Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2003;45:277-304.
- 46. DePinho RA. The age of cancer. Nature 2000;408:248-254.
- Garber K. At loose ends: telomere theories of aging and cancer begin to converge. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104:803-806.
- 48. Campisi J, Kim SH, Lim CS, Rubio M. Cellular senescence, cancer and aging: the telomere connection. Exp Gerontol 2001;36:1619-1637.
- Rampazzo E, Bertorelle R, Serra L et al. Relationship between telomere shortening, genetic instability, and site of tumour origin in colorectal cancers. Br J Cancer 2010;102:1300-1305.
- 50. Blasco MA. Telomeres and human disease: ageing, cancer and beyond. Nat Rev Genet 2005;6:611-622.
- Cawthon RM, Smith KR, O'Brien E, Sivatchenko A, Kerber RA. Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. Lancet 2003;361:393-395.
- 52. Heidinger BJ, Blount JD, Boner W, Griffiths K, Metcalfe NB, Monaghan P. Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:1743-1748.
- Lin J, Epel E, Blackburn E. Telomeres and lifestyle factors: roles in cellular aging. Mutat Res 2012;730:85-89.
- 54. Krtolica A, Campisi J. Cancer and aging: a model for the cancer promoting effects of the aging stroma. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2002;34:1401-1414.
- 55. Hanson H, Smith K, Stroup A, Harrell J, Rull R. Cancer incidence in the oldest old: disentangling age, period, and cohort effects. Population Association of America Annual Meeting, San Francisco, 2012.

- Ukraintseva S, Yashin A. Individual aging and cancer risk: how are they related? Demographic Res 2003;9:163-196.
- 57. Andersen SL, Terry DF, Wilcox MA, Babineau T, Malek K, Perls TT. Cancer in the oldest old. Mech Ageing Dev 2005;126:263-267.
- Tan E, Tilney H, Thompson M, Smith J, Tekkis PP. The United Kingdom National Bowel Cancer Project - epidemiology and surgical risk in the elderly. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2285-2294.
- 59. Chiang JM, Chen MC, Changchien CR et al. Favorable influence of age on tumor characteristics of sporadic colorectal adenocarcinoma: patients 30 years of age or younger may be a distinct patient group. Dis Colon Rectum 2003;46:904-910.
- 60. Hansen IO, Jess P. Possible better long-term survival in left versus right-sided colon cancer a systematic review. Dan Med J 2012;59:A4444.
- Vilar E, Gruber SB. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer the stable evidence.
   Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2010;7:153-162.
- 62. Boland CR, Goel A. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology 2010;138:2073-2087
- 63. Des Guetz G, Schischmanoff O, Nicolas P, Perret GY, Morere JF, Uzzan B. Does microsatellite instability predict the efficacy of adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal cancer? A systematic review with meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:1890-1896.
- Carreca I, Balducci L. Cancer chemotherapy in the older cancer patient. Urol Oncol 2009;27:633-642.
- 65. Balducci L. Aging, frailty, and chemotherapy. Cancer Control 2007;14:7-12.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Pensions at a glance 2011: retirement-income systems in OECD and G20 Countries. OECD
   Publishing; 2011. Available:http://www.oecd.org/els/publicpensions/pensionsataglance.htm.

- Gorman M. Development and the rights of older people. In: Randel J, German T,
   Ewing D (eds.). The ageing and development report: poverty, independence and the world's older people. London: Earthscan Publications Ltd.; 1999.
- 68. Trask PC, Blank TO, Jacobsen PB. Future perspectives on the treatment issues associated with cancer and aging. Cancer 2008;113:3512-3518.
- 69. Falandry C, Gilson E, Rudolph KL. Are aging biomarkers clinically relevant in oncogeriatrics? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2013;85:257-265.
- 70. Walston J, Hadley EC, Ferrucci L et al. Research agenda for frailty in older adults: toward a better understanding of physiology and etiology: summary from the American Geriatrics Society/National Institute on Aging research conference on frailty in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006;54:991-1001.
- Balducci L. Treatment of cancer in the older aged person. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 2010;2:e2010029.
- 72. Partridge JS, Harari D, Dhesi JK. Frailty in the older surgical patient: a review. Age Ageing 2012;41:142-147.
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001;56:146-156.
- Rockwood K, Mitnitski A, Song X, Steen B, Skoog I. Long-term risks of death and institutionalization of elderly people in relation to deficit accumulation at age 70. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006;54:975-979.
- 75. Fried LP, Ferrucci L, Darer J, Williamson JD, Anderson G. Untangling the concepts of disability, frailty, and comorbidity: implications for improved targeting and care. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004;59:255-263.
- 76. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KA, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-383.

- 77. Cho H, Mariotto AB, Mann BS, Klabunde CN, Feuer EJ. Assessing non-cancer-related health status of US cancer patients: other-cause survival and comorbidity prevalence. Am J Epidemiol 2013;178:339-349.
- Piccirillo JF, Vlahiotis A, Barrett LB, Flood KL, Spitznagel EL, Steyerberg EW. The changing prevalence of comorbidity across the age spectrum. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2008;67:124-132.
- 79. Extermann M, Overcash J, Lyman GH, Parr J, Balducci L. Comorbidity and functional status are independent in older cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1998;16:1582-1587.
- Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC et al. Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Clin Oncol 1982;5:649-655.
- Karnofsky DA, Burchanot JH. The clinical evaluation of chemotherapeutic agents in cancer. In: MacLeod CM (ed.). Evaluation of chemotherapeutic agents. New York: Columbia University Press; 1949.
- Extermann M, Aapro M, Bernabei R et al. Use of comprehensive geriatric assessment in older cancer patients: recommendations from the task force on CGA of the International Society of Geriatric Oncology (SIOG). Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005;55:241-252.
- Katz S, Akpom C. A measure of primary sociobiological functions. Int J Health Serv 1976;6:493-508.
- Lawton M, Brody E. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. Gerontologist 1969;9:179-186.
- 85. Newsom JT, Schulz R. Social support as a mediator in the relation between functional status and quality of life in older adults. Psychol Aging 1996;11:34-44.
- 86. Kristjansson SR, Jordhoy MS, Nesbakken A et al. Which elements of a comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) predict post-operative complications and early mortality after colorectal cancer surgery? J Geriatr Oncol 2010;1:57-65.

- Audisio RA, Pope D, Ramesh HS et al. Shall we operate? Preoperative assessment in elderly cancer patients (PACE) can help. A SIOG surgical task force prospective study. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2008;65:156-163.
- Repetto L, Fratino L, Audisio RA et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment adds information to Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status in elderly cancer patients: an Italian Group for Geriatric Oncology study. J Clin Oncol 2002;20:494-502.
- Puts MT, Hardt J, Monette J, Girre V, Springall E, Alibhai SM. Use of geriatric assessment for older adults in the oncology setting: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104:1133-1163.
- 90. Wildiers H, Kenis C. Comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) in older oncological patients: why and how? J Geriatr Oncol 2012;3:174-176.
- Orimo H, Ito H, Suzuki T, Araki A, Hosoi T, Sawabe M. Reviewing the definition of "elderly". Geriatr Gerontol Int 2006;6:149-158.
- Kristjansson S, Wyller T. Introduction. European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Handbook of Cancer in the Senior Patient. London: Informa Healthcare; 2010.
- Balducci L, Extermann M. Management of cancer in the older person: a practical approach. Oncologist 2000;5:224-237.
- Dahmen NS, Cozma R (eds.). Media takes: on aging. International Longevity Center: USA and Aging Services of California; 2009.
- 95. Young JM, Leong DC, Armstrong K et al. Concordance with national guidelines for colorectal cancer care in New South Wales: a population-based patterns of care study. Med J Aust 2007;186:292-295.
- 96. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). NCCN Clinical practice guidelines in oncology: colon cancer. Version 2. Fort Washington, PA: 2012.

- 97. Australian Cancer Network Colorectal Cancer Guidelines Revision Committee.
   Guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of colorectal cancer.
   Sydney: The Cancer Council Australia and Australian Cancer Network; 2005.
- Compton CC, Greene FL. The staging of colorectal cancer: 2004 and beyond. CA Cancer J Clin 2004;54:295-308.
- Nelson H, Petrelli N, Carlin A et al. Guidelines 2000 for colon and rectal cancer surgery. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:583-596.
- Lynch ML, Brand MI. Preoperative evaluation and oncologic principles of colon cancer surgery. Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2005;18:163-173.
- 101. Schwenk W, Haase O, Neudecker J, Müller JM. Short term benefits for laparoscopic colorectal resection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;3:CD003145.
- 102. Kuhry E, Schwenk W, Gaupset R, Romild U, Bonjer J. Long-term outcome of laparoscopic surgery for colorectal cancer: a cochrane systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Cancer Treat Rev 2008;34:498-504.
- 103. Campos FG, Habr-Gama A, Nahas SC, Perez RO. Abdominoperineal excision: evolution of a centenary operation. Dis Colon Rectum 2012;55:844-853.
- 104. How P, Shihab O, Tekkis P et al. A systematic review of cancer related patient outcomes after anterior resection and abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer in the total mesorectal excision era. Surg Oncol 2011;20:149-155.
- Adamo MB, Johnson CH, Ruhl JL, Dickie LA (eds.). SEER Program Coding and Staging Manual. NIH Pub. No. 13-5581. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; 2013.
- 106. Armstrong K, O'Connell DL, Leong D, Spigelman AD, Armstrong BK. The New South Wales Colorectal Cancer Care Survey 2000: Part 1. Surgical management. Sydney: The Cancer Council New South Wales; 2004.
- 107. Mukai M, Kishima K, Yamazaki M et al. Stage II/III cancer of the rectosigmoid junction: an independent tumor type? Oncol Rep 2011;26:737-741.

- 108. Papamichael D, Audisio R, Horiot JC et al. Treatment of the elderly colorectal cancer patient: SIOG expert recommendations. Ann Oncol 2009;20:5-16.
- Cameron MG, Kersten C, Vistad I, Fossa SD, Guren MG. Palliative pelvic radiotherapy of symptomatic incurable rectal cancer - a systematic review. Acta Oncol 2014;53:164-167.
- 110. Colorectal Meta-analysis Collaboration. Palliative chemotherapy for advanced or metastatic colorectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2000;2:CD001545.
- Hellinger MD, Santiago CA. Reoperation for recurrent colorectal cancer. Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2006;19:228-236.
- 112. Manfredi S, Bouvier AM, Lepage C, Hatem C, Dancourt V, Faivre J. Incidence and patterns of recurrence after resection for cure of colonic cancer in a well defined population. Br J Surg 2006;93:1115-1122.
- 113. Labianca R, Nordlinger B, Beretta G, Brouquet A, Cervantes A, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Primary colon cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, adjuvant treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010;21:70-77.
- Glimelius B, Pahlman L, Cervantes A, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Rectal cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010;21:82-86.
- 115. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). NCCN Clinical practice guidelines in oncology: rectal cancer. Version 2. Fort Washington, PA: 2012.
- Chapuis PH, Chan C, Dent OF. Clinicopathological staging of colorectal cancer: evolution and consensus - an Australian perspective. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011;26:58-64.
- 117. Andre T, Boni C, Navarro M et al. Improved overall survival with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment in stage II or III colon cancer in the MOSAIC trial. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:3109-3116.

- 118. Twelves C, Wong A, Nowacki MP et al. Capecitabine as adjuvant treatment for stageIII colon cancer. N Engl J Med 2005;352:2696-2704.
- 119. Des Guetz G, Nicolas P, Perret GY, Morere JF, Uzzan B. Does delaying adjuvant chemotherapy after curative surgery for colorectal cancer impair survival? A metaanalysis. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:1049-1055.
- 120. Jonker DJ, Spithoff K, Maroun J et al. Adjuvant systemic chemotherapy for Stage II and III colon cancer after complete resection: an updated practice guideline. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2011;23:314-322.
- 121. Schmoll HJ, Van cutsem E, Stein A et al. ESMO Consensus Guidelines for management of patients with colon and rectal cancer. a personalized approach to clinical decision making. Ann Oncol 2012;23:2479-2516.
- 122. Bujko K, Glynne-Jones R, Bujko M. Does adjuvant fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy provide a benefit for patients with resected rectal cancer who have already received neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy? A systematic review of randomised trials. Ann Oncol 2010;21:1743-1750.
- 123. Hofheinz RD, Wenz F, Post S et al. Chemoradiotherapy with capecitabine versus fluorouracil for locally advanced rectal cancer: a randomised, multicentre, non-inferiority, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:579-588.
- 124. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN). NCCN Clinical practice guidelines in oncology: Senior Adult Oncology. Version 2. Fort Washington, PA: 2012.
- 125. Butler EN, Chawla N, Lund J, Harlan LC, Warren JL, Yabroff KR. Patterns of colorectal cancer care in the United States and Canada: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2013;2013:13-35.
- 126. Chawla N, Butler EN, Lund J, Warren JL, Harlan LC, Yabroff KR. Patterns of colorectal cancer care in Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2013;2013:36-61.

- 127. Bilimoria KY, Ko CY, Tomlinson JS et al. Wait times for cancer surgery in the United States: trends and predictors of delays. Ann Surg 2011;253:779-785.
- 128. Simunovic M, Theriault ME, Paszat L et al. Using administrative databases to measure waiting times for patients undergoing major cancer surgery in Ontario, 1993-2000. Can J Surg 2005;48:137-142.
- 129. Singh H, De Coster C, Shu E et al. Wait times from presentation to treatment for colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Can J Gastroenterol 2010;24:33-39.
- 130. Merkow R, Bilimoria K, Sherman K, McCarter M, Gordon H, Bentrem D. Efficiency of colorectal cancer care among veterans: analysis of treatment wait times at veterans affairs medical centers. J Oncol Pract 2013;9:154-163.
- Colorectal Cancer Collaborative Group. Surgery for colorectal cancer in elderly patients: a systematic review. Lancet 2000;356:968-974.
- 132. Hermans E, van Schaik P, Prins H, Ernst M, Dautzenberg P, Bosscha K. Outcome of colonic surgery in elderly patients with colon cancer. J Oncol 2010;865908.
- 133. Sankaranarayanan J, Watanabe-Galloway S, Sun J, Qiu F, Boilesen EC, Thorson AG. Age and rural residence effects on accessing colorectal cancer treatments: a registry study. Am J Manag Care 2010;16:265-273.
- Elferink MA, van Steenbergen LN, Krijnen P et al. Marked improvements in survival of patients with rectal cancer in the Netherlands following changes in therapy, 1989-2006. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:1421-1429.
- Borowski DW, Kelly SB, Bradburn DM et al. Impact of surgeon volume and specialization on short-term outcomes in colorectal cancer surgery. Br J Surg 2007;94:880-889.
- 136. Hall SE, Holman CD, Platell C, Sheiner H, Threlfall T, Semmens J. Colorectal cancer surgical care and survival: do private health insurance, socioeconomic and locational status make a difference? ANZ J Surg 2005;75:929-935.

- 137. Temple LK, Hsieh L, Wong WD, Saltz L, Schrag D. Use of surgery among elderly patients with stage IV colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:3475-3484.
- 138. Esnaola NF, Stewart AK, Feig BW et al. Age-, race-, and ethnicity-related differences in the treatment of nonmetastatic rectal cancer: a patterns of care study from the national cancer data base. Ann Surg Oncol 2008;15:3036-3047.
- Guyot F, Faivre J, Manfredi S, Meny B, Bonithon-Kopp C, Bouvier AM. Time trends in the treatment and survival of recurrences from colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol 2005;16:756-761.
- 140. Nascimbeni R, Di Fabio F, Di Betta E, Salerni B. The changing impact of age on colorectal cancer surgery. A trend analysis. Colorectal Dis 2009;11:13-18.
- 141. Iversen LH, Pedersen L, Riis A, Friis S, Laurberg S, Sorensen HT. Age and colorectal cancer with focus on the elderly: trends in relative survival and initial treatment from a Danish population-based study. Dis Colon Rectum 2005;48:1755-1763.
- 142. Faivre-Finn C, Bouvier-Benhamiche AM, Phelip JM, Manfredi S, Dancourt V, Faivre J.
   Colon cancer in France: evidence for improvement in management and survival. Gut 2002;51:60-64.
- 143. Chang GJ, Skibber JM, Feig BW, Rodriguez-Bigas M. Are we undertreating rectal cancer in the elderly? An epidemiologic study. Ann Surg 2007;246:215-221.
- 144. Allardyce RA, Bagshaw PF, Frampton CM et al. Australasian Laparoscopic Colon Cancer Study shows that elderly patients may benefit from lower postoperative complication rates following laparoscopic versus open resection. Br J Surg 2010;97:86-91.
- 145. Robinson CN, Chen GJ, Balentine CJ et al. Minimally invasive surgery is underutilized for colon cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:1412-1418.
- 146. Simorov A, Shaligram A, Shostrom V, Boilesen E, Thompson J, Oleynikov D.Laparoscopic colon resection trends in utilization and rate of conversion to open

procedure: a national database review of academic medical centers. Ann Surg 2012;256:462-468.

- 147. Reshef A, Lavery I, Kiran RP. Factors associated with oncologic outcomes after abdominoperineal resection compared with restorative resection for low rectal cancer: patient- and tumor-related or technical factors only? Dis Colon Rectum 2012;55:51-58.
- Ricciardi R, Virnig BA, Madoff RD, Rothenberger DA, Baxter NN. The status of radical proctectomy and sphincter-sparing surgery in the United States. Dis Colon Rectum 2007;50:1119-1126.
- Weiser MR, Quah HM, Shia J et al. Sphincter preservation in low rectal cancer is facilitated by preoperative chemoradiation and intersphincteric dissection. Ann Surg 2009;249:236-242.
- 150. Baxter NN, Virnig DJ, Rothenberger DA, Morris AM, Jessurun J, Virnig BA. Lymph node evaluation in colorectal cancer patients: a population-based study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:219-225.
- 151. Hardiman KM, Cone M, Sheppard BC, Herzig DO. Disparities in the treatment of colon cancer in octogenarians. Am J Surg 2009;197:624-628.
- 152. Quah HM, Joseph R, Schrag D et al. Young age influences treatment but not outcome of colon cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2007;14:2759-2765.
- Elferink MA, Siesling S, Lemmens VEPP et al. Variation in lymph node evaluation in rectal cancer: a Dutch nationwide population-based study. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:386-395.
- Dragun AE, Huang B, Tucker TC, Spanos WJ. Disparities in the application of adjuvant radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery for early stage breast cancer. Cancer 2011;117:2590-2598.

- 155. Du XL, Key CR, Osborne C, Mahnken JD, Goodwin JS. Discrepancy between consensus recommendations and actual community use of adjuvant chemotherapy in women with breast cancer. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:90-97.
- 156. Younis T, Al-Fayea T, Virik K et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy uptake in non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:1272-1278.
- 157. Kankesan J, Shepherd FA, Peng Y et al. Factors associated with referral to medical oncology and subsequent use of adjuvant chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a population-based study. Curr Oncol 2013;20:30-37.
- 158. Kao J, Lavaf A, Teng MS, Huang D, Genden EM. Adjuvant radiotherapy and survival for patients with node-positive head and neck cancer: an analysis by primary site and nodal stage. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;71:362-370.
- 159. Etzioni DA, El-Khoueiry AB, Beart RW. Rates and predictors of chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer: a systematic review. Cancer 2008;113:3279-3289.
- Abraham A, Habermann EB, Rothenberger DA et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer in the oldest old: results beyond clinical guidelines. Cancer 2013;119:395-403.
- Bouvier AM, Minicozzi P, Grosclaude P, Bouvier V, Faivre J, Sant M. Patterns of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage II and III colon cancer in France and Italy. Dig Liver Dis 2013;45:687-91.
- Jessup JM, Stewart A, Greene FL et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: implications of race/ethnicity, age, and differentiation. JAMA 2005;294:2703-2711.
- Winget M, Hossain S, Yasui Y, Scarfe A. Characteristics of patients with stage III colon adenocarcinoma who fail to receive guideline-recommended treatment. Cancer 2010;116:4849-4856.

- 164. Hu CY, Delclos GL, Chan W, Du XL. Assessing the initiation and completion of adjuvant chemotherapy in a large nationwide and population-based cohort of elderly patients with stage-III colon cancer. Med Oncol 2011;28:1062-1074.
- 165. Ananda S, Field KM, Kosmider S et al. Patient age and comorbidity are major determinants of adjuvant chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer in routine clinical practice. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:4516-4517.
- 166. Ayanian JZ, Zaslavsky AM, Fuchs CS et al. Use of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiation therapy for colorectal cancer in a population-based cohort. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1293-1300.
- Chagpar R, Xing Y, Chiang YJ et al. Adherence to stage-specific treatment guidelines for patients with colon cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:972-979.
- Hodgson DC, Fuchs CS, Ayanian JZ. Impact of patient and provider characteristics on the treatment and outcomes of colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:501-515.
- 169. Jonker JM, Hamaker ME, Soesan M, Tulner CR, Kuper IM. Colon cancer treatment and adherence to national guidelines: does age still matter? J Geriatr Oncol 2012;3:131-137.
- 170. Quipourt V, Jooste V, Cottet V, Faivre J, Bouvier A. Comorbidities alone do not explain the undertreatment of colorectal cancer in older adults: a French populationbased study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011;59:694–698.
- 171. Sarfati D, Hill S, Blakely T et al. The effect of comorbidity on the use of adjuvant chemotherapy and survival from colon cancer: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Cancer 2009;9:116.
- 172. Schrag D, Cramer LD, Bach PB, Begg CB. Age and adjuvant chemotherapy use after surgery for stage III colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:850-857.

- 173. van Steenbergen LN, Rutten HJ, Creemers GJ, Pruijt JF, Coebergh JW, Lemmens VE. Large age and hospital-dependent variation in administration of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer in southern Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2010;21:1273-1278.
- 174. Lin CC, Virgo KS. Association between the availability of medical oncologists and initiation of chemotherapy for patients with stage III colon cancer. J Oncol Pract 2013;9:27-33.
- 175. Rayson D, Urquhart R, Cox M, Grunfeld E, Porter G. Adherence to clinical practice guidelines for adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer in a Canadian province: a population-based analysis. J Oncol Pract 2012;8:253-259.
- 176. Alam M, Gabriel G, Barton M, Eek R. Discriminating factors in treatment decisions for chemotherapy in elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Forum 2008;32:22-26.
- 177. Bailey C, Corner J, Addington-Hall J, Kumar D, Nelson M, Haviland J. Treatment decisions in older patients with colorectal cancer: the role of age and multidimensional function. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2003;12:257-262.
- 178. Zullig LL, Carpenter WR, Abbott DH et al. Examining potential colorectal cancer care disparities in the Veterans Affairs health care system. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:3579-84.
- Lu CT, Stephens JH, Rieger NA. Factors influencing medical oncology referral in Dukes' C colonic cancer. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2010;6:191-196.
- Ong S, Watters JM, Grunfeld E, O'Rourke K. Predictors of referral for adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer. Can J Surg 2005;48:225-229.
- 181. Luo R, Giordano SH, Freeman JL, Zhang D, Goodwin JS. Referral to medical oncology:
  a crucial step in the treatment of older patients with stage III colon cancer.
  Oncologist 2006;11:1025-1033.

- 182. Hegi-Johnson F, Gabriel G, Kneebone A et al. Utilization of radiotherapy for rectal cancer in Greater Western Sydney 1994-2001. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2007;3:134-142.
- 183. Jobsen JJ, Aarts MJ, Siesling S et al. Use of primary radiotherapy for rectal cancer in the netherlands between 1997 and 2008: a population-based study. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2012;24:1-8.
- 184. Mak RH, McCarthy EP, Das P, Hong TS, Mamon HJ, Hoffman KE. Adoption of preoperative radiation therapy for rectal cancer from 2000 to 2006: a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results patterns-of-care study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:978-984.
- 185. Eldin NS, Yasui Y, Scarfe A, Winget M. Adherence to treatment guidelines in stage
   II/III rectal cancer in Alberta, Canada. Clin Oncol 2012;24:9-17.
- 186. Maas HA, Lemmens VE, Cox S et al. The effects of age and comorbidity on treatment patterns for radiotherapy and survival in patients with mobile rectal cancer: a population-based study. Eur Geriatr Med 2011;2:273-279.
- 187. Schrag D, Gelfand SE, Bach PB, Guillem J, Minsky BD, Begg CB. Who gets adjuvant treatment for stage II and III rectal cancer? Insight from Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results-Medicare. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:3712-3718.
- Abraham NS, Gossey JT, Davila JA, Al-Oudat S, Kramer JK. Receipt of recommended therapy by patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1320-1328.
- 189. Renouf D, Kennecke H, Gill S. Trends in chemotherapy utilization for colorectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2008;7:386-389.
- 190. Khattak MA, Townsend AR, Beeke C et al. Impact of age on choice of chemotherapy and outcome in advanced colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 2012;48:1293-1298.

- 191. van den Broek CB, Bastiaannet E, Dekker JW et al. Time trends in chemotherapy (administration and costs) and relative survival in stage III colon cancer patients - a large population-based study from 1990 to 2008. Acta Oncol 2013;52:941-949.
- 192. van Steenbergen LN, Lemmens VE, Rutten HJ, Wymenga AN, Nortier JW, Janssen-Heijnen ML. Increased adjuvant treatment and improved survival in elderly stage III colon cancer patients in the Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2012;23:2805-2811.
- Hershman D, Hall MJ, Wang X et al. Timing of adjuvant chemotherapy initiation after surgery for stage III colon cancer. Cancer 2006;107:2581-2588.
- 194. Field K, Kosmider S, Jefford M et al. Chemotherapy dosing strategies in the obese, elderly, and thin patient: results of a nationwide survey. J Oncol Pract 2008;4:108-113.
- 195. Kahn KL, Adams JL, Weeks JC et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy use and adverse events among older patients with stage III colon cancer. JAMA 2010;303:1037-1045.
- 196. Abrams TA, Brightly R, Mao J et al. Patterns of adjuvant chemotherapy use in a population-based cohort of patients with resected stage II or III colon cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3255-3262.
- 197. Van Gils CW, Koopman M, Mol L, Redekop WK, Uyl-De Groot CA, Punt CJ. Adjuvant chemotherapy in stage III colon cancer: guideline implementation, patterns of use and outcomes in daily practice in the Netherlands. Acta Oncol 2012;51:57-64.
- Dobie SA, Baldwin LM, Dominitz JA, Matthews B, Billingsley K, Barlow W. Completion of therapy by medicare patients with stage III colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:610-619.
- Treanor C, Donnelly M. An international review of the patterns and determinants of health service utilisation by adult cancer survivors. BMC Health Serv Res 2012;12:316.

- 200. Snyder CF, Earle CC, Herbert RJ, Neville BA, Blackford AL, Frick KD. Trends in followup and preventive care for colorectal cancer survivors. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23:254-259.
- 201. Urquhart R, Folkes A, Porter G et al. Population-based longitudinal study of follow-up care for patients with colorectal cancer in Nova Scotia. J Oncol Pract 2012;8:246-252.
- 202. Foley KL, Song EY, Klepin H, Geiger A, Tooze J. Screening colonoscopy among colorectal cancer survivors insured by Medicaid. Am J Clin Oncol 2012;35:205-211.
- Faivre J, Lemmens VE, Quipourt V, Bouvier AM. Management and survival of colorectal cancer in the elderly in population-based studies. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2279-2284.
- 204. Lemmens VE, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Verheij CD, Houterman S, Repelaer Van Driel OJ, Coebergh JW. Co-morbidity leads to altered treatment and worse survival of elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2005;92:615-623.
- 205. Yancik R, Wesley MN, Ries LAG et al. Comorbidity and age as predictors of risk for early mortality of male and female colon carcinoma patients: a population-based study. Cancer 1998;82:2123-2134.
- Schiffmann L, Ozcan S, Schwarz F, Lange J, Prall F, Klar E. Colorectal cancer in the elderly: surgical treatment and long-term survival. Int J Colorectal Dis 2008;23:601-610.
- 207. Osler M, Iversen LH, Borglykke A et al. Hospital variation in 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark: the contribution of hospital volume and patient characteristics. Ann Surg 2011;253:733-738.
- 208. Morris EJ, Taylor EF, Thomas JD et al. Thirty-day postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in England. Gut 2011;60:806-813.
- Panis Y, Maggiori L, Caranhac G, Bretagnol F, Vicaut E. Mortality after colorectal cancer surgery: a French survey of more than 84,000 patients. Ann Surg 2011;254:738-743.

- 210. Al-Refaie WB, Parsons HM, Habermann EB et al. Operative outcomes beyond 30-day mortality: colorectal cancer surgery in oldest old. Ann Surg 2011;253:947-952.
- 211. Tekkis PP, Poloniecki JD, Thompson MR, Stamatakis JD. Operative mortality in colorectal cancer: prospective national study. Br Med J 2003;327:1196-1199.
- Devon KM, Urbach DR, McLeod RS. Postoperative disposition and health services use in elderly patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery: a population-based study. Surgery 2011;149:705-712.
- 213. Kelly M, Sharp L, Dwane F, Kelleher T, Comber H. Factors predicting hospital lengthof-stay and readmission after colorectal resection: a population-based study of elective and emergency admissions. BMC Health Serv Res 2012;12:77.
- 214. Schneider EB, Hyder O, Brooke BS et al. Patient readmission and mortality after colorectal surgery for colon cancer: impact of length of stay relative to other clinical factors. J Am Coll Surg 2012;214:390-398.
- 215. Shahir MA, Lemmens VE, van de Poll-Franse LV, Voogd AC, Martijn H, Janssen-Heijnen ML. Elderly patients with rectal cancer have a higher risk of treatmentrelated complications and a poorer prognosis than younger patients: a populationbased study. Eur J Cancer 2006;42:3015-3021.
- 216. Greenblatt DY, Weber SM, O'Connor ES, Loconte NK, Liou JI, Smith MA. Readmission after colectomy for cancer predicts one-year mortality. Ann Surg 2010;251:659-669.
- 217. Kirchhoff P, Clavien PA, Hahnloser D. Complications in colorectal surgery: risk factors and preventive strategies. Patient Saf Surg 2010;4:5.
- Paun BC, Cassie S, MacLean AR, Dixon E, Buie WD. Postoperative complications following surgery for rectal cancer. Ann Surg 2010;251:807-818.
- Dorudi S, Steele RJ, McArdle CS. Surgery for colorectal cancer. Br Med Bull 2002;64:101-118.

- 220. Manceau G, Karoui M, Werner A, Mortensen NJ, Hannoun L. Comparative outcomes of rectal cancer surgery between elderly and non-elderly patients: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:525-536.
- 221. Khan MR, Bari H, Zafar SN, Raza SA. Impact of age on outcome after colorectal cancer surgery in the elderly a developing country perspective. BMC Surg 2011;11:17.
- 222. Latkauskas T, Rudinskaite G, Kurtinaitis J et al. The impact of age on post-operative outcomes of colorectal cancer patients undergoing surgical treatment. BMC Cancer 2005;5:153.
- 223. Fontani A, Martellucci J, Civitelli S, Tanzini G. Outcome of surgical treatment of colorectal cancer in the elderly. Updates Surg 2011;63:233-237.
- 224. Tan KY, Kawamura Y, Mizokami K et al. Colorectal surgery in octogenarian patients outcomes and predictors of morbidity. Int J Colorectal Dis 2009;24:185-189.
- 225. Ong ES, Alassas M, Dunn KB, Rajput A. Colorectal cancer surgery in the elderly: acceptable morbidity? Am J Surg 2008;195:344-348.
- 226. Mitry E, Bouvier AM, Esteve J, Faivre J. Improvement in colorectal cancer survival: a population-based study. Eur J Cancer 2005;41:2297-2303.
- Devon K, Vergara-Fernandez O, Victor J, McLeod R. Colorectal cancer surgery in elderly patients: presentation, treatment, and outcomes. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52:1272-1277.
- Janssen-Heijnen ML, Maas HA, Houterman S, Lemmens VE, Rutten HJ, Coebergh JW.
   Comorbidity in older surgical cancer patients: influence on patient care and outcome.
   Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2179-2193.
- 229. Gross CP, Guo Z, McAvay GJ, Allore HG, Young M, Tinetti ME. Multimorbidity and survival in older persons with colorectal cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006;54:1898-1904.
- Dekker JW, Van Den Broek CB, Bastiaannet E, Van De Geest LG, Tollenaar RA, Liefers
   GJ. Importance of the first postoperative year in the prognosis of elderly colorectal cancer patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:1533-1539.

- 231. Saltzstein SL, Behling CA. 5- and 10-year survival in cancer patients aged 90 and older: a study of 37,318 patients from SEER. J Surg Oncol 2002;81:113-116.
- 232. Sarfati D, Blakely T, Pearce N. Measuring cancer survival in populations: Relative survival vs cancer-specific survival. Int J Epidemiol 2010;39:598-610.
- Dale DC. Poor prognosis in elderly patients with cancer: the role of bias and undertreatment. J Support Oncol 2003;1:11-17.
- 234. van den Broek CB, Dekker JW, Bastiaannet E et al. The survival gap between middleaged and elderly colon cancer patients. Time trends in treatment and survival. Eur J Surg Oncol 2011;37:904-912.
- 235. Chang GJ, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Skibber JM, Moyer VA. Lymph node evaluation and survival after curative resection of colon cancer: systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst 2007;99:433-441.
- 236. Elferink MA, Siesling S, Visser O et al. Large variation between hospitals and pathology laboratories in lymph node evaluation in colon cancer and its impact on survival, a nationwide population based study in The Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2011;22:110-117.
- 237. Biagi JJ, Raphael MJ, Mackillop WJ, Kong W, King WD, Booth CM. Association between time to initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy and survival in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2011;305:2335-2342.
- Morris M, Platell C, Fritschi L, Lacopetta B. Failure to complete adjuvant chemotherapy is associated with adverse survival in stage III colon cancer patients. Br J Cancer 2007;96:701-707.
- 239. Ahmed S, Ahmad I, Zhu T et al. Early discontinuation but not the timing of adjuvant therapy affects survival of patients with high-risk colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Dis Colon Rectum 2010;53:1432-1438.
- 240. Neugut AI, Matasar M, Wang X et al. Duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer and survival among the elderly. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:2368-2375.
- Lyman GH. Impact of chemotherapy dose intensity on cancer patient outcomes. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009;7:99-108.
- 242. Kennedy GD, Rajamanickam V, Oconnor ES et al. Optimizing surgical care of colon cancer in the older adult population. Ann Surg 2011;253:508-514.
- 243. van der Geest LG, Portielje JE, Wouters MW et al. Complicated postoperative recovery increases omission, delay and discontinuation of adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with stage III colon cancer. Colorectal Dis 2013;15:582-91.
- 244. Gill S, Loprinzi CL, Sargent DJ et al. Pooled analysis of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy for stage II and III colon cancer: who benefits and by how much? J Clin Oncol 2004;22:1797-1806.
- Sargent DJ, Goldberg RM, Jacobson SD et al. A pooled analysis of adjuvant chemotherapy for resected colon cancer in elderly patients. N Engl J Med 2001;345:1091-1097.
- 246. Sanoff HK, Carpenter WR, Sturmer T et al. Effect of adjuvant chemotherapy on survival of patients with stage III colon cancer diagnosed after age 75 years. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:2624-2634.
- 247. Zuckerman IH, Rapp T, Onukwugha E et al. Effect of age on survival benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy in elderly patients with stage III colon cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:1403-1410.
- 248. Jackson McCleary NA, Meyerhardt J, Green E et al. Impact of older age on the efficacy of newer adjuvant therapies in >12,500 patients with stage II/III colon cancer: findings from the ACCENT Database. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:4010.
- 249. Gray R, Hills R, Stowe R et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic overview of 8,507 patients from 22 randomised trials. Lancet 2001;358:1291-1304.
- Camma C, Giunta M, Fiorica F, Pagliaro L, Craxi A, Cottone M. Preoperative radiotherapy for resectable rectal cancer: a meta-analysis. JAMA 2000;284:1008-1015.

- 251. Pacelli F, Tortorelli AP, Rosa F et al. Locally recurrent rectal cancer: prognostic factors and long-term outcomes of multimodal therapy. Ann Surg Oncol 2010;17:152-162.
- 252. De Caluwe L, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Ceelen WP. Preoperative chemoradiation versus radiation alone for stage II and III resectable rectal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013;2:CD006041.
- Merlin F, Prochilo T, Tondulli L, Kildani B, Beretta GD. Colorectal cancer treatment in elderly patients: an update on recent clinical studies. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2008;7:357-363.
- 254. Bloechl-Daum B, Deuson RR, Mavros P, Hansen M, Herrstedt J. Delayed nausea and vomiting continue to reduce patients' quality of life after highly and moderately emetogenic chemotherapy despite antiemetic treatment. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4472-4478.
- 255. Fernandez-Ortega P, Caloto MT, Chirveches E et al. Chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in clinical practice: impact on patients' quality of life. Support Care Cancer 2012;20:3141-3148.
- 256. Stein A, Voigt W, Jordan K. Chemotherapy-induced diarrhea: pathophysiology, frequency and guideline-based management. Ther Adv Med Oncol 2010;2:51-63.
- Sharma R, Tobin P, Clarke SJ. Management of chemotherapy-induced nausea, vomiting, oral mucositis, and diarrhoea. Lancet Oncol 2005;6:93-102.
- 258. Janelsins MC, Kohli S, Mohile SG, Usuki K, Ahles TA, Morrow GR. An update on cancer- and chemotherapy-related cognitive dysfunction: current status. Semin Oncol 2011;38:431-438.
- Caggiano V, Weiss RV, Rickert TS, Linde-Zwirble WT. Incidence, cost, and mortality of neutropenia hospitalization associated with chemotherapy. Cancer 2005;103:1916-1924.
- 260. Stasi R, Abriani L, Beccaglia P, Terzoli E, Amadori S. Cancer-related fatigue: evolving concepts in evaluation and treatment. Cancer 2003;98:1786-1801.

- 261. Land SR, Kopec JA, Cecchini RS et al. Neurotoxicity from oxaliplatin combined with weekly bolus fluorouracil and leucovorin as surgical adjuvant chemotherapy for stage II and III colon cancer: NSABP C-07. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:2205-2211.
- Ooi BS, Tjandra JJ, Green MD. Morbidities of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy for resectable rectal cancer: an overview. Dis Colon Rectum 1999;42:403-418.
- 263. O'Gorman C, Denieffe S, Gooney M. Literature review: preoperative radiotherapy and rectal cancer - impact on acute symptom presentation and quality of life. J Clin Nurs 2014;23:333-351.
- 264. Birgisson H, Pahlman L, Gunnarsson U, Glimelius B. Late adverse effects of radiation therapy for rectal cancer a systematic overview. Acta Oncol 2007;46:504-516.
- Denlinger CS, Barsevick AM. The challenges of colorectal cancer survivorship. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009;7:883-894.
- 266. Hung A, Danielmullins C. Relative effectiveness and safety of chemotherapy in elderly and nonelderly patients with stage III colon cancer: a systematic review. Oncologist 2013;18:54-63.
- 267. Pallis AG, Papamichael D, Audisio R et al. EORTC Elderly Task Force experts' opinion for the treatment of colon cancer in older patients. Cancer Treat Rev 2010;36:83-90.
- 268. Zachariah B, Balducci L, Venkattaramanabalaji GV, Casey L, Greenberg HM, DelRegato JA. Radiotherapy for cancer patients aged 80 and older: a study of effectiveness and side effects. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1997;39:1125-1129.
- 269. Thompson A, Cone R, Gao H, Hammond E, Fraser D, Back MF. Is advanced age a barrier to effective cancer treatment? The experience of nonagenarians receiving radiation therapy. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2012;8:255-259.
- Repetto L, Comandini D, Mammoliti S. Life expectancy, comorbidity and quality of life: the treatment equation in the older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2001;37:147-152.

- 271. Extermann M, Boler I, Reich RR et al. Predicting the risk of chemotherapy toxicity in older patients: the Chemotherapy Risk Assessment Scale for High-Age Patients (CRASH) score. Cancer 2012;118:3377-3386.
- 272. Hurria A, Togawa K, Mohile SG et al. Predicting chemotherapy toxicity in older adults with cancer: a prospective multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3457-3465.
- Gross CP, McAvay GJ, Guo Z, Tinetti ME. The impact of chronic illnesses on the use and effectiveness of adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. Cancer 2007;109:2410-2419.
- 274. Larsson SC, Orsini N, Wolk A. Diabetes mellitus and risk of colorectal cancer: a metaanalysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 2005;97:1679-1687.
- 275. Stein KB, Snyder CF, Barone BB et al. Colorectal cancer outcomes, recurrence, and complications in persons with and without diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci 2010;55:1839-1851.
- 276. Lee L, Cheung WY, Atkinson E, Krzyzanowska MK. Impact of comorbidity on chemotherapy use and outcomes in solid tumors: a systematic review. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:106-117.
- 277. Gomez-Millan J. Radiation therapy in the elderly: More side effects and complications? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2009;71:70-78.
- Pal SK, Hurria A. Impact of age, sex, and comorbidity on cancer therapy and disease progression. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:4086-4093.
- 279. Superfin D, Iannucci AA, Davies AM. Commentary: Oncologic drugs in patients with organ dysfunction: a summary. Oncologist 2007;12:1070-1083.
- 280. Brunello A, Loaldi E, Balducci L, Brunello A, Loaldi E, Balducci L. Dose adjustment and supportive care before and during treatment. Cancer Treat Rev 2009;35:493-498.
- 281. Balducci L. Anemia, cancer, and aging. Cancer Control 2003;10:478-486.

- Maggiore RJ, Gross CP, Hurria A. Polypharmacy in older adults with cancer.
  Oncologist 2010;15:507-522.
- 283. Baxter NN, Habermann EB, Tepper JE, Durham SB, Virnig BA. Risk of pelvic fractures in older women following pelvic irradiation. JAMA 2005;294:2587-2593.
- 284. Trotti A, Colevas AD, Setser A, Rusch V, Jaques D, Budach V, et al. CTCAE v3.0: development of a comprehensive grading system for the adverse effects of cancer treatment. Semin Radiat Oncol 2003;13(3):176-181.
- 285. Wedding U, Honecker F, Bokemeyer C, Pientka L, Hoffken K. Tolerance to chemotherapy in elderly patients with cancer. Cancer Control 2007;14:44-56.
- 286. Bouvier AM, Jooste V, Bonnetain F et al. Adjuvant treatments do not alter the quality of life in elderly patients with colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Cancer 2008;113:879-886.
- 287. Sanoff HK, Goldberg RM, Pignone MP. A systematic review of the use of quality of life measures in colorectal cancer research with attention to outcomes in elderly patients. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2007;6:700-709.
- 288. Hay J, Atkinson T, Reeve B et al. Cognitive interviewing of the US National Cancer Institute's Patient-Reported Outcomes version of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (PRO-CTCAE). Qual Life Res 2013;23:257-69.
- 289. Jansen L, Koch L, Brenner H, Arndt V. Quality of life among long-term (≥5 years) colorectal cancer survivors systematic review. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:2879-2888.
- 290. Mastracci TM, Hendren S, O'Connor B, McLeod RS. The impact of surgery for colorectal cancer on quality of life and functional status in the elderly. Dis Colon Rectum 2006;49:1878-1884.
- 291. Hebert PL, Sisk JE, Howell EA. When does a difference become a disparity?
  Conceptualizing racial and ethnic disparities in health. Health Aff (Millwood)
  2008;27:374-382.

- 292. Yee KW, Pater JL, Pho L, Zee B, Siu LL. Enrollment of older patients in cancer treatment trials in Canada: why is age a barrier? J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1618-1623.
- 293. Lewis JH, Kilgore ML, Goldman DP et al. Participation of patients 65 years of age or older in cancer clinical trials. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1383-1389.
- 294. Murthy VH, Krumholz HM, Gross CP. Participation in cancer clinical trials: race-, sex-, and age-based disparities. JAMA 2004;291:2720-2726.
- 295. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY et al. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: a systematic review. Cancer 2008;112:228-242.
- 296. Dear RF, Barratt AL, McGeechan K, Askie L, Simes J, Tattersall MH. Landscape of cancer clinical trials in Australia: using trial registries to guide future research. Med J Aust 2011;194:387-391. [Unpublished data]
- 297. Grand MM, O'Brien PC. Obstacles to participation in randomised cancer clinical trials: a systematic review of the literature. J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2012;56:31-39.
- 298. Townsley CA, Chan KK, Pond GR, Marquez C, Siu LL, Straus SE. Understanding the attitudes of the elderly towards enrolment into cancer clinical trials. BMC Cancer 2006;6:34.
- 299. Marcantonio ER, Aneja J, Jones RN et al. Maximizing clinical research participation in vulnerable older persons: identification of barriers and motivators. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008;56:1522-1527.
- 300. Cherubini A, Signore SD, Ouslander J, Semla T, Michel JP. Fighting against age discrimination in clinical trials. J Am Geriatr Soc 2010;58:1791-1796.
- Hurria A. Clinical trials in older adults with cancer: past and future. Oncology (Williston Park) 2007;21:351-358.
- 302. Mody L, Miller DK, McGloin JM et al. Recruitment and retention of older adults in aging research. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008;56:2340-2348.

- 303. Thong MS, Mols F, Stein KD, Smith T, Coebergh JW, Van De Poll-Franse LV. Population-based cancer registries for quality-of-life research: a work-in-progress resource for survivorship studies? Cancer 2013;119:2109-2123.
- Bilheimer LT, Klein RJ. Data and measurement issues in the analysis of health disparities. Health Serv Res 2010;45:1489-1507.
- 305. Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S et al. Socioeconomic status in health research: one size does not fit all. JAMA 2005;294:2879-2888.
- 306. Wong HL, Gibbs P. Does adjuvant chemotherapy in elderly patients with stage III colon cancer really save lives? J Clin Oncol 2013;31:511-512.
- 307. Al-Refaie WB, Parsons HM, Henderson WG et al. Major cancer surgery in the elderly: results from the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program. Ann Surg 2010;251:311-318.
- 308. Shariff SZ, Cuerden MS, Jain AK, Garg AX. The secret of immortal time bias in epidemiologic studies. J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;19:841-843.
- 309. Hill J. Discussion of research using propensity-score matching: Comments on 'A critical appraisal of propensity-score matching in the medical literature between
  1996 and 2003' by Peter Austin, Statistics in Medicine. Stat Med 2008;27:2055-2061.
- 310. Lipscomb J, Gotay CC, Snyder CF. Patient-reported outcomes in cancer: a review of recent research and policy initiatives. CA Cancer J Clin 2007;57:278-300.
- Koh C, Young J, Solomon M. Patient reported outcomes are important in oncology. Cancer Forum 2013;37:88-92.
- 312. Søreide K, Søreide AH. Using patient-reported outcome measures for improved decision-making in patients with gastrointestinal cancer the last clinical frontier in surgical oncology? Front Oncol 2013;3:157.
- 313. Gabriel SE, Normand SL. Getting the methods right the foundation of patientcentered outcomes research. N Engl J Med 2012;367:787-790.

- 314. Harrison JD, Young JM, Price MA, Butow PN, Solomon MJ. What are the unmet supportive care needs of people with cancer? A systematic review. Support Care Cancer 2009;17:1117-1128.
- 315. Smith-Gagen J, Cress RD, Drake CM, Romano PS, Yost KJ, Ayanian JZ. Quality-of-life and surgical treatments for rectal cancer - a longitudinal analysis using the California Cancer Registry. Psychooncology 2010;19:870-878.
- 316. Jansen L, Herrmann A, Stegmaier C, Singer S, Brenner H, Arndt V. Health-related quality of life during the 10 years after diagnosis of colorectal cancer: a populationbased study. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3263-3269.
- 317. Fitzsimmons D, Gilbert J, Howse F et al. A systematic review of the use and validation of health-related quality of life instruments in older cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:19-32.
- Morgan R, Pendleton N, Clague JE, Horan MA. Older people's perceptions about symptoms. Br J Gen Pract 1997;47:427-430.
- Hardy SE, Allore H, Studenski SA. Missing data: a special challenge in aging research. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:722-729.
- 320. Field KM, Kosmider S, Desai J et al. Re: Residual treatment disparities after oncology referral for rectal cancer [comment]. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008;100:1739.
- 321. Landrum MB, Keating NL, Lamont EB, Bozeman SR, McNeil BJ. Reasons for underuse of recommended therapies for colorectal and lung cancer in the Veterans Health Administration. Cancer 2012;118:3345-3355.
- 322. El Shayeb M, Scarfe A, Yasui Y, Winget M. Reasons physicians do not recommend and patients refuse adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: a population based chart review. BMC Res Notes 2012;7:269.

- 323. Tariman JD, Berry DL, Cochrane B, Doorenbos A, Schepp KG. Physician, patient, and contextual factors affecting treatment decisions in older adults with cancer and models of decision making: a literature review. Oncol Nurs Forum 2012;39:70-83.
- 324. Elkin EB, Hamilton AA, Patel S, Temple LK, Stevenson A, Weiss ES. Financial and psychosocial impacts of adjuvant chemotherapy in older colorectal cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:19580.
- 325. Kreling B, Figueiredo MI, Sheppard VL, Mandelblatt JS. A qualitative study of factors affecting chemotherapy use in older women with breast cancer: barriers, promoters, and implications for intervention. Psychooncology 2006;15:1065-1076.
- 326. Kutner JS, Vu KO, Prindiville SA, Byers TE. Patient age and cancer treatment decisions. Patient and physician views. Cancer Pract 2000;8:114-119.
- 327. Goodwin JS, Hunt WC, Samet JM. Determinants of cancer therapy in elderly patients.Cancer 1993;72:594-601.
- 328. Elkin EB, Kim SH, Casper ES, Kissane DW, Schrag D. Desire for information and involvement in treatment decisions: elderly cancer patients' preferences and their physicians' perceptions. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:5275-5280.
- Amalraj S, Starkweather C, Nguyen C, Naeim A. Health literacy, communication, and treatment decision-making in older cancer patients. Oncology (Williston Park) 2009;23:369-375.
- Beaver K, Campbell M, Craven O et al. Colorectal cancer patients' attitudes towards involvement in decision making. Health Expect 2009;12:27-37.
- 331. Posma ER, van Weert JC, Jansen J, Bensing JM. Older cancer patients' information and support needs surrounding treatment: an evaluation through the eyes of patients, relatives and professionals. BMC Nurs 2009;8:1.
- 332. Sparks L, Nussbaum JF. Health literacy and cancer communication with older adults.Patient Educ Couns 2008;71:345-350.

- 333. Siminoff LA, Graham GC, Gordon NH. Cancer communication patterns and the influence of patient characteristics: disparities in information-giving and affective behaviors. Patient Educ Couns 2006;62:355-360.
- Pinquart M, Duberstein PR. Information needs and decision-making processes in older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2004;51:69-80.
- Ankem K. Factors influencing information needs among cancer patients: a metaanalysis. Libr Inf Sci Res 2006;28:7-23.
- 336. Singh JA, Sloan JA, Atherton PJ et al. Preferred roles in treatment decision making among patients with cancer: a pooled analysis of studies using the control preferences scale. Am J Manag Care 2010;16:688-696.
- 337. Shelton RC, Hillyer GC, Hershman DL et al. Interpersonal influences and attitudes about adjuvant therapy treatment decisions among non-metastatic breast cancer patients: an examination of differences by age and race/ethnicity in the BQUAL study. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013;137:817-828.
- 338. Golfinopoulos V, Pentheroudakis G, Pavlidis N. Treatment of colorectal cancer in the elderly: a review of the literature. Cancer Treat Rev 2006;32:1-8.
- Mayo RM, Ureda JR, Parker VG. Importance of fatalism in understanding mammography screening in rural elderly women. J Women Aging 2001;13:57-72.
- Step MM, Siminoff LA, Rose JH. Differences in oncologist communication across age groups and contributions to adjuvant decision outcomes. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:S279-S282.
- 341. Extermann M, Albrand G, Chen H et al. Are older French patients as willing as older American patients to undertake chemotherapy? J Clin Oncol 2003;21:3214-3219.
- Newcomb PA, Carbone PP. Cancer treatment and age: patient perspectives. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993;85:1580-1584.
- 343. Sackett DL, Rosenberg WM, Gray JA, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. Br Med J 1996;312:71-72.

- Buchan H. Gaps between best evidence and practice: vauses for concern. Med J Aust 2004;180:48-49.
- Rubio DM, Schoenbaum EE, Lee LS et al. Defining translational research: implications for training. Acad Med 2010;85:470-475.
- 346. Francke AL, Smit MC, de Veer AJ, Mistiaen P. Factors influencing the implementation of clinical guidelines for health care professionals: a systematic meta-review. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2008;8:38.
- 347. Cochrane LJ, Olson CA, Murray S, Dupuis M, Tooman T, Hayes S. Gaps between knowing and doing: understanding and assessing the barriers to optimal health care. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2007;27:94-102.
- 348. Foster JA, Salinas GD, Mansell D, Williamson JC, Casebeer LL. How does older age influence oncologists' cancer management? Oncologist 2010;15:584-592.
- 349. Krzyzanowska MK, Regan MM, Powell M, Earle CC, Weeks JC. Impact of patient age and comorbidity on surgeon versus oncologist preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg 2009;208:202-209.
- 350. Hurria A, Wong FL, Villaluna D et al. Role of age and health in treatment recommendations for older adults with breast cancer: the perspective of oncologists and primary care providers. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:5386-5392.
- 351. Keating NL, Landrum MB, Klabunde CN et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: do physicians agree about the importance of patient age and comorbidity? J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2532-2537.
- 352. Hershman DL, Buono D, McBride RB et al. Surgeon characteristics and receipt of adjuvant radiotherapy in women with breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2008;100:199-206.
- 353. Choudhry NK, Fletcher RH, Soumerai SB. Systematic review: the relationship between clinical experience and quality of health care. Ann Intern Med 2005;142:260-273.

- 354. Ubachs-Moust J, Houtepen R, Vos R, ter Meulen R. Value judgements in the decisionmaking process for the elderly patient. J Med Ethics 2008;34:863-868.
- 355. Angus J, Reeve P. Ageism: a threat to "aging well" in the 21st century. J Appl Gerontol 2006;25:137-152.
- 356. Lemmens VE, van Halteren AH, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Vreugdenhil G, Repelaer van Driel OJ, Coebergh JW. Adjuvant treatment for elderly patients with stage III colon cancer in the southern Netherlands is affected by socioeconomic status, gender, and comorbidity. Ann Oncol 2005;16:767-772.
- 357. Wu X, Chen VW, Andrews PA et al. Treatment patterns for stage III colon cancer and factors related to receipt of postoperative chemotherapy in Louisiana. J La State Med Soc 2004;156:255-261.
- Harrison JD, Solomon MJ, Young JM et al. Patient and physician preferences for surgical and adjuvant treatment options for rectal cancer. Arch Surg 2008;143:389-394.
- 359. Luo R, Giordano SH, Zhang DD, Freeman J, Goodwin JS. The role of the surgeon in whether patients with lymph node-positive colon cancer see a medical oncologist. Cancer 2007;109:975-982.
- 360. Kreiter E, Yasui Y, De Gara C, White J, Winget M. Referral rate to oncologists and its variation by hospital for colorectal cancer patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2012;19:714-721.
- 361. Bickell NA, LePar F, Wang JJ, Leventhal H. Lost opportunities: physicians' reasons and disparities in breast cancer treatment. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:2516-2521.
- Farquhar CM, Kofa EW, Slutsky JR. Clinicians' attitudes to clinical practice guidelines: a systematic review. Med J Aust 2002;177:502-506.
- 363. Aaldriks AA, Maartense E, le Cessie S et al. Predictive value of geriatric assessment for patients older than 70 years, treated with chemotherapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2011;79:205-212.

- 364. Tucci A, Ferrari S, Bottelli C, Borlenghi E, Drera M, Rossi G. A comprehensive geriatric assessment is more effective than clinical judgment to identify elderly diffuse large cell lymphoma patients who benefit from aggressive therapy. Cancer 2009;115:4547-4553.
- 365. Freyer G, Geay JF, Touzet S et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment predicts tolerance to chemotherapy and survival in elderly patients with advanced ovarian carcinoma: a GINECO study. Ann Oncol 2005;16:1795-1800.
- 366. Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, de Rooij SE, Vos AG, Smorenburg CH, van Munster BC. Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 2012;13:437-444.
- Feilchenfeldt J, Shah MA. How should we care for elderly cancer patients? Oncology (Williston Park) 2009;23:168.
- Hubbard J, Jatoi A. Adjuvant chemotherapy in colon cancer: ageism or appropriate care? J Clin Oncol 2011;29:3209-3210.
- 369. Girre V, Falcou M-C, Gisselbrecht M et al. Does a geriatric oncology consultation modify the cancer treatment plan for elderly patients? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2008;63:724-730.
- 370. Sullivan R, Peppercorn J, Sikora K et al. Delivering affordable cancer care in highincome countries. Lancet Oncol 2011;12:933-980.
- 371. Johnstone M, Kanitsaki O. Population ageing and the politics of demographic alarmism: implications for the nursing profession. Aust J Adv Nurs 2009;26:86-92.
- Dolan P, Shaw R, Tsuchiya A, Williams A. QALY maximisation and people's preferences: a methodological review of the literature. Health Econ 2005;14:197-208.

- 373. Edejer T, Baltussen R, Adam T, Hutubessy R, Acharya A, Evans D, et al. Making choices in health: WHO guide to cost effectiveness analysis. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2003.
- Eisenberg D, Freed GL. Reassessing how society prioritizes the health of young people. Health Aff (Millwood) 2007;26:345-354.
- Tsuchiya A. Age-related preferences and age weighting health benefits. Soc Sci Med 1999;48:267-276.
- 376. Macmillan Cancer Support. The age old excuse: the under treatment of older cancer patients; 2012. Available: http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Documents/GetInvolved/Campaigns/AgeOldExcuse/A geOldExcuseReport-MacmillanCancerSupport.pdf.
- Dyer C. Age discrimination in UK healthcare will become unlawful in October. BMJ 2012;344:e4134.
- 378. Tran G, Hack SP, Kerr A et al. Pharmaco-economic analysis of direct medical costs of metastatic colorectal cancer therapy with XELOX or modified FOLFOX-6 regimens: implications for health-care utilization in Australia. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2013;9:239-248.
- 379. Haywood P, De Raad J, Van Gool K et al. Chemotherapy administration: modelling the costs of alternative protocols. Pharmacoeconomics 2012;30:1173-1186.
- Attard CL, Maroun JA, Alloul K, Grima DT, Bernard LM. Cost-effectiveness of oxaliplatin in the adjuvant treatment of colon cancer in Canada. Current Oncology 2010;17:17-24.
- Schrag D. The price tag on progress chemotherapy for colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2004;351:317-319.
- 382. O'Connell MJ, Campbell ME, Goldberg RM et al. Survival following recurrence in stage II and III colon cancer: findings from the ACCENT data set. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:2336-2341.

- 383. Stewart M, Brown JB. Patient-centredness in medicine. In: Edwards A, Elwyn G (eds.). Evidence-based patient choice: Inevitable or impossible. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- McMillan S, Kendall E, Sav A et al. Patient-centered approaches to health care: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Med Care Res Rev 2013;70:567-96.
- Morgan S, Yoder LH. A concept analysis of person-centered care. J Holist Nurs 2012;30:6-15.
- 386. Pal SK, Katheria V, Hurria A. Evaluating the older patient with cancer: understanding frailty and the geriatric assessment. CA Cancer J Clin 2010;60:120-132.
- 387. Dale W, Mohile SG, Eldadah BA et al. Biological, clinical, and psychosocial correlates at the interface of cancer and aging research. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104:581-589.
- 388. Ravdin PM, Siminoff LA, Davis GJ et al. Computer program to assist in making decisions about adjuvant therapy for women with early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:980-991.
- 389. Levine SK, Sachs GA, Jin L, Meltzer D. A prognostic model for 1-year mortality in older adults after hospital discharge. Am J Med 2007;120:455-460.
- Blinman P, King M, Norman R, Viney R, Stockler MR. Preferences for cancer treatments: an overview of methods and applications in oncology. Ann Oncol 2012;23:1104-1110.
- Jansen SJ, Otten W, Stiggelbout AM. Review of determinants of patients' preferences for adjuvant therapy in cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:3181-3190.
- 392. Duric VM, Butow PN, Sharpe L et al. Psychosocial factors and patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer. Psychooncology 2007;16:48-59.
- 393. Reyna VF, Nelson WL, Han PK, Dieckmann NF. How numeracy influences risk comprehension and medical decision making. Psychol Bull 2009;135:943-973.

- 394. Marcatto F, Rolison JJ, Ferrante D. Communicating clinical trial outcomes: effects of presentation method on physicians' evaluations of new treatments. Judgm Decis Mak 2013;8:29-33.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Population by age and sex, regions of Australia.
  Cat. No. 3235.0. Canberra: ABS; 2012.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Reflecting a nation: stories from the 2011 Census. Cat. No. 2071.0. Canberra: ABS; 2012.
- Healy J, Sharman E, Lokuge B. Australia: health system review. Health Systems in Transition 2006;8:1-158.
- Phillips A. Health status differentials across rural and remote Australia. Aust J Rural Health 2009;17:2-9.
- 399. Vos T, Barker B, Begg S, Stanley L, Lopez AD. Burden of disease and injury in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples: the indigenous health gap. Int J Epidemiol 2009;38:470-477.
- 400. Taylor RS, Drummond MF, Salkeld G, Sullivan SD. Inclusion of cost effectiveness in licensing requirements of new drugs: the fourth hurdle. Br Med J 2004;329:972-975.
- 401. Van Den Brink M, Van Den Hout WB, Stiggelbout AM et al. Cost-utility analysis of preoperative radiotherapy in patients with rectal cancer undergoing total mesorectal excision: a study of the Dutch colorectal cancer group. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:244-253.
- 402. Cancer Council NSW. Improving radiotherapy: where to from here? A roadmap for the NSW Government. Sydney: The Cancer Council NSW; 2009. Available: http://www.cancercouncil.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/Improving-Radiotherapy\_Roadmap\_May-2009.pdf.
- 403. To TH, Okera M, Prouse J, Prowse RJ, Singhal N. Infancy of an Australian geriatric oncology program-characteristics of the first 200 patients. J Geriatr Oncol 2010;1:81-86.

#### Appendix 1.1. Permission to reproduce published material\*

From:	McLean. Cherie
To:	Mikaela Jorgensen
Subject:	RE: Publication request - Information & statistics
Date:	Monday, 16 December 2013 11:16:54 AM

Hi Mikaela

Thanks for your email.

Permission has been granted under the Creative Commons Licensing which allows third parties to adapt, disseminate and transform AIHW products/information provided proper acknowledgment is given. i.e. Please refer to this page on our website for more information <u>http://www.aihw.gov.au/copyright/</u>

#### Attribution policy

The AIHW releases significant amounts of material on its website under a Creative Commons (CC) BY 3.0 licence. Under the terms of this licence, you are required to attribute the AIHW in a form specified by this policy. However, you may not attribute the AIHW in a way that would create an impression that the AIHW endorses your organisation or your work.

#### **Unmodified material**

Where you are distributing or using material 'as is' and haven't modified the material in any way, shape or form you must attribute the AIHW in the following way:

Source: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

#### **Modified material**

Where you have modified, transformed, or created derivative works based upon AIHW material (such as, for example, creating graphs or charts based upon AIHW data) you must attribute the AIHW in the following way: Based on Australian Institute of Health and Welfare material

#### Cherie McLean

Digital Communications Unit Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

My work days are Mon Tues Thurs Fri p : 02 6244 1012 | f : 02 6244 1299 | m : 0409 226 057

- p : 02 6244 1012 | f : 02 6244 1299 | m : 0409 226 057 e : <u>cherie.mclean@aihw.gov.au</u> | w : <u>www.aihw.gov.au</u>
- e. <u>cherte.inclean@ainw.gov.au</u> | w. <u>www.ainw.gov.a</u>

\*Refers to Figures 1-3

## Appendix 1.2. Definitions of survival and life expectancy

Term	Definition
Overall survival (all-cause)	Proportion of people who are alive at a given time point after cancer diagnosis or treatment, or the probability of being alive
Cancer-specific survival	Cancer survival in the absence of other causes of death, based on each person's recorded cause of death
Relative survival	Cancer survival in the absence of other causes of death, based on an adjustment using a comparable cancer-free cohort
Disease-free survival	Proportion of people who are alive and cancer free at a given time point
Progression-free survival	Proportion of people who have not experienced any new cancer growth or spread at a given time point
Life expectancy	Average remaining years of life a person can expect to live at a given age
Disability-free life expectancy	Average remaining years of life expectancy without disability*
Healthy life expectancy	Average remaining years of life expectancy in good health*

\*Definitions of "disability" and "good health" may differ

		Medline search						
MeSH headings	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Neoplasms	Х	х	х	Х				
Colorectal neoplasms					х	х	х	х
AND								
Aged <sup>b</sup> , OR		х	х	Xª		х	х	Xa
Ageing, OR		х	х	Xª		х	х	X <sup>a</sup>
Geriatrics, OR			х	Xª			х	Xa
Health services for aged, OR			х	Xa			х	X <sup>a</sup>
Geriatric assessment, OR			х	Xa			х	Xa
Geriatric nursing, OR			х	Xa			х	Xa
Geriatric psychiatry			х	Xa			х	Xa
Hits	2,556,938	605,621	608,718	8,468	147,997	50,978	51,161	423
% of cancer research	100.00	23.67	23.81	0.33	100.00	34.45	34.57	0.29

### Appendix 1.3. Proportion of literature focusing on cancer and ageing\*

\*Medline search to end of 2012

<sup>a</sup>Articles in which the subject term (or sub-branches) are considered to be the primary focus of the article <sup>b</sup>Sub-branches include "Aged, 80 and over" and "Frail elderly"

# Measurement

This chapter uses existing prospectively collected data to examine issues in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes (PROs) that may affect the treatment and care that older patients receive.

Adjuvant therapy decisions for this population involve careful consideration of the risks of treatment against potential survival benefits. These risks are increasingly being measured using PROs such as quality of life and supportive care needs. Accurate ascertainment, analysis and reporting of PROs in research is therefore required to inform patients' and clinicians' treatment decision making. Issues in the measurement of PROs may also be important considerations in monitoring the effects of treatment on older individuals.

#### This chapter is presented as the following papers:

- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Harrison JD, Solomon MJ. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Supportive Care in Cancer 2012; 20(6): 1275-81. Available: <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00520-011-1214-9</u>
- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older cancer patients and missing data in quality of life questionnaires. [Submitted]

#### CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT

#### Dear co-authors,

**RE**: Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Harrison JD, Solomon MJ. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Supportive Care in Cancer 2012; 20(6): 1275-1281.

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

#### Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the analysis, reviewed the literature, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM conceived and designed the original research protocol, analysed and interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Harrison JD designed the original research protocol, original patient recruitment and data collection, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ conceived and designed the original research protocol, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,

#### Mikaela Jorgensen

Jane M Young	10
James D Harrison	MA
Michael I Solomon	X
Michael J Solomon	
	$\bigvee$

Study 1. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age

#### 2.1.1. Abstract

PURPOSE: Cancer is primarily a disease of ageing, yet the unmet supportive care needs of older cancer patients are not well understood. This study aims to explore how unmet needs differ by age over the 3 months following colorectal cancer surgery.

METHODS: Control groups from pilot phases of an ongoing randomised trial completed the Supportive Care Needs Survey-Short Form 34 (SCNS-SF34) at one and three months following hospital discharge (n=57). Multiple regression was used to investigate whether age was an independent predictor of unmet needs in each of the five SCNS-SF34 domains. The proportion of patients with unmet needs and the pattern of item responses were compared between patients aged <65 and  $\geq$  65 years at both time points.

RESULTS: Older age independently predicted significantly lower levels of unmet need than younger age in nearly all SCNS-SF34 domains. However, more than half of all older patients had unmet needs at both time points (56% and 65%), and age differences in unmet needs were less apparent by 3 months. Older patients were less likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs, as older patients were significantly more likely to report items were 'not applicable' at both one month (mean difference 29%, p<0.001) and three months (mean difference 23%, p=0.01).

CONCLUSIONS: While older patients reported lower levels of unmet need than younger patients, the high prevalence of unmet needs and age differences in item response patterns indicate that further research is needed to determine whether older patients' needs are being accurately captured. This is an author-created version of the accepted manuscript. The final publication is available at www.springerlink.com.

#### 2.1.2. Introduction

Colorectal cancer is primarily a disease of the elderly. More than 65% of colorectal cancer cases occur in patients over 65 years of age,<sup>2</sup> and this figure is expected to rise with population ageing.<sup>29</sup> Yet little is known about how older patients cope with cancer and cancer treatment.

Supportive care includes treatment to optimise cancer patients' physical comfort and functional ability, as well as non-tumour specific treatment such as social, informational, economic, psychological and spiritual support.<sup>1,16</sup> When needs for supportive care are not met, patients' quality of life and satisfaction with care may be affected.<sup>5</sup> Vulnerable patient groups can be identified through exploring socio-demographic and clinical predictors of unmet needs. Predictors of unmet needs vary across studies, and include income, advance disease and depression.<sup>16</sup> Patients with poor health status and those lacking social support, for example, are more likely to have higher levels of unmet need.<sup>16</sup> These factors have been associated with increasing age.<sup>9,26,34</sup> However, older patients are generally reported to have lower levels of unmet need than younger patients across a range of cancer types.<sup>4,6,14,28,30-33</sup>

The cause of these conflicting findings is difficult to determine as patient age is not often the focus of unmet needs research. For example, previous studies have not explored whether older patients have lower levels of unmet need because they are more likely to have their needs 'met' than their younger counterparts. The absolute prevalence of unmet needs in older patients is also difficult to determine from previous research, as relative comparisons of levels of unmet need are typically used. While valuable, these relative comparisons may ignore the impact that any unmet needs have on patients who are older and perhaps more unwell. In addition, unmet needs are not often measured prospectively

over time.<sup>16</sup> Apparent age differences in unmet needs could be affected by the timing of assessment, as older patients tend to recover more slowly from cancer treatment.<sup>10</sup> Thus, more research is needed to provide a clearer picture of age-related differences in supportive care needs.

A greater understanding of the needs and unmet needs of older patients is also vital to ensuring that the best decisions are made for treatment and care. It has been suggested that many older people do not report their health care needs for a range of complex reasons.<sup>35</sup> This may mean that they are less likely to receive care which could improve their health outcomes, and may in turn affect physicians' decisions about suitability for adjuvant treatment such as chemotherapy.<sup>22</sup> Given the conflicting predictors of unmet needs in previous research and the unexplored issues in the unmet needs of older patients, the aims of this study were to determine (a) whether age independently predicts unmet needs over the three months following colorectal cancer surgery, and (b) whether the extent of need and unmet needs differs by age.

#### 2.1.3. Method

#### Participants

The study used existing data collected from participants in the control groups of two trials of a supportive care intervention for people with colorectal cancer, which were approved by their local area health service ethics review committees. Control groups were used so that the measurement of their needs would not be affected by the receipt of an intervention. Eligibility criteria and recruitment processes were identical for both studies. All patients aged over 18 years who were admitted to Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney for surgery for colorectal cancer between July and December 2006 (for study 1)<sup>38</sup> and between June 2007 and June 2008 (for study 2)<sup>15</sup> were assessed for eligibility. Patients were considered ineligible if they were discharged to another health facility (such as a hospice), died during admission, or were cognitively impaired such that they could not give informed consent or complete questionnaires.

#### Procedure

Prior to discharge from hospital, baseline demographic and clinical information was obtained. Several outcomes were assessed at baseline, one month and three months after discharge from hospital as part of the aforementioned supportive care intervention trials.<sup>15,38</sup> Unmet supportive care needs were measured using the Supportive Care Needs Survey- Short Form 34 (SCNS-SF34).<sup>7</sup> Responses to this survey at both one and three months formed the dataset for the present analyses.

The SCNS-SF34 is a validated self-administered questionnaire that asks patients to rate their level of need for additional support over the last month on a range of items in five needs domains.<sup>7</sup> These are psychological, health system and information, physical and daily living, patient care and support and sexuality. Patients are asked whether each item is 'not applicable' (no need), 'satisfied' (need already satisfied), 'low need', 'moderate need' or 'high need' (need for additional help). Standardised scores are calculated for each domain (possible range 0–100).<sup>23</sup> The instrument has high internal consistency and convergent validity with three other measures of psychological well-being.<sup>7</sup>

#### Data analysis

Participants were divided into 'younger' (<65 years) and 'older' (≥65 years) age groups for analysis. The age of 65 was selected to divide the sample as (1) this was the median age of the sample, and (2) this cut-off is frequently used to define older age.<sup>25</sup> Mean standardised scores in each of the five SCNS-SF34 domains at one and three months were calculated for the younger and older groups.<sup>23</sup> Demographic/clinical characteristics (e.g. education, cancer site) of both age groups were compared using t-tests and chi-square tests.

Multiple regression analyses were used to test for independent associations between demographic/clinical characteristics and (1) mean scores for all five needs domains at both one and three months, and (2) the mean differences in domain scores between one and three months, to determine independent predictors of change in unmet needs scores over time. A manual backwards elimination approach to modelling was used. Any of the demographic/clinical characteristics measured at baseline which indicated a possible relationship to domain scores (p<0.25) were included in the base models.<sup>17</sup> Plots of each demographic/clinical variable against domain scores were also examined for outliers and approximate linearity before inclusion in the models. Variables with the least effect on domain scores were dropped out of the models one at a time until all predictors were statistically significant. Age, as the variable of interest, was retained in all models. Only the results for the final models in all five needs domains at both one and three months are presented, as multiple regression was used primarily to determine independent associations between age and domain scores.

The extent of supportive care needs was measured in two ways. The proportion of patients who reported any unmet needs ('low/moderate/high need') was calculated for both time points and compared between younger and older patients using chi-square tests. The study also investigated whether older patients were more likely than younger patients to have their needs 'met' ('satisfied'). The mean differences in the proportion of 'not applicable' and 'satisfied' responses were compared between older and younger patients using independent samples t-tests at both one and three months.

#### 2.1.4. Results

Of 57 patients, 28 were younger than 65 years of age and 29 were aged 65 and over (see Table 1). Older patients were significantly less likely than the younger patients to have completed high school or tertiary education (p=0.02), be employed (p<0.001), live with others (p=0.02), receive adjuvant therapy (p=0.04) and have no comorbid conditions (p=0.05). All other characteristics were comparable between age groups.

Characteristic	Younger group, n (%)	Older group, n (%)	p level
Total participants	28 (100)	29 (100)	
Age in years (mean/SD)	50.9 (11.6)	74.3 (6.3)	<.001**
Male	14 (50)	19 (66)	.24
Born in Australia	17 (61)	18 (62)	.92
English spoken at home	23 (82)	23 (80)	.79
Completed high school or	20 (71)	9 (31)	.02*
tertiary education			
Employed full or part time	19 (68)	5 (17)	<.001**
Private health insurance	12 (43)	8 (28)	.23
Lives alone	5 (18)	14 (48)	.02*
Site of cancer			.88
Colon	13 (46)	13 (45)	
Rectosigmoid	2 (7)	4 (14)	
Rectal	13 (46)	12 (41)	
Dukes stage of cancer			.81
A	7 (25)	6 (21)	
В	9 (32)	6 (21)	
C	8 (29)	10 (34)	
D	2 (7)	3 (10)	
Non-cancerous tumour <sup>a</sup>	2 (7)	4 (14)	
Metastatic disease	3 (11)	2 (7)	.61
Received adjuvant therapy	14 (50)	7 (24)	.04*
One or more comorbid conditions	12 (43)	20 (69)	.05*

Table 1. Characteristics of participants by age group at baseline

<sup>a</sup>Pathological stage identified after randomisation, all surgically treated with curative intent; \*p≤0.05; \*\*p≤0.01

Decreasing age independently predicted unmet needs for nearly all domains at both time points (see Table 2). Older patients had significantly lower levels of unmet need in all SCNS-SF34 domains except patient care/support at one month after hospital discharge. At three months, older patients had significantly lower levels of unmet need in all SNCS-SF34 domains except patient care/support and health system/information. Unmet needs were highest in both groups in the physical and psychological domains (see Figure 1). Notably, the older group had very low scores for unmet needs in the sexuality domain. While levels of unmet need decreased over time for both age groups, the decrease in mean scores tended to be larger in the younger group. These results were not significant however.

Domain	Time <sup>ª</sup>	Model statistics	Variable	b (95% CI)	p level
Psychological	1 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.096, F <sub>1,49</sub> =6.34, p=0.02	Age	17.1 (3.5-30.7)	.02*
	3 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.19, F <sub>2,44</sub> =6.42, p=0.004 Age		22.3 (8.3-36.3)	.003**
			Private health	16.3 (1.7-30.8)	.03*
	Diff	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =-0.02, <i>F</i> <sub>1,44</sub> =0.34, p=0.57	Age		.57
Physical &	1 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.12, <i>F</i> <sub>1,50</sub> =7.64, p=0.008	Age	16.5 (4.5-28.4)	.008**
daily living	3 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.06, <i>F</i> <sub>1,45</sub> =4.11, p=0.05	Age	15.1 (0.2-29.9)	.05*
	Diff	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.15, F <sub>3,42</sub> =3.68, p=0.02	Age		.12
			Cancer stage	13.8 (1.9-25.8)	.03*
			<i>n</i> in household	14.9 (0.7-29.2)	.04*
Sexuality	1 m	R <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.30, F <sub>4,44</sub> =6.20, p<0.001	Age	17.6 (4.4-30.7)	.01**
			Gender	18.0 (5.1-31.0)	.008**
			Comorbidity	17.5(1.5-33.6)	.03*
			Cancer site	13.8 (0.0-27.5)	.05*
	3 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.42, F <sub>4,41</sub> =9.05, p<0.001	Age	15.8 (4.4-27.2)	.05*
			Gender	19.2 (8.2-30.1)	.001**
			Comorbidity	18.0 (4.1-31.9)	.01**
			Cancer site	13.2 (1.6-24.8)	.03*
	Diff	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.12, F <sub>2,40</sub> =3.78, p=0.03	Age		.60
			Metastases	22.6 (5.7-39.6)	.01**
Health system & information	1 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.22, F <sub>3,47</sub> =5.75, p=0.002	Age	11.0 (1.0-20.9)	.03*
			Metastases	20.1 (3.1-27.1)	.02*
			Language	12.9 (0.2-25.6)	.05*
	3 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.01, F <sub>1,44</sub> =1.47, p=0.23	Age		.23
	Diff	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.15, F <sub>2,42</sub> =4.93, p=0.01	Age		.11
			Gender	12.8 (2.9-22.8)	.01**
Patient care	1 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.04, F <sub>1,49</sub> =3.02, p=0.09	Age		.09
& support	3 m	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> <0.001, F <sub>1,44</sub> =1.01, p=0.32	Age		.32
	Diff	<i>R</i> <sup>2</sup> <sub>adj</sub> =0.05, F <sub>1,43</sub> =3.11, p=0.09	Age		.09

Table 2. Multiple regression results for age and other independent predictors

<sup>a</sup>1 m = 1 month, 3 m = 3 months, diff = difference (3 months – 1 month); \*p $\leq$ 0.05; \*\*p $\leq$ 0.01



Figure 1. Levels of unmet need by domain and age group\*

\*Higher scores indicate higher levels of unmet need

A number of other factors also independently predicted unmet needs. For example, gender, comorbidity and type of cancer predicted unmet needs in the sexuality domain at both one and three months (model p<0.001). Other predictors of domain scores included language, stage of disease, private health insurance and living alone (see Table 2).

A significantly greater proportion of younger patients than older patients had unmet needs at one month (89% vs 56%;  $\chi^2$ =7.137, p=0.008). However this difference was no longer significant at three months (79% vs 65%;  $\chi^2$ =1.142, p=0.29). The pattern of item responses was also calculated (see Figure 2). Older participants reported items were 'not applicable' (no need) significantly more often than younger participants. This occurred both at one month (54% vs 25%, p<0.001, 95% Cl 14.4–43.5) and three months (67% vs 44%, p=0.01, 95% Cl 5.1–41.0). Consequently, older patients were significantly less likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs at one month (29% vs 42%, p=0.04, 95% Cl 0.9–24.4). At three months they were only as likely as younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs (19% vs 23%, p=0.52, 95% Cl 8.1–15.9).



Figure 2. Percentage of answers in each response category by age group

#### 2.1.5. Discussion

In this study, age was the most frequent independent predictor of unmet needs. Older patients reported significantly lower levels of unmet need compared to younger patients in nearly all SCNS-SF34 domains at both one and three months after surgery for colorectal cancer. However, a considerable proportion of older patients had unmet needs, and age differences in unmet needs were less apparent by three months. Older patients were also less likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs, as they were significantly more likely to report that items were 'not applicable' (no need).

Many other studies have similarly reported that older patients have significantly lower levels of unmet need compared to younger patients, across a range of cancer types.<sup>4,6,14,28,30-33</sup> Yet the absolute prevalence of unmet needs in older cancer patients is unclear. In this current study, more than half of all older patients still had some unmet needs at both one and three months after hospital discharge. While younger patients may express greater unmet needs, it is possible that older patients have less capacity to cope with any level of unmet needs due to poorer general health and lower levels of social support.<sup>26</sup> In addition, the unmet needs scores of older patients did not decrease as much as younger patients over time, and the proportion of older patients with unmet needs actually increased from one to three months. This suggests that their unmet needs are potentially more persistent and harder to address. The impact of unmet needs on older patients therefore requires further exploration.

This study was unique in comparing the extent of 'met' and 'unmet' need by age. One priority of needs assessment is to determine whether existing healthcare resources are meeting the needs of a given population.<sup>36</sup> There is widespread recognition that older cancer patients are a vulnerable group requiring special evaluation throughout treatment.<sup>27</sup> Without reporting the extent of 'met' needs, it may therefore be assumed that the low unmet needs of older patients are due to high levels of 'met' need. However in this study, older patients were less likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs. Instead, older patients were significantly more likely than younger patients to report that items were 'not applicable' (no need). Other results from this study suggest that the large proportion of 'not applicable' responses may not truly reflect an absence of need in the older cohort. Older patients had significantly higher levels of comorbidity and were more likely to live alone. These are two factors which have consistently been identified as putting older patients at risk of increased need for assessment and care.<sup>11</sup> Contradictory predictors of unmet needs may therefore indicate that older patients are less likely than younger patients to express their needs for help.

Stoic attitudes of older patients have been found to account for age-related differences in the reporting of chronic pain, for example.<sup>37</sup> Other traditionally taboo issues such as psychological or sexuality needs may be underreported because of cohort attitudes. In this study decreasing age had the strongest association with unmet needs in the psychological domain at three months, and second strongest at one month. Similar findings for psychological unmet needs were reported by Smith and colleagues.<sup>30</sup> Issues around age

differences in the reporting of sexuality have been discussed in quality of life research<sup>12</sup> and could account for the very low mean score for older patients in this domain. Sanson-Fisher and colleagues commented that older patients may keep their needs private in the belief that they should be able to cope.<sup>28</sup> Older patients may also underreport needs as they are worried about being a burden to the cancer team or their family,<sup>24</sup> worried that they will lose their independence if they report problems,<sup>21</sup> or may minimise their problems in order not to fulfil negative stereotypes about age.<sup>35</sup> Qualitative research examining the attitudes of older patients towards the expression of unmet needs is warranted.

Studies focusing on the needs of older patients are scarce, <sup>18</sup> despite increasing commentary on the unique and complex management of older cancer patients. Age differences in unmet needs and the high proportion of 'not applicable' responses imply that older patients have a different needs profile to younger patients. Age-specific instruments have been suggested in quality of life research, <sup>13,19</sup> both to capture additional information about older patients and to overcome identified measurement issues. Some quality of life instruments, for example, have demonstrated a heavy response burden and increased requirement for interview administration with advancing age.<sup>8</sup> Older patients, who are particularly vulnerable to the effects of poor health literacy, <sup>3</sup> may also have difficulty distinguishing between level of need when completing unmet needs assessments.<sup>20</sup> Developing age-specific unmet needs instruments may ensure that older patients' needs are accurately identified and measured.

This was a small study, and the results should be interpreted with caution. For example, unmet needs were only explored at one and three months after hospital discharge. A recent systematic review of cancer patients' unmet supportive care needs identified that predictors of unmet needs, including age, were highly variable in all domains at all time points.<sup>16</sup> In this current study, levels of unmet need similarly depended not only on age, but also the timing of assessment from discharge and other demographic and clinical predictors. Predictors of unmet needs also did not explain much of the variability in some

of the unmet needs domains. These results suggest that needs should be monitored throughout each individual patient's journey and interventions tailored accordingly. In addition, more insight is needed to determine whether older patients' low unmet needs scores genuinely reflect low levels of need or a reluctance to disclose needs. Without more information to determine how age-related factors affect outcomes and their measurement, decisions about treatment and care for this growing population will continue to be problematic.

#### Acknowledgments

Thank you to all participants who took part in this research study. Mikaela Jorgensen was funded through a postgraduate scholarship from the Cancer Institute NSW.

#### 2.1.6. References

- Ahmed N, Ahmedzai S, Vora V, Hillam S, Paz S (2004) Supportive care for patients with gastrointestinal cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 3:CD003445.
- AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) (2010) ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books. http://www.aihw.gov.au/cancer/data/acim\_books/index.cfm. Accessed 21 Feb 2011.
- Amalraj S, Starkweather C, Nguyen C, Naeim A (2009) Health literacy, communication, and treatment decision-making in older cancer patients. Oncology 23:369–375.
- Armes J, Crowe M, Colbourne L, Morgan H, Murrells T, Oakley C, Palmer N, Ream E, Young A, Richardson A (2009) Patients' supportive care needs beyond the end of cancer treatment: a prospective, longitudinal survey. J Clin Oncol 27:6172–6179.
- Asadi-Lari M, Tamburini M, Gray D (2004) Patients' needs, satisfaction, and health related quality of life: towards a comprehensive model. Health Qual Life Outcome 2:32.

- Barg FK, Cronholm PF, Straton JB, Keddem S, Knott K, Grater J, Houts P, Palmer SC (2007) Unmet psychosocial needs of Pennsylvanians with cancer: 1986–2005. Cancer 110:631–639.
- Boyes A, Girgis A, Lecathelinais C (2009) Brief assessment of adult cancer patients' perceived needs: development and validation of the 34-item supportive care needs survey (SCNS-SF34). J Eval Clin Pract 15:602–606.
- Brazier JE, Walters SJ, Nicholl JP, Kohler B (1996) Using the SF- 36 and EuroQol on an elderly population. Qual Life Res 5:195–204.
- De Marco MF, Janssen-Heijnen ML, van der Heijden LH, Coebergh JW (2000)
  Comorbidity and colorectal cancer according to subsite and stage: a populationbased study. Eur J Cancer 36:95–99.
- Devon K, Vergara-Fernandez O, Victor J, McLeod R (2009) Colorectal cancer surgery in elderly patients: presentation, treatment, and outcomes. Dis Colon Rectum 52:1272–1277.
- Extermann M, Aapro M, Bernabei R, Cohen HJ, Droz J-P, Lichtman S, Mor V, Monfardini S, Repetto L, Sorbye L, Topinkova E (2005) Use of comprehensive geriatric assessment in older cancer patients: recommendations from the task force on CGA of the International Society of Geriatric Oncology (SIOG). Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 55:241–252.
- Fayers PM, Curran D, Machin D (1998) Incomplete quality of life data in randomized trials: missing items. Stat Med 17:679–696.
- Fitzsimmons D, Gilbert J, Howse F, Young T, Arrarras J-I, Brédart A, Hawker S, George S, Aapro M, Johnson CD (2009) A systematic review of the use and validation of health-related quality of life instruments in older cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 45:19–32.

- Girgis A, Boyes A, Sanson-Fisher RW, Burrows S (2000) Perceived needs of women diagnosed with breast cancer: rural versus urban location. Aust N Z J Public Health 24:166–173.
- Harrison JD, Young JM, Solomon MJ, Butow PN, Masya L (2011) Randomised pilot evaluation of the supportive care intervention "CONNECT" for people following surgery for colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 54:622–631.
- Harrison JD, Young JM, Price MA, Butow PN, Solomon MJ (2009) What are the unmet supportive care needs of people with cancer? A systematic review. Support Care Cancer 17:1117–1128.
- 17. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S (2000) Applied logistic regression. Wiley, New York.
- Jansen J, van Weert J, van Dulmen S, Heeren T, Bensing J (2007) Patient education about treatment in cancer care: an overview of the literature on older patients' needs. Cancer Nurs 30:251–260.
- Johnson C, Fitzsimmons D, Gilbert J, Arrarras J-I, Hammerlid E, Bredart A, Ozmen M et al (2010) Development of the European Organisation for research and treatment of cancer quality of life questionnaire module for older people with cancer: the EORTC QLQ-ELD15. Eur J Cancer 46:2242–2252.
- 20. King M, Colagiuri B, Butow P, Luckett T, Price M, Birney DP (2010) Health-related quality of life versus needs assessment: do conceptual distinctions translate empirically? Paper presented at the Sydney Cancer Conference, University of Sydney, Australia, 15–17 July.
- 21. Lansbury G (2000) Chronic pain management: a qualitative study of elderly people's preferred coping strategies and barriers to management. Disabil Rehabil 22:2–14.
- Lichtman SM (2009) Chemotherapy in the elderly: are their needs being met? Therapy 6:893–902.

- McElduff P, Boyes A, Zucca A, Girgis A (2004) The supportive care needs survey: a guide to administration, scoring and analysis. Centre for Health Research and Psycho-Oncology, Newcastle.
- 24. McPherson CJ, Wilson KG, Murray MA (2007) Feeling like a burden: exploring the perspectives of patients at the end of life. Soc Sci Med 64:417–427.
- Orimo H, Ito H, Suzuki T, Araki A, Hosoi T, Sawabe M (2006) Reviewing the definition of "elderly". Geriatr Gerontol Int 6:149–158.
- Pal SK, Katheria V, Hurria A (2010) Evaluating the older patient with cancer:
  understanding frailty and the geriatric assessment. CA Cancer J Clin 60:120–132.
- Sanoff HK, Bleiberg H, Goldberg RM (2007) Managing older patients with colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:1891–1897.
- Sanson-Fisher R, Girgis A, Boyes A, Bonevski B, Burton L, Cook P (2000) The unmet supportive care needs of patients with cancer. Cancer 88:226–237.
- Smith BD, Smith GL, Hurria A, Hortobagyi GN, Buchholz TA (2009) Future of cancer incidence in the United States: burdens upon an aging, changing nation. J Clin Oncol 27:2758–2765.
- Smith DP, Supramaniam R, King MT, Ward J, Berry M, Armstrong BK (2007) Age, health, and education determine supportive care needs of men younger than 70 years with prostate cancer. J Clin Oncol 25:2560–2566.
- Soothill K, Morris SM, Harman J, Francis B, Thomas C, McIllmurray MB (2001) The significant unmet needs of cancer patients: probing psychosocial concerns. Support Care Cancer 9:597–605.
- 32. Steginga SK, Occhipinti S, Dunn J, Gardiner RA, Heathcote P, Yaxley J (2001) The supportive care needs of men with prostate cancer. Psychooncology 10:66–75.
- 33. Thewes B, Butow P, Girgis A, Pendlebury S (2004) The psychosocial needs of breast cancer survivors; a qualitative study of the shared and unique needs of younger versus older survivors. Psychooncology 13:177–189.
- Victor C, Scambler S, Bond J, Bowling A (2000) Being alone in later life: loneliness social isolation and living alone. Rev Clin Gerontol 10:407–417.
- 35. Walters K, Iliffe S, Orrell M (2001) An exploration of helpseeking behaviour in older people with unmet needs. Fam Pract 18:277–282.
- Wright J, Williams R, Wilkinson JR (1998) Development and importance of health needs assessment. Br Med J 316:1310–1313.
- 37. Yong HH (2006) Can attitudes of stoicism and cautiousness explain observed agerelated variation in levels of self-rated pain, mood disturbance and functional interference in chronic pain patients? Eur J Pain 10:399–407.
- Young J, Harrison J, Solomon M, Butow P, Dennis R, Robson D, Auld S (2010)
   Development and feasibility assessment of telephone-delivered supportive care to improve outcomes for patients with colorectal cancer: pilot study of the connect intervention. Support Care Cancer 18:461–470.

## Appendix 2.1.1. Permission to reproduce published material

From:	Walsh, Laura. Springer US
To:	Mikaela Jorgensen
Subject:	RE: Permission to use author-created version of published article in thesis
Date:	Friday, 30 August 2013 10:56:23 PM

#### Dear Mikaela,

This is correct as you state below. You can use your final, submitted version of the manuscript for posting with acknowledgement.

Thank you for your contribution to SCC.

Kind regards, Laura

Laura A. Walsh Sr. Editor Springer Science + Business Media, LLC Editorial - Clinical Medicine ---233 Spring Street |New York |New York 10013 tel: 1-781-244-7919

From: Mikaela Jorgensen [mailto:mikaela.jorgensen@sydney.edu.au]
Sent: Friday, August 30, 2013 12:05 AM
To: Walsh, Laura, Springer US
Subject: Permission to use author-created version of published article in thesis

Dear Ms Walsh,

I am completing a PhD degree at the University of Sydney. I wish to make my research thesis available for public access online via the University's digital archive (<u>http://escholarship.usyd.edu.au/</u>).

My thesis includes the following work published in 2012 in the journal Supportive Care in Cancer: <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00520-011-1214-9</u>

I would like to confirm that per the Springer copyright transfer agreement, the publisher's PDF version could not be used, but an author-created version version of the accepted manuscript may be used, provided an acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication and a link inserted to the published article on Springer's website.

Please advise whether these this is accurate.

Thank you for your help, Mikaela.

MIKAELA JORGENSEN | Research Officer & PhD Candidate Cancer Epidemiology and Services Research | Sydney School of Public Health

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Room 204, Queen Elizabeth II Research Institute (D02) | The University of Sydney | NSW | 2006 T +61 2 9036 5419 | E mikaela.jorgensen@sydney.edu.au | W <u>CESR website</u>

#### CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT

#### Dear co-authors,

**RE:** Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older cancer patients and missing data in quality of life questionnaires.

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

#### Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the analysis, reviewed the literature, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM conceived and designed the original research protocol, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ conceived and designed the original research protocol, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,

Mikaela Jorgensen



Study 2. Older cancer patients and missing data in quality of life questionnaires

## 2.2.1. Abstract

BACKGROUND: For older adults with cancer, treatment decision making often involves careful consideration of the predicted impact of treatment on quality of life (QOL). However, issues may exist in the measurement and management of QOL data in cancer research. This study aimed to determine whether increasing age was associated with item non-response in the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Colorectal (FACT-C) and whether methods commonly used to manage missing data produced unbiased QOL estimates.

METHODS: Control groups from pilot phases of a randomised trial completed the FACT-C at baseline, one and three months following hospital discharge (n=57). Extent of item non-response was examined and mean patient age compared between responders and non-responders. A checklist was applied to determine whether the suggested simple mean imputation method should be used for the missing items. Complete case and multiple imputation methods were also compared.

RESULTS: Missing data was greatest at one month after discharge. Non-responders were significantly older than responders for the items "sex life", "diarrhoea", and "body appearance". Older age was also associated with greater levels of missing data overall. QOL in the social/family domain was overestimated when simple mean imputation was used for the "sex life" item.

CONCLUSIONS: Older age is a risk factor for item non-response in the FACT-C, and a commonly used imputation method may overestimate QOL. Exploring reasons for missing items, checking of missing data patterns and imputation methods, and transparency of reporting in patient-reported outcomes research is required to ensure the QOL of older patients is accurately represented.

## 2.2.2. Introduction

Missing data are inconvenient yet inevitable in most patient-reported outcomes research. The amount and reasons for missing data need to be determined for results to be appropriately analysed and interpreted. Loss of data through missing or incomplete questionnaires can reduce power to detect change over time or differences between groups. False conclusions may be drawn if there is a systematic difference between responders and non-responders and missing data are not handled adequately. However many studies reporting patient health-related quality of life (QOL) outcomes do not provide any details about missing data.<sup>1-3</sup> Without transparency of reporting, the reader cannot determine whether authors' conclusions are valid.

Colorectal cancer is primarily a disease of older age, with more than half of all cases occurring in those over 65 years.<sup>4</sup> Accurate measurement and reporting of QOL is particularly important for this growing patient group, as treatment decisions often involve a delicate balance between extension of life and the predicted impact of treatment on QOL.<sup>5,6</sup> However, older adults appear to be at risk of inadequate and inaccurate measurement of QOL. Older patients are often excluded from clinical trials due to comorbidities or functional status limitations.<sup>7</sup> These premorbid health conditions and a higher risk of postoperative morbidity<sup>8</sup> may contribute to missing or incomplete questionnaires when older patients are actually included in research.<sup>9</sup> While increasing age has previously been reported to be associated with item non-response in a number of QOL instruments,<sup>10-14</sup> it is not often explored whether this missingness matters – that is, whether non-response is associated with QOL or whether it can be managed adequately using the methods suggested by the QOL instrument developers. Further exploration of these potential biases is needed to ensure that patient-reported outcomes such as QOL are utilized in clinical decision making<sup>2</sup> and that the QOL of older adults undergoing cancer treatment is being accurately represented.

General guidelines do exist for the management of missing data in QOL research. Simple mean imputation is typically recommended when there are less than 5% missing data and multiple imputation when this figure is larger.<sup>15</sup> The use of simple mean imputation when >50% of items in a subscale and >80% of all items are completed has been suggested for the commonly used Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT) instrument.<sup>10,16</sup> A syntax package that accompanies the colorectal version of this questionnaire is based on these calculations.<sup>17</sup> While unquestionably useful, such recommendations may dissuade researchers from assessing their particular data for patterns of missingness and bias. Cheung and colleagues (2006) investigated the use of the simple mean imputation procedure for the FACT-General in a culturally-diverse Singaporean population.<sup>18</sup> Our study focused on another potentially vulnerable group – older colorectal cancer patients – and aimed to determine 1) the extent of missing data, 2) whether age was a significant predictor of item non-response, and 3) whether methods commonly used to manage missing data produce unbiased estimates in the FACT-Colorectal quality of life instrument.

#### 2.2.3. Method

## Participants

Data from control group participants of two trials of a supportive care intervention for people with colorectal cancer were used for the analysis.<sup>19,20</sup> Control groups were used as their questionnaire completion would not be affected by the receipt of intervention. Both trials used identical eligibility criteria and recruitment processes, and participant characteristics (as listed in Table 1) did not significantly differ between the studies. All eligible patients who received surgery for colorectal cancer at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Sydney were invited to participate. Those who were under 18 years, had cognitive impairment, died during admission, or were discharged to another health facility (such as a hospice) were considered ineligible. All participants gave informed consent to be included in the trials and approval was received from their local area health services ethics review committees.

#### Questionnaire

Baseline demographic and clinical information was obtained prior to discharge from hospital. As part of a comprehensive assessment of needs and QOL, participants selfcompleted the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – Colorectal (FACT-C) at baseline and at one and three months after discharge from hospital.

The FACT-C is a self-report quality of life questionnaire designed for use with colorectal cancer patients.<sup>21</sup> It consists of 27 core items which assess patient concerns in four domains: physical, social/family, emotional, and functional well-being. An additional 12 items address site specific concerns related to colorectal cancer. Each item is rated on a 0 to 4 Likert type scale. Item responses are combined to produce subscale scores for each domain, and then summed to produce a total score. Higher scores reflect better QOL.

If missing items are present, it is suggested that subscale scores be estimated from the mean of the items that have been completed (simple mean imputation). This method is recommended only when more than 50% of the items in a subscale are answered. Calculating total FACT scores from subscale scores is considered appropriate as long as the overall item response rate is greater than 80%.<sup>16</sup> Prorated subscale scores and total scores can be performed automatically using the FACT-C scoring program for SPSS or SAS.<sup>17</sup>

## Data analysis

## Extent of missing data

Rates of non-response for each FACT-C item were tabulated. The percentage of participants who had none, one, two, or three or more FACT-C items missing at each time point were also calculated. Data from participants who were lost to follow up were excluded from each time point analysis.

#### Association with age

To determine whether age was associated with missing data, the mean age of responders was compared to non-responders for items with greater than 5% missing data at baseline, one month and three months using t-tests. Similarly, t-tests were used to compare the mean age of participants with few missing items overall (none or one item) to those with more missing data (two or more items).

#### Assessment of simple mean imputation

The checklist proposed by Fayers and colleagues<sup>11</sup> was then applied to establish whether the suggested simple mean imputation method would be appropriate for the data:

- (i) Patients with missing items should be similar to other patients. Part (i) was addressed by examining the association between missing items and patient age (as above). The overall QOL (mean total FACT-C score) was also compared between responders and non-responders for these missing items, and between those with few or more missing items overall.
- (ii) Items with missing data should not behave differently from other items in their subscale (domain) or be correlated with external factors. For part (ii), the two missing items most strongly associated with age were used as examples of how to apply the checklist:
  - a) *Items comprising the scale should all have similar mean values*. The mean value of the item with missing data was compared to the mean value of the other subscale items.
  - b) *The scale should not be ordered or hierarchical.* That is, where an item builds on a previous item e.g. "I can walk 5 metres"; "I can walk 10 metres".

- c) *Items within a scale should be strongly correlated.* A correlation matrix was used to determine the level of correlation between the item with missing data and other items in the subscale.
- d) *Items should have similar between-patient standard deviations*. Standard deviations of the missing data item and other subscale items were compared.
- e) Items should not be strongly correlated with external or baseline variables.
   Correlations between mean item scores and external factors (e.g. living arrangements, presence of an ostomy appliance) were examined.

#### Comparison with other methods

A complete case analysis was then used to determine the size and direction of any bias resulting from the use of the simple mean imputation method. For the two example items, answers to that item were removed from the data of complete cases then the domain scores were estimated using simple mean imputation. The resulting imputed mean domain score was then compared to the real mean domain score for the complete cases.

Multiple imputation was also performed on the data of all participants for all of the domains where items were significantly associated with age, using the PROC MI command in SAS. Each missing value was replaced by five simulated values to reflect the uncertainty about imputed values.<sup>22</sup> Multiple imputation also assumes that missingness is not completely random but depends on observed data (e.g. age). Thus, other items in the domain and participant characteristics listed in Table 1 were included in the imputation model. The mean domain scores for all participants produced by simple mean imputation and multiple imputation were compared.

## 2.2.4. Results

The characteristics of the 57 participants are presented in Table 1. The mean age of participants was 63 years (median 65 years; range 27 to 86 years). 5 (9%) of the 57 participants were lost to follow up by one month and a further 5 participants by three months. Of these 10 participants lost during the course of the study, 8 no longer wanted to participate and 2 were too sick to continue. Age and QOL in the previous assessment was not significantly associated with loss to follow up at either time point.

Characteristic	n (%)
Total participants	57 (100)
Mean age in years (SD)	63 (15)
Male	33 (58)
Born in Australia	35 (61)
English spoken at home	46 (81)
High school or tertiary education	29 (51)
Employed full or part time	24 (42)
Private health insurance	20 (35)
Lives alone	19 (33)
Site of cancer	
Colon	26 (46)
Rectosigmoid	6 (11)
Rectal	25 (44)
Dukes stage of cancer	
А	13 (23)
В	15 (26)
с	18 (32)
D	5 (9)
Non-cancerous tumour <sup>a</sup>	4 (7)
Received adjuvant therapy	21 (37)
One or more comorbid conditions	32 (56)

 Table 1. Characteristics of participants at baseline

<sup>a</sup>Pathological stage identified after surgery and randomisation;

all patients surgically treated with curative intent

## Extent of missing data

Seven questionnaire items had a non-response rate of over 5% at either baseline, one month or three months after hospital discharge (see Table 2). These appeared to be the more sensitive or potentially "not applicable" items. The most commonly missed item was "I am satisfied with my sex life" (54% at one month), followed by "I feel close to my partner (or main support)", "I like the appearance of my body", "I have diarrhoea", "I have control of my bowels", "My work (including work at home) is fulfilling" and "I am losing weight". For the "sex life" question, participants have the option to check a box if they prefer not to answer. At one month, 75% who did not answer the question checked this box (n=21).

	Missing data			
FACT-C item	Baseline, n (%)	One month, n (%)	Three months, n (%)	
I am satisfied with my sex life	29 (51)	28 (54)	24 (51)	
I feel close to my partner (or main support)	3 (5)	11 (21)	6 (13)	
I like the appearance of my body	5 (9)	7 (13)		
l have diarrhoea	3 (5)	6 (12)	3 (6)	
I have control of my bowels	3 (5)	6 (12)		
My work (including work at home) is fulfilling	4 (7)	3 (6)		
I am losing weight		4 (8)		

Table 2. FACT-C items with a non-response rate of over 5% at each time point

Most participants had none or only one item missing from their questionnaires. At baseline, 39% of participants had complete data, 33% had one item missing, 13% had two items missing and the remaining 13% had three or more items missing. A similar distribution of missing data was seen at one and three months after discharge (see Figure 1), though there was a greater proportion of patients with three or more items missing at one month (21%).

Figure 1. Percentage of participants with FACT-C items missing at each time point



## Association with age

Non-responders were significantly older than responders for the items "I am satisfied with my sex life" (one and three months), "I like the appearance of my body" (baseline), and "I have diarrhoea" (baseline and three months) (see Table 3). Increasing age was also associated with greater levels of missing data overall. Those missing two or more items tended to be older than those with none or one item missing, although this was only significant at one month (mean age 69 vs 59 years, p=0.01).

Time point	FACT-C item	% missed item	Mean age (SD) completed item	Mean age (SD) missed item	Test result
Baseline	Diarrhoea	5	62 (15)	80 (6)	t <sub>55</sub> =2.06, p=0.04
	Appearance of body	9	62 (15)	75 (5)	t <sub>55</sub> =2.02, p=0.05
1 month	Sex life	54	57 (13)	67 (14)	t <sub>50</sub> =2.71, p=0.009
3 months	Sex life	51	58 (13)	66 (15)	t <sub>45</sub> =2.04, p=0.05
	Diarrhoea	6	61 (15)	81 (5)	t <sub>45</sub> =2.33, p=0.02

Table 3. Significant associations between age and item non-response at each time point

#### Assessment of simple mean imputation

The results of the Fayers and colleagues checklist<sup>11</sup> for determining whether simple mean imputation would be appropriate for the data were as follows:

- (i) Patients with missing items should be similar to other patients. While patients with the missing items listed above were older than responders, the overall QOL of responders and non-responders only differed significantly for one of these items. At baseline, those who missed the "body appearance" item had a significantly lower overall QOL than those who responded (mean FACT-C score 66 vs 92, p=0.02). People with more missing items overall only tended to have poorer QOL than those with none or one item missing at baseline (mean FACT-C score 80 vs 92, p=0.09).
- (ii) Items with missing data should not behave differently from other items in their subscale (domain) or be correlated with external factors. "I am satisfied with my sex life" (one month) and "I have diarrhoea" (three months) were the two missing items most strongly associated with age and were used as examples for applying part (ii) of the checklist:
  - a) Items comprising the scale should all have similar mean values. The "sex life" item had a lower mean value than other items in the social/family domain (1.3 vs >3.1). The "diarrhoea" item from the colorectal specific domain had a similar mean score to other domain items (1.7 vs 1.3-2.8).
  - b) *The scale should not be ordered or hierarchical*. Items in the social/family or colorectal specific domain did not build on other items in their domain.
  - c) Items within a scale should be strongly correlated. "Sex life" did not correlate significantly with any other items in the domain. "Diarrhoea" was significantly correlated with three other items in its domain ("swelling or cramps" p<0.01, "losing weight" p<0.01, "appetite" p<0.05).</p>

- d) Items should have similar between-patient standard deviations. The standard deviation of the "sex life" item was greater than other domain items (1.4 vs <1.0).</li>
   For the "diarrhoea" item, the standard deviation was similar to other domain items (1.6 vs 1.1-1.7).
- e) Items should not be strongly correlated with external or baseline variables. "Sex life" scores were hypothesised to be associated with participants' living arrangements. Indeed they were, with participants who lived alone having a significantly higher score (mean 3.0) than those who lived with others (mean 1.1) (p=0.03). Any imputation method should therefore allow for this factor. Scores for the "diarrhoea" item were not associated with presence of an ostomy appliance (p=0.42) or any other tested factor (age, gender, language, stage).

Based on the checklist, it appears that using simple mean imputation method for the "sex life" item could lead to biased results.

## Comparison with other methods

The complete case analysis showed that the size and direction of bias resulting from simple mean imputation for the "sex life" item in our dataset was a 2 point overestimate of QOL (see Table 4). The imputed mean social/family domain score (23.6) was significantly higher than the real mean domain score (21.6) for the complete cases (p<0.001). This difference is greater than the minimally clinically important difference for this domain.<sup>23,24</sup> When the same procedure was applied to the "diarrhoea" item, the imputed and real mean colorectal specific domain scores for complete cases were statistically similar (14.4 vs 14.1, p=0.17).

Simple mean imputation also produced a higher mean score than multiple imputation when the data of all participants were used to calculate one month social/family domain scores (22.6 vs 21.7, p=0.002). While only a one point difference, this multiple imputation score was closer to the real mean of the complete cases (21.6). The mean social/family domain score at three months was also overestimated by simple mean imputation compared to multiple imputation (22.2 vs 21.4, p=0.008). For the colorectal specific domain where items were also significantly associated with age, both imputation methods produced similar domain scores at baseline (p=0.98) and at three months (see Table 4).

	Complete cases			Non-complete cases		All participants			
FACT-C item (domain)	n	Mean (SD) score real	Mean (SD) score Sl <sup>a</sup>	p	n	Mean (SD) score SI <sup>a</sup>	Mean (SD) score Sl <sup>a</sup>	Mean (SD) score MI <sup>b</sup>	р
Sex life (social)	21	21.6 (3.8)	23.6 (4.4)	<.001	28	23.3 (5.2)	22.6 (4.7)	21.7 (4.5)	.002
Diarrhoea (colorectal)	42	14.1 (5.2)	14.4 (5.2)	.17	4	20.0 (4.2)	14.6 (5.4)	14.6 (5.3)	.97

Table 4. Two examples comparing imputation methods for mean domain scores

<sup>a</sup>SI = simple mean imputation; <sup>b</sup>MI = multiple imputation

## 2.2.5. Discussion

In this study, non-responders were significantly older than responders for the FACT-C items "sex life", "diarrhoea", and "body appearance". Older age was also associated with greater levels of missing data overall. Sensitive or potentially "not applicable" items were most commonly missed by all participants, and the greatest amount of missing data occurred at one month after discharge from hospital. QOL in the social/family domain was significantly overestimated when simple mean imputation was used for the "sex life" item.

Increasing age appears to be a considerable risk factor for item non-response in QOL questionnaires. In our study, those missing two or more FACT-C items were significantly older than those with none or one item missing at one month after discharge. Similar findings have been noted in other reports.<sup>10,12-14</sup> The types of items that older patients omit also appear to be comparable across QOL instruments. For example, questions about symptoms ("acid indigestion") and the body ("self conscious when nude") were less likely to be responded to by older patients in studies using the EORTC QLQ-C30.<sup>11</sup> These items are similar to the "diarrhoea" and "body appearance" FACT-C items in our study. While these associations between age and missingness should be noted, exploring whether estimates of QOL are affected is of greater importance.

The major concern with missing data is that QOL will be overestimated due to poorer QOL of non-responders.<sup>25</sup> While older cancer patients would appear to be at risk for poorer QOL than younger patients due to greater morbidity, the opposite is generally reported in the literature.<sup>26-29</sup> However, it is difficult to determine whether the QOL of older patients is being accurately represented, as many studies exclude patients with missing data or do not disclose analysis methods.<sup>30</sup> In our study, those missing two or more items tended to have poorer overall QOL at baseline, and overall QOL was poorer for non-responders to the "body appearance" item. This means that QOL could be overestimated if these (predominantly older) people are excluded from analysis. QOL may be further overestimated as a result of the tendency for older adults to minimize their problems due to stoic attitudes<sup>31</sup> or worries about being a burden.<sup>32</sup> For example, older colorectal cancer patients are significantly more likely than their younger counterparts to report that their needs are "not applicable".<sup>33</sup> Without accurate information about their needs and QOL, older patients may be less likely to receive care which would enable them to better cope with their cancer and cancer treatment.

Efficace and colleagues (2007) suggest that poor methodological rigour in QOL reporting could contribute to the underutilization of this research in clinical decision making.<sup>2</sup> This may help to explain why there is considerable variation between physicians in chemotherapy recommendations for otherwise healthy older colorectal cancer patients,<sup>34</sup> despite reports that QOL is not significantly impacted.<sup>35</sup> While the quality of QOL reporting has improved over time,<sup>2</sup> missing data was addressed in less than a third of randomized controlled trials with QOL outcomes from 2002-2008<sup>1</sup> and non-response is not mentioned in a validation study of the FACT-G for older patients with cancer.<sup>36</sup> In our study of the 39 item FACT-C, the majority of participants had none or only one or two items missing (85%). This is similar to the findings of Fairclough and colleagues (1996) for the 28 item FACT-G, where 90% of participants answered all or missed only one item.<sup>10</sup> This amount of non-response may not impact on a large study's power to detect differences, but can be a problem for small pilot studies if missing data are not managed.

Sexuality items appear to cause the most difficulty in QOL assessment. Considerable nonresponse rates to such items have been noted in studies using the Rotterdam Symptom Checklist<sup>11</sup> and on the FACT-G in a Singaporean population.<sup>18</sup> More than half of participants did not respond to the "sex life" question at all time points in our study. A psychometric analysis of the Spanish version of the FACT-G revealed that the "sex life" question did not fit well with other items.<sup>37</sup> In our study, the "sex life" item had a lower mean score, greater standard deviation and low correlation with other items in the social/family domain. Simple mean imputation may therefore result in biased estimates as the average of other items in the domain is used to estimate the subscale score.<sup>11</sup> The complete cases analysis showed that the size and direction of the bias from simple mean imputation in the social/family domain was a 2 point overestimate of mean QOL, which is greater than the reported minimally clinically important difference for this domain.<sup>23,24</sup> Simple mean imputation also produced a higher estimate than multiple imputation for the mean social/family domain score of all participants. This means that the QOL of older patients, who are less likely to complete the "sex life" item, may be overestimated in this domain if the suggested simple mean imputation method is used.

Exclusion of the "sex life" item when calculating domain scores has been suggested.<sup>18</sup> However exploring the reasons why older participants do not answer certain questions may provide insights for how to manage this question without losing information on an important aspect of cancer recovery. In our study, 75% of those who did not answer the "sex life" item checked a box to indicate that they "preferred not to answer it". Older patients may have found the question too personal or offensive, or they may have felt that this question was not applicable to them, being more likely to live alone and perhaps viewing sexuality as dependent on having a partner. The 25% of non-responders who did not check the "prefer not to answer" box could have less systematic reasons for missing that particular item. Ageing issues such as poorer eyesight and cognitive or physical difficulties are possible explanations for missingness that is not item specific.<sup>9</sup>

Prevention is usually preferable to analytical cure. Missing data may be reduced through selecting QOL assessment tools with a known higher item response rate in older patients.<sup>38,39</sup> Age-specific instruments for the assessment of QOL issues that are unique to older adults have also been proposed,<sup>3</sup> though missingness does not appear to have been addressed as yet in the recently developed EORTC QLQ-ELD15 questionnaire for older patients.<sup>40</sup> Where research involves patients of all ages, other suggested prevention strategies include using practice questions<sup>41</sup> and considering where assessment takes place.<sup>42</sup> In our study, the FACT-C may have had higher non-response rates as it was the last questionnaire in a comprehensive assessment of needs and QOL. Compliance with QOL assessment can also be affected by different factors at various time points.<sup>43</sup> The greater item non-response occurring at one month after hospital discharge in our study may indicate that this is a difficult time period for cancer patients, where greater attention to individual QOL is required and where particular care should be taken in evaluating non-response.

This was a small study and analysis of missingness was not an a priori aim. Nevertheless, increasing age was associated with non-response for a number of items, and using simple mean imputation as suggested for the FACT-C resulted in overestimates of QOL scores. While guidelines for analysis methods are useful, patterns of missing data should be checked in all datasets to avoid biased results. Multivariable analysis for non-response was also not performed in our study, meaning that other factors could be influencing missingness. Nevertheless, older patients represent an at-risk group who should be considered during study design to ensure that valuable information is not lost. Ultimately, greater transparency of reporting is needed so that readers can assess whether the QOL of those at risk of missing data is being accurately represented.

## Acknowledgements

Thank you to all participants who took part in this research study. Author MJ was funded through a postgraduate scholarship from the Cancer Institute NSW.

## 2.2.6. References

- Brundage M, Bass B, Davidson J et al. Patterns of reporting health-related quality of life outcomes in randomized clinical trials: implications for clinicians and quality of life researchers. Qual Life Res 2011;20:653-664.
- Efficace F, Osoba D, Gotay C, Sprangers M, Coens C, Bottomley A. Has the quality of health-related quality of life reporting in cancer clinical trials improved over time? Towards bridging the gap with clinical decision making. Ann Oncol 2007;18:775-781.
- Fitzsimmons D, Gilbert J, Howse F et al. A systematic review of the use and validation of health-related quality of life instruments in older cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:19-32.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books. Canberra: AIHW; 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/acim-books/.
- Repetto L, Comandini D, Mammoliti S. Life expectancy, comorbidity and quality of life: the treatment equation in the older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2001;37:147-152.
- Trask PC, Blank TO, Jacobsen PB. Future perspectives on the treatment issues associated with cancer and aging. Cancer 2008;113:3512-3518.
- Lewis JH, Kilgore ML, Goldman DP et al. Participation of patients 65 years of age or older in cancer clinical trials. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:1383-1389.
- Janssen-Heijnen MLG, Maas HAAM, Houterman S, Lemmens VEPP, Rutten HJT, Coebergh JWW. Comorbidity in older surgical cancer patients: influence on patient care and outcome. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2179-2193.
- Hardy SE, Allore H, Studenski SA. Missing data: a special challenge in aging research. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:722-729.

- 10. Fairclough DL, Cella DF. Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT-G): nonresponse to individual questions. Qual Life Res 1996;5:321-329.
- Fayers PM, Curran D, Machin D. Incomplete quality of life data in randomized trials: missing items. Stat Med 1998;17:679-696.
- Perneger TV, Burnand B. A simple imputation algorithm reduced missing data in SF-12 health surveys. J Clin Epidemiol 2005;58:142-149.
- Peyre H, Coste J, Leplège A. Identifying type and determinants of missing items in quality of life questionnaires: application to the SF-36 French version of the 2003 Decennial Health Survey. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2010;8:16.
- Vercherin P, Gutknecht C, Guillemin F, Ecochard R, Mennen LI, Mercier M. Missing data mechanisms of the questionnaire SF-36's items in the SU.VI.MAX study. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 2003;51:513-525.
- Chavance M. Handling missing items in quality of life studies. Communications in Statistics: Theory and Methods 2004;33:1371-1383.
- Webster K, Cella D, Yost K. The Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy (FACIT) Measurement System: properties, applications, and interpretation. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1:79.
- 17. Chang CH, Cella D. FACT-C Version 4 Scoring Program; 1995.
- Cheung YB, Daniel R, Ng GY. Response and non-response to a quality-of-life question on sexual life: a case study of the simple mean imputation method. Qual Life Res 2006;15:1493-1501.
- Harrison J, Young J, Solomon M, Butow P, Secomb R, Masya L. Randomized pilot evaluation of the supportive care intervention "CONNECT" for people following surgery for colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2011;54:622-631.
- 20. Young J, Harrison J, Solomon M et al. Development and feasibility assessment of telephone-delivered supportive care to improve outcomes for patients with

colorectal cancer: pilot study of the CONNECT intervention. Support Care Cancer 2010;18:461-470.

- 21. Ward WL, Hahn EA, Mo F, Hernandez L, Tulsky DS, Cella D. Reliability and validity of the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Colorectal (FACT-C) quality of life instrument. Qual Life Res 1999;8:181-195.
- Rubin D. Multiple imputation for nonresponse in surveys. New York: J. Wiley & Sons; 1987.
- Cella D, Hahn EA, Dineen K. Meaningful change in cancer-specific quality of life scores: differences between improvement and worsening. Qual Life Res 2002;11:207-221.
- 24. Cheung YB, Thumboo J, Goh C, Khoo KS, Che W, Wee J. The equivalence and difference between the English and Chinese versions of two major, cancer-specific, health-related quality-of-life questionnaires. Cancer 2004;101:2874-2880.
- Fairclough DL, Peterson HF, Chang V. Why are missing quality of life data a problem in clinical trials of cancer therapy? Stat Med 1998;17:667-677.
- 26. King MT, Kenny P, Shiell A, Hall J, Boyages J. Quality of life three months and one year after first treatment for early stage breast cancer: influence of treatment and patient characteristics. Qual Life Res 2000;9:789-800.
- Lintz K, Moynihan C, Steginga S et al. Prostate cancer patients' support and psychological care needs: survey from a non-surgical oncology clinic. Psychooncology 2003;12:769-783.
- Mkanta WN, Chumbler NR, Richardson LC et al. Age-related differences in quality of life in cancer patients: a pilot study of a cancer care coordination/home-telehealth program. Cancer Nurs 2007;30:434-440.
- Smith-Gagen J, Cress RD, Drake CM, Romano PS, Yost KJ, Ayanian JZ. Quality-of-life and surgical treatments for rectal cancer - a longitudinal analysis using the California Cancer Registry. Psychooncology 2010;19:870-878.

- Fielding S, Maclennan G, Cook J, Ramsay C. A review of RCTs in four medical journals to assess the use of imputation to overcome missing data in quality of life outcomes. Trials 2008;9:51.
- 31. Yong HH. Can attitudes of stoicism and cautiousness explain observed age-related variation in levels of self-rated pain, mood disturbance and functional interference in chronic pain patients? Eur J Pain 2006;10:399-407.
- 32. McPherson CJ, Wilson KG, Murray MA. Feeling like a burden: exploring the perspectives of patients at the end of life. Soc Sci Med 2007;64:417-427.
- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Harrison JD, Solomon MJ. Unmet supportive care needs in colorectal cancer: differences by age. Support Care Cancer 2012;20:1275-1281.
- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Dis Colon Rectum 2011;54:335-341.
- Bouvier AM, Jooste V, Bonnetain F et al. Adjuvant treatments do not alter the quality of life in elderly patients with colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Cancer 2008;113:879-886.
- Overcash J, Extermann M, Parr J, Perry J, Balducci L. Validity and reliability of the FACT-G scale for use in the older person with cancer. Am J Clin Oncol 2001;24:591-596.
- Dapueto JJ, Francolino C, Servente L et al. Evaluation of the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-General (FACT-G) Spanish Version 4 in South America: classic psychometric and item response theory analyses. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1:32.
- Brazier JE, Walters SJ, Nicholl JP, Kohler B. Using the SF-36 and EuroQol on an elderly population. Qual Life Res 1996;5:195–204.

- 39. Perret-Guillaume C, Briancon S, Guillemin F, Wahl D, Empereur F, Nguyen Thi PL. Which generic health related quality of life questionnaire should be used in older inpatients: comparison of the Duke Health Profile and the MOS Short-Form SF-36? J Nutr Health Aging 2010;14:325-331.
- 40. Johnson C, Fitzsimmons D, Gilbert J et al. Development of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer quality of life questionnaire module for older people with cancer: the EORTC QLQ-ELD15. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:2242-2252.
- Müller-Bühl U, Franke B, Hermann K, Engeser P. Lowering missing item values in quality-of-life questionnaires: an interventional study. Int J Public Health 2011;56:63-69.
- 42. Simes RJ, Greatorex V, Gebski VJ. Practical approaches to minimize problems with missing quality of life data. Stat Med 1998;17:725-737.
- 43. Hahn EA, Webster KA, Cella D, Fairclough DL. Missing data in quality of life research in Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) clinical trials: problems and solutions. Stat Med 1998;17:547-559.

# **B** Local context

This chapter examines the effect of patient age on receipt of adjuvant therapy in NSW. While age differences in adjuvant therapy receipt have been documented extensively worldwide, it is important to routinely monitor the treatment of at-risk patient groups as well as identify other local factors that may hinder or facilitate adjuvant therapy use.

This study is one of the first analyses to use treatment data from the NSW Clinical Cancer Registries (ClinCR). ClinCRs were established in five health service areas in 2006, with a sixth registry commencing in 2007. Data are collected for patients treated within public facilities only. Items comprise a minimum data set developed by NSW Oncology Groups. Because the combined registry data have not been used previously, considerable data cleaning and harmonisation was required. The quality and usefulness of the data was examined before the commencement of the current study, with consultation from an advisory group of data managers, coders, and clinicians. Further information is available in <u>Appendix 3.1</u> and in a full report online: <u>http://ses.library.usyd.edu.au/handle/2123/8936</u>

## This chapter is presented as the following paper:

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. Does patient age still affect receipt of adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in New South Wales, Australia? Journal of Geriatric Oncology. [Accepted]

## **CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT**

#### Dear co-authors,

**RE**: Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. Does patient age still affect receipt of adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in New South Wales, Australia? Journal of Geriatric Oncology. [Accepted].

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

#### Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the study, data cleaning and harmonisation, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM designed the study, data acquisition, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Dobbins TA designed the study, data cleaning and linkage, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,

## Mikaela Jorgensen

Jane M Young	à C	
Timethy & Dabbins	TDM	
Limothy A Dobbins		
Michael J Solomon		
	$   \sim$	
	$\bigcup$	
	•	

Does patient age still affect receipt of adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in New South Wales, Australia?

# 3.1. Abstract

OBJECTIVES: To investigate the effect of patient age on receipt of stage-appropriate adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in New South Wales, Australia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: A linked population-based dataset was used to examine the records of 580 people with lymph node-positive colon cancer and 498 people with high-risk rectal cancer who underwent surgery following diagnosis in 2007/2008. Multilevel logistic regression models were used to determine whether age remained an independent predictor of adjuvant therapy utilisation after accounting for significant patient, surgeon and hospital characteristics.

RESULTS: Overall, 65-73% of eligible patients received chemotherapy and 42-53% received radiotherapy. Increasing age was strongly associated with decreasing likelihood of receiving chemotherapy for lymph node-positive colon cancer (p<0.001) and radiotherapy for high-risk rectal cancer (p=0.003), even after adjusting for confounders such as Charlson comorbidity score and ASA physical health status. People aged over 70 years for chemotherapy and over 75 years for radiotherapy were significantly less likely to receive treatment than those aged less than 65. Emergency resection, intensive care admission, and not having a current partner also independently predicted chemotherapy nonreceipt. Other predictors of radiotherapy nonreceipt included being female, not being discussed at multidisciplinary meeting, and lower T stage. Adjuvant therapy rates varied widely between hospitals where surgery was performed.

CONCLUSION: There are continuing age differences in adjuvant therapy utilisation in NSW that are not explained by patients' comorbidities or health status. Further exploration of these complex treatment decisions is needed. Variation by hospital and patient characteristics indicates opportunities to improve patient care and outcomes.

#### 3.2. Introduction

Colorectal cancer is primarily a disease of ageing, with those over 65 years accounting for two-thirds of all incident cases.<sup>1</sup> Surgical resection is the mainstay of curative treatment. To reduce the risk of recurrence after surgery, current clinical practice guidelines recommend that all lymph node-positive colon cancer cases be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy, and all high-risk (T3-4 or N+) rectal cases be considered for adjuvant preoperative or postoperative radiotherapy, regardless of patient age.<sup>2</sup> However, increasing age was an independent predictor of non-concordance with adjuvant treatment guidelines in a patterns of care study conducted in the state of New South Wales (NSW), Australia in 2000.<sup>3</sup> Similar findings have been reported internationally.<sup>4-7</sup>

The collection of patient and treatment information to determine patterns of care often requires resource- and time-intensive surveys of clinicians or medical record audits. There is now potential to conduct such studies in NSW using routinely collected data. Clinical Cancer Registries (ClinCR) have been in operation in public facilities in NSW since 2006 and contain comprehensive staging and treatment information that is not routinely collected elsewhere. When linked to other health datasets, ClinCR data may be able to be used to monitor the uptake of evidence-based guidelines and identify those at risk of suboptimal treatment.

Determining whether treatment variation is due to patient, physician or hospital characteristics requires the use of multilevel modelling techniques and adequate adjustment for factors such as preoperative health. This often does not occur in population-based studies. Since rates of appropriate treatment among older colorectal cancer patients appear to be increasing over time,<sup>8,9</sup> it is also important to routinely examine whether age remains a barrier to the implementation of evidence-based cancer care.

The aim of this study was to use a linked population-based dataset to examine the effect of patient age on the receipt of stage-appropriate adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer in NSW.

## 3.3. Materials and methods

## Data source

One-third of Australia's population resides in NSW. People with a colon, rectosigmoid junction or rectal cancer mandatorily registered by the population-based NSW Central Cancer Registry (CCR) in 2007 and 2008 formed the basis of a linked dataset. Hospital separations data from the NSW Admitted Patients Data Collection (APDC) and records from the NSW Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages (RDBM) were linked by the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) to the CCR cohort. Linkage to the Clinical Cancer Registry (ClinCR) was also possible for 85% of people receiving surgery in a public hospital in 2008,<sup>10</sup> providing in-depth information on cancer staging, adjuvant therapy, and specialist consultations that was not available in the CCR. These data are based on a minimum dataset that is collected locally then collated through a central information exchange. The cohort was restricted to the first unique cancer of any person who had an admission for a surgical resection in the month of their diagnosis or thereafter. The study was approved by the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee.

#### Determining chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt

Because chemotherapy and radiotherapy data are only available from the ClinCR, those receiving surgery in private hospitals and the two area health services where ClinCR data is not collected were excluded (see Figure 1).



**Figure 1.** Flowchart defining the denominator for receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy

\*Private hospitals and Greater Western/Greater Southern Area Health Service

According to current national clinical practice guidelines, all lymph node-positive (N+M0 or stage III) colon cancer cases should be considered for adjuvant chemotherapy, and all highrisk rectal cases (T3-4N0M0 or T1-4N+M0 or stage II/III) should be considered for adjuvant preoperative or postoperative radiotherapy.<sup>2</sup> Those with any other stage of cancer at diagnosis were excluded from the cohort. People with colon cancer who died during admission for their resection were also excluded as they could not receive postoperative chemotherapy. Rectosigmoid junction cancers were not included in the analysis, as there is a lack of consensus in the literature on whether these cancers should be classified with colon or rectal cancers. All those with a ClinCR record containing any details of chemotherapy commencement (for node-positive colon) or radiotherapy commencement (for high-risk rectal) were considered to have received adjuvant therapy.

## Identifying predictors of chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt

Multivariable cross-classified multilevel logistic regression models were used to determine predictors of receipt of chemotherapy and radiotherapy.<sup>11</sup> Because surgeon and hospital data were available, three-level models were fitted to take into account the clustering of patients by surgeon and the clustering of surgeons within hospitals. Cross-classified models were used as some surgeons performed resections at more than one hospital. Any available patient, surgeon or hospital characteristic that indicated a possible univariate relationship with adjuvant therapy use (p<0.25) were initially included in multivariable models. Characteristics are listed in Tables 1 and 2, and included Charlson comorbidity score,<sup>12</sup> socioeconomic disadvantage (SEIFA),<sup>13</sup> remoteness (ARIA),<sup>14</sup> and surgeon and hospital caseload (divided into patient quintiles). Backwards elimination was used to exclude non-significant predictors one at a time until all variables were significant (p<0.05) or their exclusion worsened model fit.

## Sensitivity analyses

Although those undergoing surgery in a private hospital were excluded from the ClinCR cohort, some people may have received adjuvant treatment in a private facility that was not recorded in the ClinCR. A series of sensitivity analyses were undertaken to examine the potential impact of missing treatment and covariate data.

 Chemotherapy sensitivity model: It is likely that many people receiving chemotherapy in the private sector would have private health insurance, as Australians are entitled to treatment free of charge in public hospitals. For this sensitivity model, all those with private insurance or no insurance status recorded were additionally assumed to have received chemotherapy.

- 2) Radiotherapy sensitivity model: Outpatient radiotherapy is not covered by private health insurance, however there were only 18 facilities (5 private) that a patient could attend in NSW in 2008.<sup>15</sup> For this model, all patients whose nearest radiotherapy centre was private were additionally assumed to have received radiotherapy. A patient's nearest facility was calculated based on road distance between postcode centres using GIS software. 72.8% of people who had radiotherapy recorded attended their nearest radiotherapy centre.
- 3) Health status sensitivity models: Poor functional status predicts treatment outcomes independently of comorbidity and age.<sup>16</sup> A measure of functional status, the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status, was only recorded for 24.6% of the ClinCR cohort. The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical health status score may be a useful alternative<sup>17</sup> and was available for 83.8% of the cohort. However, it could not be included in the original models as the characteristics of those who had ASA recorded differed from those who did not. Additional complete-case models including ASA score were therefore built for both chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt, to determine whether age remained a significant predictor when a measure of health status was included.

## Comparing rates of oral chemotherapy to a secondary data source

Capecitabine, an orally-administered chemotherapy drug, was approved for use as a singleagent adjuvant treatment for stage III colon cancer in 2005. There was concern about the adequacy of recording of capecitabine, as it does not require a physical consultation for administration and prescription rates increase with patient age.<sup>18</sup> Rates of solitary capecitabine use in the ClinCR cohort were therefore compared to another data source that has been used previously to describe adjuvant therapy use.<sup>19</sup> The Biogrid Australia Colorectal Cancer Database is a prospective data repository that contains detailed information on staging and treatment from five hospitals in Victoria and Tasmania, Australia. Data for those diagnosed with stage III colon cancer from 2006 to 2009 (inclusive) were used.

#### 3.4. Results

Of the state-wide cohort of 6,890 people with colorectal cancer treated in 105 hospitals, 3,294 (47.8%) had a ClinCR record that could be used to determine adjuvant therapy receipt. People who had a ClinCR record were similar to those who did not have a ClinCR record with regard to sex, age, and site of cancer (all p>0.05, see Table 1). However, people with a ClinCR record were significantly more likely to be disadvantaged, have no private health insurance, have had their resection following emergency admission, have a higher Charlson comorbidity score, and live in a less remote location.

## Rates of chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt

Of 580 people with lymph node-positive colon cancer in the ClinCR cohort, 65.2% had a chemotherapy ClinCR record (95% CI: 61.3-69.1%). There was a steady decline in chemotherapy receipt by increasing age (see Figure 2). Of 498 people with high-risk rectal cancer, 41.6% had a radiotherapy record (95% CI: 37.2-45.9%). Radiotherapy rates decreased with increasing age, though not as markedly as for chemotherapy.

In the chemotherapy sensitivity analysis, where all people with private health insurance were assumed to have received treatment, the estimated proportion receiving chemotherapy increased to 72.6% (95% CI: 68.9-76.2%). In the radiotherapy sensitivity analysis, where all people whose nearest radiotherapy centre was private were assumed to have received treatment, estimated radiotherapy use increased to 53.2% (95% CI: 48.8-57.6%).

	ClinCR cohort, n (%)	Rest of NSW, n (%)	p value
Sex			0.754
Male	1,795 (54.5)	1,946 (54.1)	
Female	1,499 (45.5)	1,650 (45.9)	
Age at diagnosis (mean/SD)	68.7 (12.5)	68.3 (11.9)	0.145
0-59	732 (22.2)	810 (22.5)	
60-69	857 (26.0)	1,055 (29.3)	
70-79	1,029 (31.2)	1,046 (29.1)	
80+	676 (20.5)	685 (19.0)	
Site of cancer			0.964
Colon	2,201 (66.8)	2,411 (67.0)	
Rectosigmoid junction	274 (8.3)	301 (8.4)	
Rectum	819 (24.9)	884 (24.6)	
Socioeconomic disadvantage (SEIFA)*			<0.001
1 Least disadvantaged	533 (16.2)	860 (23.9)	
2	616 (18.7)	570 (15.9)	
3	604 (18.3)	848 (23.6)	
4	776 (23.6)	792 (22.0)	
5 Most disadvantaged	764 (23.3)	522 (14.5)	
Remoteness (ARIA)			<0.001
Highly accessible	2,554 (77.5)	2,153 (59.9)	
Accessible	592 (18.0)	1,044 (29.0)	
Moderately accessible/remote	148 (4.5)	399 (11.1)	
Discharged to nursing home	62 (1.9)	23 (0.6)	<0.001
Born in Australia	2,093 (63.5)	2,850 (79.3)	<0.001
Private health insurance	666 (20.2)	2,644 (73.5)	<0.001
Resection following emergency admission	539 (16.4)	127 (3.5)	<0.001
Degree of spread of cancer*			<0.001
Localised	1,143 (34.7)	1,468 (40.8)	
Regional spread	1,618 (49.1)	1,625 (45.2)	
Distant metastasis	523 (15.9)	337 (9.4)	
Charlson Index (comorbidity)			<0.001
0	2,665 (80.9)	3,132 (87.1)	
1	313 (9.5)	259 (7.2)	
2	176 (5.3)	136 (3.8)	
3+	140 (4.3)	69 (1.9)	
Hospital type			-
Public	3,294 (100.0)	943 (26.2)	
Private	-	2,653 (73.8)	
Hospital location			<0.001
Metropolitan	2,637 (80.1)	2,101 (58.4)	
Rural/regional	657 (19.9)	1,495 (41.6)	

**Table 1.** Characteristics of patients receiving surgery for colorectal cancer in NSW, 2007-08

\*Some data missing



Figure 2. Unadjusted rates of chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt by age group



Table 2 presents the results of the multivariable models for treatment receipt. Increasing age was a significant independent predictor of decreasing chemotherapy use, both in the original and chemotherapy sensitivity models (p<0.001). After adjustment, those aged 70-74 (OR=0.36), 75-79 (OR=0.18), 80-84 (OR=0.12) and 85+ (OR=0.04) were significantly less likely to receive chemotherapy than those aged less than 65. People with higher Charlson comorbidity score, emergency resection, those admitted to intensive care after their surgery, and people without a current partner were also significantly less likely to receive adjuvant chemotherapy. In the chemotherapy sensitivity model, socioeconomic status was an additional significant predictor of treatment receipt. This predictor may be partly explained by higher rates of private insurance among people with higher SES, given that the sensitivity model assumed that all those with private insurance received chemotherapy.

For radiotherapy, increasing age was also an independent predictor of underutilisation in both the original (p=0.003) and radiotherapy sensitivity models (p=0.017). Significant age differences only emerged for those over 75 years however. Other independent predictors of radiotherapy receipt included being discussed at a multidisciplinary team (MDT) meeting, being male, having higher T stage (T3/T4 vs. T2), and having an abdominoperineal resection or ultra-low anterior resection (both indications for low rectal cancer). These predictors were the same in the radiotherapy sensitivity model, where radiotherapy was assumed for all those whose closest facility was private. Distance to nearest radiotherapy facility was not an independent predictor in either of the models.

In the health status sensitivity model that included ASA score, age remained an independent predictor of both chemotherapy (p<0.001) and radiotherapy receipt (p=0.006). People with poorer health status were significantly less likely to receive chemotherapy (p=0.015) but not radiotherapy (p=0.096) in these models.

Model statistics are displayed in Table 2. All models had good discrimination (area under ROC curve > 0.80). While rates of adjuvant therapy varied widely by surgeon, most of this variation was accounted for by adding the hospital where surgery was performed into the models. In the radiotherapy model, approximately 28% of the total variability in radiotherapy receipt was attributable to hospitals (ICC=0.28), 2% was attributable to surgeons and the remaining 70% to patient characteristics. For chemotherapy, most of the variability was attributable to patient characteristics ( $\approx$ 84%), with hospital of surgery accounting for the remaining variability (ICC=0.16).

## Comparison of rates of oral chemotherapy to a secondary data source

In the ClinCR cohort, 23.3% of those who had chemotherapy had capecitabine alone recorded. An additional 8.5% did not have any drug specified. Rates of capecitabine use were greatest for those aged 70-79 (38.3%). In the Biogrid cohort (mean age 66.9 years (SD=12.6), 55.8% male, 68.0% colon cancer), 104 of 146 people with stage III colon cancer had chemotherapy recorded (71.2%). Of these people, 24.0% received capecitabine as a single agent treatment. This rate was not significantly different from the rate of solitary capecitabine use recorded in the ClinCR cohort ( $\chi^2$ [1]=0.02, p=0.896).

	Chemotherapy (node-positive colon)		Radiotherapy (high-risk rectal)		
	CTx recorded OR (95% Cl)	Sensitivity <sup>a</sup> OR (95% CI)	RTx recorded OR (95% Cl)	Sensitivity <sup>a</sup> OR (95% CI)	
Age at diagnosis (ref=<65 years)	p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.003	p=0.017	
65-69	0.58 (0.28-1.21)	0.40 (0.19-0.87)	0.59 (0.30-1.18)	0.75 (0.37-1.51)	
70-74	0.36 (0.18-0.74)	0.34 (0.16-0.73)	0.55 (0.27-1.12)	0.72 (0.35-1.48)	
75-79	0.18 (0.09-0.35)	0.19 (0.09-0.39)	0.44 (0.21-0.93)	0.46 (0.22-0.95)	
80-84	0.12 (0.06-0.24)	0.14 (0.07-0.29)	0.19 (0.07-0.47)	0.26 (0.11-0.61)	
85+	0.04 (0.02-0.11)	0.09 (0.04-0.21)	0.24 (0.08-0.76)	0.34 (0.12-0.95)	
Charlson comorbidity (ref=0)	p=0.008	p=0.071	p=0.373	p=0.223	
1	0.34 (0.16-0.72)	0.52 (0.25-1.08)	0.93 (0.40-2.14)	0.97 (0.43-2.17)	
2	0.75 (0.29-1.94)	1.01 (0.40-2.55)	0.75 (0.24-2.31)	1.39 (0.46-4.20)	
3+	0.28 (0.09-0.89)	0.31 (0.10-0.94)	0.24 (0.05-1.21)	0.24 (0.06-1.00)	
Marital status (ref=Partner)	p=0.023	p=0.004	-	-	
No current partner	0.60 (0.39-0.93)	0.52 (0.34-0.81)			
Intensive care (ref=No)	p=0.024	p=0.007	-	-	
Yes	0.51 (0.29-0.91)	0.47 (0.27-0.81)			
Emergency resection (ref=No)	p=0.047	p=0.773	-	-	
Yes	0.60 (0.36-0.99)	0.93 (0.55-1.55)			
SEIFA (ref=1 Least disadvantaged)	p=0.338	p=0.049	-	-	
2	1.06 (0.47-2.41)	0.94 (0.40-2.21)			
3	0.72 (0.30-1.72)	0.38 (0.16-0.90)			
4	1.58 (0.66-3.78)	0.77 (0.32-1.84)			
5 Most disadvantaged	0.97 (0.41-2.29)	0.47 (0.20-1.13)			
Sex (ref=Male)	-	-	p=0.002	p<0.001	
Female			0.44 (0.26-0.73)	0.42 (0.25-0.69)	
T stage (ref=T2)	-	-	p=0.003	p<0.001	
Т3			3.91 (1.75-8.75)	4.24 (2.02-8.86)	
Τ4			2.75 (0.97-7.76)	1.87 (0.69-5.02)	
Type of resection (ref=Other)	-	-	p<0.001	p=0.014	
Abdominoperineal excision			3.77 (1.97-7.25)	2.51 (1.31-4.80)	
Ultra-low anterior resection			1.82 (1.03-3.24)	1.64 (0.91-2.94)	
Discussed at MDT (ref=No)	-	-	p<0.001	p=0.004	
Yes			3.12 (1.78-5.47)	2.36 (1.33-4.20)	
Model statistics					
Discrimination (area under curve)	0.85 (0.81-0.88)	0.82 (0.78-0.86)	0.86 (0.83-0.89)	0.86 (0.83-0.90)	
Calibration (Hosmer-Lemeshow $\chi^2$ )	7.81, p=0.648	8.22, p=0.607	8.13, p=0.616	11.34, p=0.332	
Surgeon variance (SE), [ICC] <sup>b</sup>	0	0	0.11(0.22),[0.02]	0.11(0.22),[0.02]	
Hospital variance (SE), [ICC] <sup>b</sup>	0.61(0.29),[0.16]	0.41(0.22),[0.11]	1.32(0.59),[0.28]	2.46(1.14),[0.42]	

**Table 2.** Results of multivariable models for receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy

<sup>a</sup>Receipt assumed for all those with private insurance (for CTx) or whose nearest treatment centre was private (for RTx)

<sup>b</sup> Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC): estimated proportion of total variability attributable to surgeons or hospitals
#### 3.5. Discussion

Chronological age was an independent predictor of receipt of stage-appropriate adjuvant therapy across all models. After adjusting for confounders, people aged over 70 years for chemotherapy and over 75 years for radiotherapy were significantly less likely to receive treatment than those aged less than 65. While much of the variation in adjuvant therapy utilisation was due to patient characteristics, the hospital where surgery was performed accounted for a considerable proportion of variation in these patterns of care. This indicates that there are opportunities to improve care at both a hospital and patient level.

Linked administrative health data may be more useful for routinely monitoring patterns of treatment than data collected though other methods, as it is less resource intensive, potentially timelier, and removes some of the bias that may occur through the selfselection of physicians into surveys or the use of single area data.<sup>20</sup> ClinCR data from local districts have been used previously to determine adjuvant therapy use.<sup>21</sup> However, the quality of recording of treatment receipt across the combined registry requires validation. Potential undertreatment of older patients through reduced dose or early discontinuation could also not be explored as these data are incomplete in the ClinCR at present.<sup>10</sup> While the current analysis was restricted to those who received surgery in a public hospital, the original models likely underestimate utilisation rates due to the collection of ClinCR data in public facilities only, and the sensitivity models likely overestimate rates by assuming everyone with private insurance or living near a private facility received adjuvant therapy. The present coverage of the ClinCR data also limits the ability to extrapolate the estimates to the whole state. Underestimates may result from the ClinCR subset being more disadvantaged than the state-wide cohort and so less likely to receive treatment,<sup>5</sup> though the absence of data for two rural areas may mean state figures are overestimated, as travel distance has been reported to be a barrier to treatment.<sup>22</sup> Nonetheless, the available data account for half of the treated cases in NSW, and may be useful for monitoring patterns of care in the public hospitals it is collected. The above issues are also more likely to increase age differences than reduce them.

Results from previous state-wide and other international population-based research suggest that our estimates of overall chemotherapy use (65-73%) and radiotherapy use (42-54%) are reliable. In a clinician survey conducted in NSW in 2000, 59% of node-positive colon cancer patients received chemotherapy and 33% of high-risk rectal cancer patients received radiotherapy.<sup>23</sup> The current results represent a considerable increase on these figures, consistent with reported trends for increasing utilisation over time. The results are also comparable to internationally reported rates of chemotherapy use for node-positive colon cancer of between 56% and 75%<sup>4,5,24,25</sup> and rates of radiotherapy use for high-risk rectal cancer of between 45% and 63%.<sup>6,7,9,26</sup> The accuracy of our estimates is additionally supported by the similar rates of oral capecitabine to the Biogrid dataset, a high proportion of younger patients receiving chemotherapy as in the previous NSW study,<sup>23</sup> and similar predictors of chemotherapy and radiotherapy receipt to other studies.<sup>3,4,7,27</sup>

In our study, people over age 70 without significant comorbidity were less likely to receive adjuvant chemotherapy, despite having a life expectancy of up to 9 years.<sup>28</sup> The reason for the apparent underutilisation of adjuvant therapy among older adults is likely multifaceted. Previous research suggests that both surgeons and oncologists are less likely to recommend chemotherapy for older patients on the basis of age alone.<sup>29,30</sup> The magnitude of these age differences increases for patients with comorbidities, where there is emerging but less definitive evidence for treatment tolerance and less potential survival benefit. The current study was unique in determining whether variation in treatment receipt occurred at the level of the surgeon or hospital. Lack of variation across surgeons in adjuvant chemotherapy rates when accounting for hospitals and patient characteristics indicates that surgeons may hold similar preferences against the referral of older patients and those with comorbidity. The unexplained hospital variation after accounting for patient predictors could point to differing practices of oncologists or MDTs, breakdowns in the care pathway, or unmeasured patient characteristics such as treatment refusal, which accounted for up to 10% of patients in a previous NSW study.<sup>23</sup> Routine recording of reasons for non-receipt is needed to further illuminate the continuing barriers to evidencebased care for all patients.

Determining whether patient age is an independent predictor of care requires adequate adjustment for factors that are associated with ageing and may impact treatment outcomes, such as poor functional status. Most population-based studies only include a measure of comorbidity. In the current study, older adults were significantly less likely to receive treatment after additionally adjusting for ASA physical health status, however more complete data or the inclusion of other measures of daily function or physiologic reserve could reduce the effect of age in the models. In addition, it is likely that some comorbidity index was used to increase the comparability of findings across studies, the non-linear association between Charlson score and chemotherapy receipt both in this study and elsewhere<sup>31</sup> suggests that clinicians may weigh specific comorbidities differently in chemotherapy decision making than in the original mortality index.

Identifying factors that contribute to differences in the treatment of older patients also provides insight into ways to facilitate better care. Having a current partner was an independent predictor of chemotherapy receipt in our study, as in previous research.<sup>32</sup> Increasing access to social support programs for older people, who are more likely to live alone, may improve their treatment and outcomes. Similarly, discussion at multidisciplinary team meeting was associated with increased radiotherapy use in the current study, as in previous research.<sup>33</sup> Greater implementation of MDTs would likely result in better care as well as survival.<sup>34</sup> Interestingly, those in the middle of the socioeconomic strata were the least likely to receive chemotherapy. This may reflect the access to care in major public tertiary institutions that is available to the most disadvantaged as part of Australia's universal healthcare system. Even with this safety net, however, it appears that many older patients are not receiving the recommended standard of care.

While it is clear that adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer substantially increases disease-free and overall survival,<sup>35</sup> the magnitude of survival benefit from radiotherapy in rectal cancer is reported to be relatively small.<sup>36</sup> Increases in local control due to the

introduction of improved rectal surgery techniques such as total mesorectal excision could mean that physicians decide the small additional survival benefits are not always worth the potential morbidity. The overall lower rates of radiotherapy use compared to chemotherapy use in the current study may reflect this uncertainty. The dependence of radiotherapy receipt on type of resection, and the variation attributed to rectal surgeons in our models, further indicate that surgery-related factors must be considered if the targets for optimal radiotherapy utilisation in rectal cancer<sup>37</sup> are to be met.

Despite increases on previous state-wide rates of adjuvant therapy utilisation and universal health care coverage, there are continuing age differences in this aspect of evidence-based care in NSW that are not explained by patients' comorbidities or health status. Further exploration and support for these complex treatment decisions is needed to improve the survival outcomes of older colorectal cancer patients. Though limitations exist, the routinely collected dataset used in this study provides a useful way to identify and monitor at-risk patient groups in the hospitals it is collected. Feedback on comparative performance to providers may be a starting point to reducing variation in care.

# Acknowledgements

Many thanks to the data managers and custodians of each of the data collections used in this study and to the staff at the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) for preparing the data for linkage.

## 3.6. References

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books. Canberra: AIHW; 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/acim-books/.
- Australian Cancer Network Colorectal Cancer Guidelines Revision Committee.
   Guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of colorectal cancer.
   Sydney: The Cancer Council Australia and Australian Cancer Network; 2005.

- Young JM, Leong DC, Armstrong K et al. Concordance with national guidelines for colorectal cancer care in New South Wales: a population-based patterns of care study. Med J Aust 2007;186:292-5.
- van Steenbergen LN, Rutten HJT, Creemers GJ, Pruijt JFM, Coebergh JWW, Lemmens VEPP. Large age and hospital-dependent variation in administration of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer in southern Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2010;21:1273-8.
- Chagpar R, Xing Y, Chiang YJ et al. Adherence to stage-specific treatment guidelines for patients with colon cancer. J Clin Oncol 2012;30:972-9.
- Eldin NS, Yasui Y, Scarfe A, Winget M. Adherence to treatment guidelines in stage
   II/III rectal cancer in Alberta, Canada. Clin Oncol 2012;24:e9-17.
- Gagliardi G, Pucciarelli S, Asteria CR et al. A nationwide audit of the use of radiotherapy for rectal cancer in Italy. Techniques in Coloproctology 2010;14:229-35.
- van Steenbergen LN, Lemmens VEPP, Rutten HJT, Wymenga ANM, Nortier JWR, Janssen-Heijnen MLG. Increased adjuvant treatment and improved survival in elderly stage III colon cancer patients in the Netherlands. Ann Oncol 2012;23:2805-11.
- Mak RH, McCarthy EP, Das P, Hong TS, Mamon HJ, Hoffman KE. Adoption of preoperative radiation therapy for rectal cancer from 2000 to 2006: a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results patterns-of-care study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2011;80:978-84.
- Young J, Jorgensen M, Dobbins T, Solomon M. CESR Technical Report 1: The quality and usefulness of the NSW Clinical Cancer Registry Minimum Dataset and Colorectal Dataset Extension for colorectal cancer services research. Sydney: Sydney School of Public Health, The University of Sydney; 2012. Available: http://hdl.handle.net/2123/8936.
- Rabe-Hesketh S, Skrondal A. Multilevel and Longitudinal Modelling Using Stata. 2nd ed. Texas: Stata Press; 2008.

- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KA, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.
- Pink B. Socio-economic indexes for areas (SEIFA) Technical Paper, 2006. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008. Available: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2039.0.55.001/.
- Department of Health and Aged Care. Measuring Remoteness: Accessibility/Remoteness Index of Australia (ARIA) Revised Edition, Occasional Papers: New Series No. 14, Commonwealth of Australia; 2001. Available: http://www.health.gov.au.
- Cancer Council NSW. Improving radiotherapy: where to from here? A roadmap for the NSW Government. Sydney: The Cancer Council NSW; 2009. Available: http://www.cancercouncil.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/Improving-Radiotherapy\_Roadmap\_May-2009.pdf.
- 16. Kristjansson SR, Jordhoy MS, Nesbakken A et al. Which elements of a comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) predict post-operative complications and early mortality after colorectal cancer surgery? Journal of Geriatric Oncology 2010;1:57-65.
- 17. Mayr R, May M, Martini T et al. Predictive capacity of four comorbidity indices estimating perioperative mortality after radical cystectomy for urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. BJU Int 2012;110:E222-7.
- Van Gils CWM, Koopman M, Mol L, Redekop WK, Uyl-De Groot CA, Punt CJA.
   Adjuvant chemotherapy in stage III colon cancer: guideline implementation, patterns of use and outcomes in daily practice in the Netherlands. Acta Oncol 2012;51:57-64.
- Ananda S, Field KM, Kosmider S et al. Patient age and comorbidity are major determinants of adjuvant chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer in routine clinical practice. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:4516-7.

- Goldsbury DE, Armstrong K, Simonella L, Armstrong BK, O'Connell DL. Using administrative health data to describe colorectal and lung cancer care in New South Wales, Australia: a validation study. BMC Health Serv Res 2012 12:387.
- 21. Boxer MM, Vinod SK, Shafiq J, Duggan KJ. Do multidisciplinary team meetings make a difference in the management of lung cancer? Cancer 2011;117:5112-20
- Jones AP, Haynes R, Sauerzapf V, Crawford SM, Zhao H, Forman D. Travel time to hospital and treatment for breast, colon, rectum, lung, ovary and prostate cancer. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:992-9.
- Armstrong K, O'Connell DL, Leong D, Spigelman AD, Armstrong BK. The New South Wales Colorectal Cancer Care Survey 2000: Part 1. Surgical management. Sydney: The Cancer Council New South Wales; 2004.
- Lima ISF, Yasui Y, Scarfe A, Winget M. Association between receipt and timing of adjuvant chemotherapy and survival for patients with stage III colon cancer in Alberta, Canada. Cancer 2011;117:3833-40.
- Bouvier AM, Minicozzi P, Grosclaude P, Bouvier V, Faivre J, Sant M. Patterns of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage II and III colon cancer in France and Italy. Dig Liver Dis 2013;45:687-91.
- Elferink MAG, van Steenbergen LN, Krijnen P et al. Marked improvements in survival of patients with rectal cancer in the Netherlands following changes in therapy, 1989-2006. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:1421-9.
- Schrag D, Gelfand SE, Bach PB, Guillem J, Minsky BD, Begg CB. Who gets adjuvant treatment for stage II and III rectal cancer? Insight from Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results-Medicare. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:3712-8.
- Gross CP, McAvay GJ, Krumholz HM, Paltiel AD, Bhasin D, Tinetti ME. The effect of age and chronic illness on life expectancy after a diagnosis of colorectal cancer: implications for screening. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:646-53.

- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Dis Colon Rectum 2011;54:335-41.
- Krzyzanowska MK, Regan MM, Powell M, Earle CC, Weeks JC. Impact of patient age and comorbidity on surgeon versus oncologist preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg 2009;208:202-9.
- Quipourt V, Jooste V, Cottet V, Faivre J, Bouvier A. Comorbidities alone do not explain the undertreatment of colorectal cancer in older adults: a French populationbased study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011;59:694-698.
- Luo R, Giordano SH, Freeman JL, Zhang D, Goodwin JS. Referral to medical oncology: a crucial step in the treatment of older patients with stage III colon cancer. Oncologist 2006;11:1025-33.
- Abraham NS, Gossey JT, Davila JA, Al-Oudat S, Kramer JK. Receipt of recommended therapy by patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1320-8.
- 34. MacDermid E, Hooton G, MacDonald M et al. Improving patient survival with the colorectal cancer multi-disciplinary team. Colorectal Dis 2009;11:291-5.
- Gill S, Loprinzi CL, Sargent DJ et al. Pooled analysis of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy for stage II and III colon cancer: who benefits and by how much? J Clin Oncol 2004;22:1797-1806.
- 36. Gray R, Hills R, Stowe R et al. Adjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer: a systematic overview of 8507 patients from 22 randomised trials. Lancet 2001;358:1291-304.
- Barton MB, Delaney GP. A decade of investment in radiotherapy in New South Wales: why does the gap between optimal and actual persist? J Med Imaging Radiat Oncol 2011;55:433-41.

#### Appendix 3.1. Additional information about the NSW ClinCR

Clinical cancer registries (ClinCR) were established in five Area Health Services (AHS) (North Coast, Northern Sydney Central Coast, South Eastern Sydney Illawarra, Sydney South West, and Sydney West AHS) in 2006, and in Hunter New England AHS in 2007. Clinical Cancer Registries were not established in Greater Southern AHS or Greater Western AHS. Each ClinCR is managed locally, with data collection, data entry, quality control and data governance the responsibility of the AHS. The ClinCR covers only patients treated within public facilities within the AHS. However, a major strength of this dataset is the depth of clinical information collected. Data items contained in the ClinCR include:

- Demographic details: sex, age, country of birth, postcode, indigenous status
- System details: AMO registration number, facility code
- Diagnostic and staging items: date of diagnosis, primary site of cancer, best basis for diagnosis, histopathological grade, morphology, degree of spread, TNM staging
- Clinical details: performance status at diagnosis, date of death, cause of death
- Treatment items: date of admission, date of discharge, ICD-10-AM procedure codes, date of radiotherapy start, date of radiotherapy end, radiotherapy type, dose and fractions, date of systemic therapy start, date of systemic therapy end, systemic protocol, number of cycles, date of referral to cancer specialist, date of consultation with specialist, date of decision to treat, date of clinical trial enrolment, date of MDT meeting, date of referral to palliative care, psycho-social referral to (type)

*Creation of collated ClinCR dataset.* Many data items were common across all ClinCRs, however some were unique to individual area datasets and many were recorded in different ways. Data were harmonised to best resemble the current data dictionary and to enable stacking (combining) of the datasets. This process included standardising data item names, cleaning erroneous data, standardising default codes, transforming data recorded as text strings to standard codes, determining meaning of area-specific coding not recorded in the minimum dataset dictionary and reassigning codes, standardising items where different coding systems had been used (e.g. systemic protocol).

# **4** The surgeon

In Chapter 3, increasing age was strongly associated with decreasing likelihood of receiving guideline-recommended adjuvant therapy. Multilevel modelling accounting for patient and hospital characteristics revealed that surgeons may hold similar preferences against the referral of older patients. This chapter outlines the findings of a self-administered survey of Australian and New Zealand colorectal surgeons. The survey aimed to determine surgeon's knowledge, opinions and self-reported practice regarding referral for, and use of, adjuvant therapy for older patients.

The study also contained a randomised comparison of postal and internet survey methods on surgeon response rates, survey completeness, and characteristics of responders. The findings of this study are reported in <u>Appendix 4.2</u>, and an example screenshot of the online version of the survey is provided in <u>Appendix 4.3</u>. A copy of the postal survey is available in <u>Appendix 4.4</u>.

## This chapter is presented as the following paper:

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Diseases of the Colon & Rectum 2011; 54(3): 335-41.

Available: http://journals.lww.com/dcrjournal/Abstract/2011/03000/Older\_Patients.13

#### CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT

#### Dear co-authors,

**RE:** Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Diseases of the Colon & Rectum 2011; 54(3): 335-341.

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

#### Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the study and survey, collected the data, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM designed the study, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ designed the study, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,

#### Mikaela Jorgensen



Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice

# 4.1. Abstract

BACKGROUND: Increasing patient age independently predicts non-referral and non-receipt of adjuvant therapy among patients with colorectal cancer. This study aimed to identify factors affecting surgeons' decisions to refer older patients for adjuvant therapy.

METHODS: A self-administered survey was sent to all Australian and New Zealand colorectal surgeons (n=146). The survey consisted of three sections: 1) knowledge of research evidence, 2) opinions on evidence and adjuvant therapy in older patients, and 3) self-reported practice, or likelihood of patient referral in different scenarios. Demographic information was also obtained.

RESULTS: Seventy percent of surgeons responded. Surgeons were significantly less likely to refer older patients than younger patients for adjuvant therapy in all scenarios (p<0.001). The difference in referral recommendations was greatest when patients lived a long way from treatment, had a comorbid condition, or had little social support. There was greater variation in referral recommendations for older patients, and marked disagreement between surgeons in knowledge and opinion questions. Surgeon age was the only significant predictor of survey responses. Greater knowledge and more positive opinions predicted similar referral recommendations for older and younger patients (p=0.02, p=0.01).

CONCLUSIONS: Chronological age alone appears to impact colorectal surgeons' decisions to refer patients for adjuvant therapy. Sociodemographic and physiological factors further decrease the likelihood of referral of older patients. A lack of consensus among surgeons suggests that more research is needed both to predict how older patients with cancer will react to treatment, and to determine how information from emerging evidence can be best used to assist physicians' treatment decisions.

This is a non-final (post-print accepted) version of an article published in final form in Diseases of the Colon & Rectum 2011; 54(3): 335-341.

# 4.2. Introduction

More than half of all colorectal cancer (CRC) cases occur in those over 70 years of age.<sup>1</sup> However, older patients may be at risk for receiving suboptimal care. Patients over 70 years are significantly less likely to receive adjuvant therapy than younger patients, even after adjusting for age-related factors such as disease stage and comorbidity.<sup>2-4</sup>

Although receipt of adjuvant therapy may appear to rest in the hands of oncologists, surgeons play a critical gate-keeping role. Referral to medical oncology is one of the most important factors associated with receipt of chemotherapy among older patients with stage III colon cancer.<sup>5</sup> Yet in an Australian patterns of care study, increasing patient age independently predicted nonconcordance with national clinical practice guidelines for the referral of patients with colorectal cancer for adjuvant therapy.<sup>6</sup> Colorectal surgeons have also been found to hold significantly stronger preferences against all adjuvant options for rectal cancer compared with oncologists.<sup>7</sup> Because physician opinion has a major impact on the treatment decisions of older patients,<sup>8,9</sup> the views of surgeons regarding adjuvant therapy in older adults should be explored further.

Randomized trials of adjuvant chemotherapy typically find no significant interaction between age, efficacy of treatment, and incidence of toxicity.<sup>10,11</sup> However, treatment decision making for older patients is inherently more complex. Individual physicians must balance factors such as physiological and psychosocial health, life expectancy, and the effects of cancer and cancer treatment on quality of life. Limitations of current evidence, in particular, because of the underrepresentation of older patients in clinical trials,<sup>12</sup> make these decisions all the more difficult.

Previous surveys have focused primarily on the impact of comorbidity or general health on physicians' adjuvant therapy recommendations.<sup>13-16</sup> Where other factors are considered, differences by age are generally not compared.<sup>8,17</sup> The association between knowledge of evidence, opinions, and practice in the treatment of older patients with adjuvant therapy has also not been explored. Therefore, the aim of this study was to identify factors affecting surgeons' decisions to refer older patients with colorectal cancer for adjuvant therapy by determining surgeon knowledge, opinions, and self-reported practice in a range of scenarios.

# 4.3. Method

#### Participants

The study sample comprised colorectal surgeons from Australia and New Zealand. Surgeons were identified through the Colorectal Surgical Society of Australia and New Zealand (CSSANZ). All members of CSSANZ were eligible for participation, unless they were no longer practicing medicine, were on extended leave of more than 6 weeks, or no longer resided in Australia or New Zealand.

Surgeons were randomly allocated to receive either a hard-copy mailed survey, or an email with a link to an online survey with identical content. Three reminder letters/emails were sent to non-respondents at 2-week intervals. Further information and results by survey type will be presented elsewhere. The study was approved by CSSANZ and Sydney South West Area Health Service Ethics Review Committee.

#### Survey Instrument

A self-administered survey was developed to measure knowledge, opinions, and practice regarding referral of older patients by colorectal surgeons for adjuvant therapy. Survey questions were pilot tested by colorectal fellows for content, clarity, and ease of use.

Knowledge questions were based on recommendations of the current Australian clinical practice guidelines<sup>18</sup> and current research evidence. Opinion questions were based on literature review. Level of agreement with statements in these sections were measured using a 5-point Likert scale (strongly disagree to strongly agree). For the self-reported practice section, surgeons were asked to indicate how likely they would be to refer 2 patients of different ages (60 years and 80 years) with node-positive colon cancer, given a number of patient-based and structural barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy. Self-reported practice was measured using 11-point visual analog scales (definitely would not refer to definitely would refer) (Figure 1).

#### Figure 1. Example of self-reported practice question

How likely would you be to refer an <u>80-year-old</u> patient with node positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy in each of the following situations:

	Definite would not						Definitely would refer				
The patient has no other medical problems	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

# Data Analysis

Self-reported practice was analysed in 2 ways.

1. Absolute analysis: the likelihood of referral of patients in the different scenarios overall.

That is, which factors had the greatest impact on the decision to refer in both patient groups. Mean scores for each scenario were calculated.

2. Relative analysis: the likelihood of referral of an older patient compared with a younger patient in the same scenario. That is, which factors (eg, comorbidity) produced the greatest differences on the decision to refer between the older and younger patient. Mean differences were analysed using paired t-tests. The total of the mean difference scores for each participant provided a total self-reported practice score. Knowledge questions were dichotomized as either "consistent" or "inconsistent" with national guidelines and current research evidence. Responses were considered consistent if participants selected either "strongly agree/agree" or "strongly disagree/disagree" as appropriate to the question. The number of responses consistent with the evidence were tallied to provide a knowledge score for each participant. Correlation coefficients were obtained for the relationship between knowledge and self-reported practice scores.

Opinion questions were dichotomized in a similar manner to knowledge questions. Tally points were given to responses indicating similar opinions toward older and younger patients and belief in adequacy of current evidence. A summary score was calculated and correlation coefficients were obtained for the relationship between opinion and selfreported practice scores.

Multiple regression was used to test for independent associations between surgeon characteristics (eg, age, sex, practice location) and total scores for the knowledge, opinions, and self-reported practice sections. Any demographics that indicated a possible relationship to total scores (p<0.25) were used as predictors in the models. Predictors with the least effect on total scores were dropped out of the models one at a time until all predictors were significant.<sup>19</sup>

#### 4.4. Results

Of 146 eligible colorectal surgeons from Australia and New Zealand, 102 responded to the survey (70%). The mean age of responding surgeons was 49 years, and most surgeons were male (95%). The majority reported practicing in a capital city or other major urban area (94%) and 73% considered their major appointment as visiting medical officer/consultant. Eighty-one percent of surgeons reported attending multidisciplinary team meetings often (Table 1).

		n	%
Responding surgeons (of 146)		102	69.9
Age in years (mean/SD)		48.9	8.7
Sex	Male	95	93.1
	Female	7	6.9
Practice location	Capital city	68	66.7
	Other major urban area	28	27.5
	Rural area	6	5.9
Hospital of majority work	Tertiary referral teaching hospital	60	58.8
(not mutually exclusive)	District general hospital	9	8.8
	Rural hospital	1	1.0
	Private hospital	47	46.1
Appointment	Conjoint staff/academic	22	21.6
(not mutually exclusive)	VMO/consultant	74	72.5
	Staff specialist	9	8.8
	Salaried university academic	10	9.8
Multidisciplinary team meeting	Often	83	81.4
attendance	Sometimes	13	12.7
	Never	4	3.9
	Not available	2	2.0
Chemotherapy services at hospital	Yes	93	91.2
	No	9	8.8
Radiotherapy services at hospital	Yes	69	68.3
	No	32	31.7

# Table 1. Characteristics of colorectal surgeons responding to survey

VMO = visiting medical officer

# Self-Reported Practice (Relative)

Surgeons were significantly less likely to refer an older patient with node-positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy than a younger patient in all 8 self-reported practice questions (p<0.001). The scenarios that produced the greatest difference in referral

recommendations between a younger and older patient were living a long distance from available treatment, having a comorbid condition, and having no close social supports (Table 2). For example, 93% of surgeons would likely refer a 60-year-old patient with nodepositive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy if they lived 300 km from the nearest treatment facility. However, only half as many surgeons (47%) would likely refer an 80year-old patient in the same scenario. There was also much greater variation in referral recommendations for older patients (table 2).

	60-year-old, mean (SD)	80-year-old mean (SD)	Difference, mean (SD)	р
The patient lives 300km from the nearest treatment facility	10.2 (1.5)	6.6 (3.6)	3.6 (3.2)	<.001
The patient has an ASA status of III (e.g. controlled congestive heart failure)	9.5 (1.9)	6.2 (3.5)	3.3 (2.9)	<.001
The patient has no close family or friends to support them	10.2 (1.4)	7.0 (3.6)	3.3 (3.2)	<.001
The patient has some degree of cognitive impairment (i.e. needs some help with daily tasks)	8.0 (2.9)	5.2 (3.5)	2.8 (2.7)	<.001
The patient may have difficulty coping with additional medical costs or loss of income	9.9 (1.7)	7.3 (3.6)	2.6 (3.1)	<.001
The patient needs some assistance with personal care (e.g. bathing, dressing)	8.6 (2.7)	6.2 (3.5)	2.4 (2.6)	<.001
The patient refuses referral initially	8.0 (3.8)	5.6 (3.8)	2.4 (3.0)	<.001
The patient has no other medical problems	10.9 (0.5)	9.5 (2.5)	1.4 (2.4)	<.001

Table 2. Likelihood of referring an older and younger patient for adjuvant chemotherapy\*

\*11-point Likert scale used

#### Self-Reported Practice (Absolute)

The greatest barriers to referral for adjuvant chemotherapy overall were the same for both the younger and older patient. Cognitive impairment, initial patient refusal, and the need for assistance with personal care were the scenarios where patients were least likely to be referred (Table 2). For example, only 68% of surgeons would likely refer a 60- year-old patient if they had some degree of cognitive impairment, and 33% for an 80-year-old patient in the same scenario. Not surprisingly, the scenario that produced the greatest referral rates for adjuvant chemotherapy, and the least difference in referral between the older and younger patient, was if there were no other medical problems. Nearly all surgeons (96%) would "definitely refer" an otherwise healthy younger patient with nodepositive colon cancer, compared with 61% for the older patient in the same scenario.

# Knowledge

The majority of surgeons "strongly agreed" or "agreed" with specific recommendations of the national clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of older patients with adjuvant chemotherapy (81%) and preoperative radiotherapy (97%). On the issues of toxicity, benefits, and quality of life, there was greater disagreement (Table 3). Interestingly, only 39% of surgeons agreed that adjuvant chemotherapy is underused in older patients. Surgeons with a greater knowledge score were significantly more likely to have similar referral recommendations for older and younger patients (p=0.018).

# Table 3. Responses to knowledge questions

	Strongly agree / agree (%)	Neutral (%)	Strongly disagree / disagree (%)	Total % (n)
Older people derive similar benefits from adjuvant chemotherapy as younger people	72.5	14.7	12.7	100 (102)
Adjuvant chemotherapy is underutilised in elderly patients	39.2	43.1	17.6	100 (102)
The risk of toxicity from adjuvant chemotherapy increases with age	72.5	15.7	11.8	100 (102)
All patients with node positive colon cancer should be <u>considered</u> for adjuvant chemotherapy regardless of age	81.2	2.0	16.8	100 (101)
Adjuvant chemotherapy has a greater impact on the quality of life of older people than younger people	50.0	28.4	21.6	100 (102)
Elderly patients with high-risk rectal cancer should be <u>considered</u> for preoperative radiotherapy, either alone or as combined modality therapy	97.1	2.9	0	100 (102)

#### Opinions

Opinions were also significantly associated with self-reported practice, with higher opinion scores predicting similar referral of older and younger patients (p=0.01). Most surgeons believed that older patients preferred less aggressive treatment and that younger patients should have preference over elderly patients, but that the side effects of adjuvant chemotherapy were generally worth the benefits for older patients (Table 4). Thirty-nine percent of surgeons believed there is an upper age limit after which chemotherapy is no longer worthwhile (mean age, 82 y; range, 75-90 y). Yet the majority of responders reported that they believed there is adequate evidence to justify the use of adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy in patients over 70 years.

#### **Table 4.** Responses to opinion questions

	Strongly agree / agree (%)	Neutral (%)	Strongly disagree / disagree (%)	Total % (n)
For the elderly, the side effects of adjuvant chemotherapy are generally not worth the benefits	9.8	20.6	69.6	100 (102)
Older people often prefer less aggressive treatment to younger people	66.7	13.7	19.6	100 (102)
Considering the limited resources of the health system, younger patients should have preference over the elderly for adjuvant chemotherapy	19.8	23.8	56.4	100 (101)
Older people generally prefer the physician to make treatment choices for them	38.2	26.5	35.3	100 (102)
There is adequate evidence to justify the use of adjuvant chemotherapy in the elderly	71.6	18.6	9.8	100 (102)
There is adequate evidence to justify the use of preoperative radiotherapy in the elderly with high-risk rectal cancer	78.4	8.8	12.7	100 (102)
Do you believe there is an upper age limit after which adjuvant chemotherapy is no longer worthwhile?	38.8 (yes)	82* (75-90)	61.2 (no)	98 (100)

\*Mean age limit (range)

#### **Physician Predictors**

Surgeon age was the only significant independent predictor of survey responses. Younger surgeons were more likely to have a higher knowledge score (p=0.006) and a higher opinion score (p=0.027). However, surgeon age did not explain much of the variation in scores (R<sup>2</sup>=0.048 and R<sup>2</sup>=0.074). Surgeons who practiced in a capital city or other major urban area were more likely to have similar referral recommendations for older and younger patients than those who practiced in a rural location (mean total difference, 21 and 32), but this result was not significant. Referral recommendations did not vary by age, sex, hospital location, appointment, multidisciplinary team meeting attendance, or the availability of on-site chemotherapy or radiotherapy services at the surgeon's hospital.

#### 4.5. Discussion

In this study, colorectal surgeons were significantly less likely to self-report referral of an older patient with node-positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy than a younger patient across a range of scenarios. Both knowledge of evidence and opinions about older patients and adequacy of evidence were strongly associated with referral recommendations. Surgeon age was the only factor that independently explained knowledge and opinion scores.

Older patients with colorectal cancer are less likely than younger patients to receive adjuvant therapy both in Australia<sup>3,20,21</sup> and internationally.<sup>2,4</sup> The results of this study may provide some insight into the underlying reasons for these differences. Although many consider that older patients with cancer are undertreated, there is also significant debate about the overtreatment of this population.<sup>22</sup> This was reflected in physician disagreement in this survey. Only 39% of surgeons agreed that adjuvant therapy is underused in older patients, whereas 18% disagreed and 43% were neutral. Life expectancy is a function of age, comorbidity, disability, and cancer type and stage.<sup>23</sup> For some older patients, decisions to forgo adjuvant treatment may be appropriate, in particular where patient quality of life

might be significantly compromised. However, in this survey, an 80-year-old patient with no other medical problems was much less likely to be referred than a similar 60- year-old patient.

Patient age alone has also been reported to influence physicians' recommendations across other surveys.<sup>13-17</sup> An otherwise healthy 80-year-old has a life expectancy of 9 years,<sup>24</sup> and there is evidence that adjuvant chemotherapy achieves significant 5-year survival for older patients<sup>25</sup> and may not have a significant negative impact on quality of life.<sup>26</sup> The differences in the treatment of older patients perhaps stem from a more delicate issue, that is, whether treatment is worth the cost (both for the patient and as a society) for potentially little long-term gain. Certainly 20% of surgeons reported that younger patients should have preference over older patients given the limited resources of the health system. These economic considerations deserve substantial research and debate given the expected rise in the number of older patients with cancer because of population ageing. Until this occurs, the question of benefit and burden is perhaps best answered by the well-informed patient, although too frequently adjuvant therapy is not discussed with patients.<sup>27</sup>

Lack of consensus among surgeons about the treatment of older patients was a major feature of this survey. Although several surgeons noted that referral to medical oncology is mandatory, others reported not routinely referring patients over a certain age. Greater variation between referral recommendations was particularly evident where patients were older and sicker. Comorbidity is a major concern in the management of older patients, because it can have a substantial impact on treatment tolerance.<sup>28</sup> As a result, increasing comorbidity has been found to predict non-receipt of adjuvant chemotherapy in both population studies<sup>20,29</sup> and other physician surveys.<sup>15,17</sup> In this study, having a comorbid condition produced the second greatest difference in referral recommendations between an older and younger patient. Emerging evidence suggests that chemotherapy improves survival among patients with certain chronic conditions without increasing the probability

of hospitalization.<sup>30</sup> However, cohort studies do not account for inherent differences between treatment and nontreatment groups. Randomized control trials are needed to disentangle the effects of patient age, comorbidity, and other factors such as patient preference. Without this information, it is likely that physicians' views will continue to diverge,<sup>17</sup> and the individual surgeon a patient sees will be an important variable in determining whether they are referred for, and perhaps in turn receive, adjuvant therapy.

The focus on comorbidity in other physician surveys is warranted given the frequency of chronic conditions in older patients. Yet this focus tends to ignore the possible impact of other factors on treatment decision making. In this study, an older patient was much less likely to be referred for adjuvant chemotherapy than a younger patient if they lived a long distance from available treatment. Travel has been reported to affect the treatment decisions of older patients and those who do not receive chemotherapy.<sup>8</sup> Living in an urban area has also been found to independently predict chemotherapy use in patients 80 years and older.<sup>31</sup> Population-based studies have not always found this association, however,<sup>32,33</sup> and travel factors have not previously been reported to affect physicians' treatment decisions. Nevertheless, the role of structural barriers in the treatment of older patients should be further explored, in particular, in a local context.

In addition, patients with cognitive impairment, those who initially refused referral, and those who needed assistance with personal care, were the least likely to be referred for adjuvant chemotherapy overall. Krzyzanowska and colleagues<sup>17</sup> similarly found that patient preference against therapy affected physicians' recommendations, and cognitive impairment has been reported to affect patient and physician decision making for older patients with cancer.<sup>28</sup> Although other factors such as life expectancy, social support, cost, and quality of life have been reported in previous surveys,<sup>8,17</sup> this study was unique in allowing comparison between overall (absolute) barriers and age-comparative (relative) barriers. The differences between relative and absolute barriers to adjuvant therapy in this study, and the variety of factors that have been considered elsewhere, further demonstrate the complex nature of cancer treatment decisions for older patients.

The findings of this study should be interpreted in light of a number of limitations. Although necessary for the brevity of the survey, the self-reported practice section only contrasted two specific ages, and other factors that may influence referral were not included. Furthermore, any underuse of appropriate adjuvant therapy is most likely multifactorial. This study only assessed surgeons' perceived barriers to referral. If oncologists, for example, perceive fewer or different barriers to adjuvant therapy use in older patients, then variation in management could be reduced by increasing multidisciplinary planning.<sup>34</sup> The concordance between patient and physician views should also be explored further. Patient knowledge and beliefs about treatment, as well as medical mistrust, have been associated with underuse of adjuvant therapy in breast cancer.<sup>35</sup> Facilitating communication between physicians and patients, for example, through the use of decision aids,<sup>36,37</sup> may help patients make the optimal treatment decision.

Nevertheless, older patients frequently cite physician judgment as the most important factor influencing their treatment decision making.<sup>8</sup> Opinions and knowledge were highly associated with self-reported practice in this study. Because older patients are likely to follow physician advice, increasing awareness of evidence may therefore increase the rates of referral and ultimately the receipt of adjuvant therapy. Targeting specific physician groups for education is one possibility. In multivariate analysis, younger surgeons were more likely to have a greater knowledge of evidence and similar opinions toward older and younger patients. Physician age has also been reported to predict referral and receipt of adjuvant therapy in previous studies.<sup>15,35</sup> However, targeting older physicians may not have a major impact on referral rates because physician characteristics explained so little of the results. Screening tools such as the Vulnerable Elders Survey (VES- 13),<sup>38</sup> a self-administered survey that is highly predictive of impaired functional status,<sup>39</sup> could be a useful alternative to aid treatment decision making.

#### Conclusion

Chronological age alone appears to impact colorectal surgeons' decisions to refer patients for adjuvant therapy. Sociodemographic and physiological factors further decrease the likelihood of referral of older patients. The lack of consensus among surgeons suggests that more research is needed both to predict how older patients with cancer will react to treatment, and to determine how information from emerging evidence can be best used to assist physicians' treatment decisions.

#### 4.6. References

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books, 2010. http://www.aihw.gov.au/cancer/data/acim\_books/index.cfm. Accessed June 1, 2010.
- Esnaola NF, Stewart AK, Feig BW, Skibber JM, Rodriguez-Bigas MA. Age-, race-, and ethnicity-related differences in the treatment of nonmetastatic rectal cancer: a patterns of care study from the national cancer data base. Ann Surg Oncol. 2008;15: 3036–3047.
- Alam M, Gabriel G, Barton M, Eek R. Discriminating factors in treatment decisions for chemotherapy in elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Forum. 2008;32:22– 26.
- 4. Etzioni DA, El-Khoueiry AB, Beart RW Jr. Rates and predictors of chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer: a systematic review. Cancer. 2008;113:3279–3289.
- Luo R, Giordano SH, Freeman JL, Zhang D, Goodwin JS. Referral to medical oncology: a crucial step in the treatment of older patients with stage III colon cancer. Oncologist. 2006;11:1025–1033.

- Young JM, Leong DC, Armstrong K, et al. Concordance with national guidelines for colorectal cancer care in New South Wales: a population-based patterns of care study. Med J Aust. 2007;186:292–295.
- Harrison JD, Solomon MJ, Young JM, et al. Patient and physician preferences for surgical and adjuvant treatment options for rectal cancer. Arch Surg. 2008;143:389– 394.
- 8. Kutner JS, Vu KO, Prindiville SA, Byers TE. Patient age and cancer treatment decisions: patient and physician views. Cancer Pract. 2000;8:114–119.
- Salkeld G, Solomon M, Short L, Butow PN. A matter of trust patient's views on decision-making in colorectal cancer. Health Expect. 2004;7:104–114.
- 10. Kahn KL, Adams JL, Weeks JC, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy use and adverse events among older patients with stage III colon cancer. JAMA. 2010;303:1037–1045.
- 11. Papamichael D, Audisio R, Horiot JC, et al. Treatment of the elderly colorectal cancer patient: SIOG expert recommendations. Ann Oncol. 2009;20:5–16.
- 12. Ford JG, Howerton MW, Lai GY, et al. Barriers to recruiting underrepresented populations to cancer clinical trials: a systematic review. Cancer. 2008;112:228–242.
- Hurria A, Naeim A, Elkin E, et al. Adjuvant treatment recommendations in older women with breast cancer: a survey of oncologists. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2007;61:255–260.
- Hurria A, Wong FL, Villaluna D, et al. Role of age and health in treatment recommendations for older adults with breast cancer: the perspective of oncologists and primary care providers. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5386–5392.
- Keating NL, Landrum MB, Klabunde CN, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: do physicians agree about the importance of patient age and comorbidity? J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:2532–2537.

- 16. Hurria A, Wong FL, Pal S, et al. Perspectives and attitudes on the use of adjuvant chemotherapy and trastuzumab in older adults with HER-2<sup>2</sup> breast cancer: a survey of oncologists. The Oncologist. 2009;14:883–890.
- Krzyzanowska MK, Regan MM, Powell M, Earle CC, Weeks JC. Impact of patient age and comorbidity on surgeon versus oncologist preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208:202–209.
- Australian Cancer Network Colorectal Cancer Guidelines Revision Committee.
   Guidelines for the Prevention, Early Detection and Management of Colorectal
   Cancer. Sydney NSW: The Cancer Council Australia and Australian Cancer Network, 2005.
- 19. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied Logistic Regression. New York, NY: Wiley; 2000.
- 20. Ananda S, Field KM, Kosmider S, et al. Patient age and comorbidity are major determinants of adjuvant chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer in routine clinical practice. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:4516–4518.
- 21. Heig-Johnson F, Gabriel G, Kneebone A, et al. Utilization of radiotherapy for rectal cancer in Greater Western Sydney 1994-2001. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol. 2007;3:134–142.
- Feilchenfeldt J, Shah MA. How should we care for elderly cancer patients? Oncology. 2009;23:168.
- Repetto L, Comandini D, Mammoliti S. Life expectancy, comorbidity and quality of life: the treatment equation in the older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2001;37:147–152.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Life tables, Australia, 2006–2008. http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3302.0.55.001/. Accessed February 11, 2010.
- Zuckerman IH, Rapp T, Onukwugha E, et al. Effect of age on survival benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy in elderly patients with stage III colon cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57:1403–1410.

- Bouvier AM, Jooste V, Bonnetain F, et al. Adjuvant treatments do not alter the quality of life in elderly patients with colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Cancer. 2008;113:879–886.
- 27. Thwin SS, Fink AK, Lash TL, Silliman RA. Predictors and outcomes of surgeons' referral of older breast cancer patients to medical oncologists. Cancer. 2005;104:936–942.
- Pal SK, Katheria V, Hurria A. Evaluating the older patient with cancer: understanding frailty and the geriatric assessment. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010;60:120–132.
- Sarfati D, Hill S, Blakely T, et al. The effect of comorbidity on the use of adjuvant chemotherapy and survival from colon cancer: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Cancer. 2009;9:116.
- Gross CP, McAvay GJ, Guo Z, Tinetti ME. The impact of chronic illnesses on the use and effectiveness of adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. Cancer. 2007;109:2410–2419.
- 31. Hardiman KM, Cone M, Sheppard BC, Herzig DO. Disparities in the treatment of colon cancer in octogenarians. Am J Surg. 2009;197:624–628.
- Schrag D, Cramer LD, Bach PB, Begg CB. Age and adjuvant chemotherapy use after surgery for stage III colon cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001;93:850–857.
- 33. Wu X, Chen VW, Andrews PA, Chen L, Hsieh M, Fontham ET. Treatment patterns for stage III colon cancer and factors related to receipt of postoperative chemotherapy in Louisiana. J La State Med Soc. 2004;156:255–261.
- Wang J, Kuo YF, Freeman J, Goodwin JS. Increasing access to medical oncology consultation in older patients with stage IIIIIA non-small-cell lung cancer. Med Oncol. 2008;25:125–132.
- Bickell NA, Weidmann J, Fei K, Lin JJ, Leventhal H. Underuse of breast cancer adjuvant treatment: patient knowledge, beliefs, and medical mistrust. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:5160–5167.

- Butow PN, Solomon M, Young JM, et al. Consumer impact of an interactive decision aid for rectal cancer patients offered adjuvant therapy. Colorectal Dis. 2006;8:676– 682.
- Masya LM, Young JM, Solomon MJ, Harrison JD, Dennis RJ, Salkeld GP. Preferences for outcomes of treatment for rectal cancer: patient and clinician utilities and their application in an interactive computer-based decision aid. Dis Colon Rectum. 2009;52:1994–2002.
- Saliba D, Elliott M, Rubenstein LZ, et al. The Vulnerable Elders Survey: a tool for identifying vulnerable older people in the community. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2001;49:1691–1699.
- 39. Luciani A, Ascione G, Bertuzzi C, et al. Detecting disabilities in older patients with cancer: comparison between comprehensive geriatric assessment and vulnerable elders survey-13. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:2046–2050.

**Appendix 4.1.** Permission to reproduce published material

THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY MIKAELA JORGENSEN QUEEN ELIZABETH II RESEARCH INS ROOM 204 SYDNEY, NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA

Invoice # BB4405124 Customer # 000190746723 FEE: Re: , DISEASES COLON & RECTUM Spec Mat: DCR 2011;54(3):335~341 THESIS USE ONLY

#### INVOICE AND CONDITIONS

Permission is granted for your requested use. Please sign and date this form and return with payment (if applicable) in the enclosed envelope. Please retain a copy for your files. This permission is subject to the following conditions:

- A credit line will be prominently placed and include: for books the author(s), title of book, editor, copyright holder, year of publication; for journals - the author(s), title of article, title of journal, volume number, issue number and inclusive pages.
- 2) The requestor warrants that the material shall not be used in any manner which may be considered derogatory to the title, content, or authors of the material or to LWW.
- 3) Permission is granted for one time use only as specified in your correspondence. Rights herein do not apply to future reproductions, editions, revisions, or other derivative works.
- Permission granted is non-exclusive, and is valid throughout the world in the English language only.
- 5) LWW cannot supply the requestor with the original artwork or a "clean copy."
- 6) The requestor agrees to secure written permission from the author (for book material only).
- 7) Permission is valid if the borrowed material is original to a LWW imprint (Lippincott-Raven Publishers, Williams & Wilkins, Lea & Febiger, Harwal, Igaku-Shoin, Rapid Science, Little Brown and Company, Harper & Row Medical American Journal of Nursing Co, and Urban & Schwarzenberg - English Language).
- 8) Payment can be made via credit card (Amex, VISA, Discover and MC) or by check.
- 9) If you opt not to use the material requested above, please notify LWW within 90 days of the original invoice date. Please note after 90 days, LWW will not cancel/credit your request which will result into a collection issue.

Card #	 Exp	Date:
Requestor accepts:	 	Date: 21/9/13

0:00

#### Appendix 4.2. Comparison of postal and internet survey methods

Internet-based surveys have the potential to save time, effort and financial resources. With increasing professional usage of the internet by clinicians,<sup>i</sup> electronic surveys may no longer perform more poorly than traditional mailed surveys with regard to response rates and representativeness.<sup>ii</sup> Australian surgeons were randomly allocated to receive the survey described above either through the post (n=64) or through an email linked to an online survey with identical content (n=62). Both surveys included endorsements by a colorectal surgeon and the chairman of the research support committee of the CSSANZ. All New Zealand colorectal surgeons received an email invitation to the online survey (n=20), and were excluded from the present analysis. One surgeon allocated to online group requested a postal survey. Respondents were analysed as allocated.

While 77% of the postal group returned their surveys, only 65% of the internet group completed the online survey. However, these response rates were not statistically significantly different (X<sup>2</sup>[1]=1.6, p=0.19). Survey completeness was nearly 100% for both groups. 25% of all online responders had completed the survey within 2 days of the initial invitation, but there were no differences between groups in median response time overall (median [IQR] = 15 [26] days vs 16 [25] days). The characteristics of responders in the online and postal group did not differ significantly by physician age, sex, qualification, type of hospital, or survey scores (all p>0.05), although more responders in the online group practiced outside of a capital city (32% vs 24%). Internet-based surveys may therefore be an effective tool for engaging surgeons in health services research, and could be a preferred option for regional or rural surgeons.

# References

- Masters K. For what purpose and reasons do doctors use the Internet: a systematic review. Int J Med Inf 2008;77(1):4-16.
- Braithwaite D, Emery J, De Lusignan S, et al. Using the Internet to conduct surveys of health professionals: a valid alternative? Fam Pract 2003;20(5):545-51.

# Appendix 4.3. Example screenshot of online version of surgeon survey

Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer					Exit this survey >>
Section I: Evidence Please rate your level of agreement with each statement by selecting the r	nost appropriate	answer.			
Unless otherwise specified, each statement refers to people with colon can For the purposes of this survey, 'older' or 'elderly' is defined as people over	cer. 70 years of age.				
	Strongly agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
Older people derive similar benefits from adjuvant chemotherapy as younger people	0	0	0	0	0
Adjuvant chemotherapy is underutilised in elderly patients	0	0	0	0	0
The risk of toxicity from adjuvant chemotherapy increases with age	0	0	0	0	0
All patients with node positive colon cancer should be <u>considered</u> for adjuvant chemotherapy regardless of age	0	0	0	C	0
Adjuvant chemotherapy has a greater impact on the quality of life of older people than younger people	0	0	0	0	0
Preoperative radiotherapy, either alone or as combined modality therapy, is appropriate for the treatment of high-risk (T3/4 or N1) rectal cancer	r O	0	0	0	0
Elderly patients with high-risk (T3/4 or N1) rectal cancer should be <u>considered</u> for preoperative radiotherapy, either alone or as combined modality therapy	0	0	0	0	0
Any other comments:					
A P					
2/7					
<< Prev	Next >>				

# Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer



This survey aims to gather information about the opinions of colorectal surgeons regarding referral for and use of adjuvant therapy for older patients with colorectal cancer.

The survey has 5 sections and should take about 10 minutes to complete.

#### Thank you for your time.

#### Section I: Evidence

Please rate your level of agreement with each statement by ticking the most appropriate box. Unless otherwise specified, each statement refers to people with colon cancer. For the purposes of this survey, 'older' or 'elderly' is defined as people over 70 years of age.

	Strongly agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly disagree
Older people derive similar benefits from adjuvant chemotherapy as younger people					
Adjuvant chemotherapy is underutilised in elderly patients					
The risk of toxicity from adjuvant chemotherapy increases with age					
All patients with node positive colon cancer should be <u>considered</u> for adjuvant chemotherapy regardless of age					
Adjuvant chemotherapy has a greater impact on the quality of life of older people than younger people					
Preoperative radiotherapy, either alone or as combined modality therapy, is appropriate for the treatment of high-risk (T3/4 or N1) rectal cancer					
Elderly patients with high-risk (T3/4 or N1) rectal cancer should be <u>considered</u> for preoperative radiotherapy, either alone or as combined modality therapy					

#### Any other comments:



# Section II: Opinions

Please rate your level of agreement with each statement by ticking the most appropriate box. Unless otherwise specified, each statement refers to people with colon cancer. For the purposes of this survey, 'older' or 'elderly' is defined as people over 70 years of age.

	Strongly agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly disagree
For the elderly, the side effects of adjuvant chemotherapy are generally not worth the benefits					
Older people often prefer less aggressive treatment to younger people					
The recommendations for the management of elderly patients in the national Clinical Practice Guidelines for Colorectal Cancer should be more explicit					
Considering the limited resources of the health system, younger patients should have preference over the elderly for adjuvant chemotherapy					
There is adequate evidence to justify the use of adjuvant chemotherapy in the elderly					
Older people generally prefer the physician to make treatment choices for them					
There is adequate evidence to justify the use of preoperative radiotherapy in the elderly with high-risk rectal cancer					

Do you believe there is an upper age limit after which adjuvant chemotherapy is no longer worthwhile?

□ No □ Yes

If yes, please specify this upper age limit:

#### Any other comments:

2 of 5

#### Section III: Scenarios

The following questions ask you to indicate how likely you would be to refer a patient for adjuvant chemotherapy in a number of scenarios. Please circle the number (0 - 10) that best describes how likely you would be to refer.

# How likely would you be to refer a <u>60-year-old</u> patient with node positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy in each of the following situations:

	Definitel would no refer	y ot								De	efinitely <i>would</i> refer
The patient has no other medical problems	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient refuses referral initially	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has an ASA status of III (e.g. controlled congestive heart failure	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient needs some assistance wir personal care (e.g. bathing, dressing)	th O	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has no close family or friends to support them	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient lives 300km from the nearest available treatment facility	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has some degree of cognitive impairment (i.e. needs some help with daily tasks)	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient may have difficulty coping with additional medical costs or loss of income	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

3 of 5

#### Section IV: More scenarios

Please circle the number (0 - 10) that best describes how likely you would be to refer.

# How likely would you be to refer an <u>80-year-old</u> patient with node positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy in each of the following situations:

	Definitel would no refer	y ot								De	efinitely <i>would</i> refer
The patient has no other medical problems	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient refuses referral initially	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has an ASA status of III (e.g. controlled congestive heart failure	0 ?)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient needs some assistance wir personal care (e.g. bathing, dressing)	th O	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has no close family or friends to support them	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient lives 300km from the nearest available treatment facility	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient has some degree of cognitive impairment (i.e. needs some help with daily tasks)	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
The patient may have difficulty coping with additional medical costs or loss of income	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Are there any other factors that you may take into consideration when deciding whether or not to refer a patient for adjuvant chemotherapy?

4 of 5
achieved a representative sample	e and your p e.	years	we can determine whether we	Πανθ
Are you	Male		Female	
Which of the following best desc	cribes the lo	cation in whic	h you practice?	
Capital city		Oth	ner major urban area	
Rural area		Oth	ner, please specify	
What type of appointment do yo	u have?			
Conjoint Staff/Academic	Y / N	VN	10/Consultant	Y /
Staff specialist	Y / N	Sa	laried University Academic	Y /
Other, please specify				
Where do you perform the major	rity of your	hospital work?	•	
Tertiary referral teaching hospital		Dis	strict general hospital	
Rural hospital		Pri	vate hospital	
Other, please specify				
Do you attend multidisciplinary	team meetir	ngs for colored	tal cancer patients?	
Often		So	metimes	
Never		No	t available	
Does your hospital have on-site	chemother	apy or radiothe	erapy services?	
Chemotherapy	Y / N	Ra	diotherapy	Y /
Any other commenter				

## THANKYOU VERY MUCH FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE

Surgical Outcomes Research Centre (SOuRCe) Postal Address: PO Box M157, Missenden Rd, NSW 2050

5 of 5

# **5** The patient

In Chapter 4, factors affecting colorectal surgeons' decisions to refer older patients for adjuvant therapy were explored. Surgeons placed emphasis on practical barriers to treatment such as travel distance, as well as on patients' chronological age, social support and health status. This chapter investigates patient-based barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use through a self-administered survey of colorectal cancer patients. Although the strength of patients' preferences has been explored previously, less is known about the processes that influence these preferences. The survey aimed to identify factors that uniquely affect older patients' decisions to undergo treatment, including preferences for information and involvement in treatment decision making. A copy of the patient survey is available in <u>Appendix 5.2</u>.

## This chapter is presented as the following paper:

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions. Patient Preference and Adherence 2013; 7: 827-34.

Available: <u>http://www.dovepress.com/articles.php?article\_id=14146</u>

## **CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT**

## Dear co-authors,

**RE:** Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions. Patient Preference and Adherence 2013; 7: 827-834.

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

## Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the study and survey, collected the data, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM designed the study, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ designed the study, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,



## Mikaela Jorgensen

Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions

## 5.1. Abstract

PURPOSE: Older colorectal cancer patients are significantly less likely than younger patients to receive guideline-recommended adjuvant chemotherapy. Previous research has indicated that patient refusal of treatment is a contributing factor. This study aimed to identify potential barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use in older patients by examining the associations between patient age, factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions, and preferences for information and decision-making involvement.

METHODS AND RESULTS: Sixty-eight patients who underwent surgery for colorectal cancer in Sydney, Australia, within the previous 24 months completed a self-administered survey. Fear of dying, health status, age, quality of life, and understanding treatment procedures and effects were significantly more important to older patients (aged ≥65 years) than younger patients in deciding whether to accept chemotherapy (all p<0.05). Reducing the risk of cancer returning and physician trust were important factors for all patients. Practical barriers such as traveling for treatment and cost were rated lowest. Older patients preferred less information and involvement in treatment decision making than younger patients. However, 60% of the older group wanted detailed information about chemotherapy, and 83% wanted some involvement in decision making. Those preferring less information and involvement still rated many factors as important in their decision making, including understanding treatment procedures and effects.

CONCLUSION: A range of factors appears to influence patients' chemotherapy decision making, including, but not limited to, survival benefits and treatment toxicity. For older patients, balancing the risks and benefits of treatment may be made more complex by the impact of emotional motivators, greater health concerns, and conflicts between their need for understanding and their information and decision-making preferences. Through greater understanding of perceived barriers and motivators for treatment choice, physicians may be better able to support older patients to make informed decisions about their care.

Reprinted from Patient Preference and Adherence, Volume 7, Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ, Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions, pp 827-834, Copyright 2013, with permission from Dove Medical Press Ltd.

## 5.2. Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second most commonly diagnosed cancer in Australia, with those aged over 65 years accounting for two-thirds of all cases.<sup>1</sup> Current clinical practice guidelines for CRC state that advanced age alone should not be used to exclude patients from being offered effective treatment.<sup>2</sup> For fit older patients, adjuvant chemotherapy appears to achieve similar survival benefits with no greater toxicity than for younger patients.<sup>3,4</sup> However, older patients are significantly less likely to be referred for and receive guideline-recommended adjuvant chemotherapy, even after adjusting for age-related factors such as comorbidity.<sup>5-7</sup> While patient age is reported to be a strong influence of both surgeons' and oncologists' recommendations for chemotherapy,<sup>8-10</sup> patient-based factors also appear to contribute to differences in treatment rates. A proportion of patients refuse adjuvant chemotherapy, and these patients are significantly more likely to be older than those who accept treatment.<sup>5,11,12</sup>

Patients' preferences for chemotherapy in CRC have previously been examined by determining the amount of life cancer patients are willing to forgo to avoid treatment,<sup>13</sup> the survival benefit needed to make chemotherapy worthwhile,<sup>14</sup> and the recurrence rate at which patients will change their preference from surgery alone to surgery plus chemoradiation.<sup>15</sup> Although the strength of patients' preferences has been explored, less is known about the processes that influence these preferences. Treatment-related determinants (eg, treatment benefits and toxicities) and patient characteristics appear to only partially explain cancer patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy.<sup>16</sup> Patient age is not a consistent predictor of preferences,<sup>16,17</sup> yet the higher rate of treatment refusal in older cancer patients implies age differences in treatment decision making. As treatment

decisions are often made in the highly stressful period following cancer diagnosis, cognitive and affective determinants such as fear have been suggested as possible predictors.<sup>16</sup>

A range of other factors that may influence patients' chemotherapy decisions has also been proposed, for example, physician opinion, family support, and quality of life (QOL). Such factors have been explored in a qualitative study of older patients with breast cancer<sup>18</sup> and a survey of older patients with colon cancer.<sup>19</sup> However, these studies involved only patients aged 65 years and over, making it difficult to determine whether the reported factors actually distinguish the decision-making processes of older patients from younger patients. Other research involving cancer patients of all ages<sup>20,21</sup> does not focus on determining age differences in treatment decision making. Greater understanding of factors that uniquely affect older patients' decisions to undergo treatment is needed to ensure optimal treatment and outcomes.

Preferences for information and decision making might also affect patients' decisions to accept treatment. Older patients appear to be at greater risk of being inadequately informed about their cancer and treatment, as they generally prefer to receive less information and to be less actively involved in making treatment decisions than younger patients.<sup>22,23</sup> Physicians may also underestimate the absolute numbers of older patients who prefer to be fully informed and involved in decision making, as patient age is often reported solely as a predictor of preferences.<sup>21,24</sup> In a study of CRC patients aged over 70 years, about half preferred an active or collaborative role in treatment decision making.<sup>25</sup> It has also been suggested that older people want specific information about treatment and side effects.<sup>26</sup> To create a more complete picture of older patients' decision making, age differences in specific chemotherapy preferences and their relationship to other influencing factors should be determined.

Thus, the aim of this study was to identify potential barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use in older patients by examining the associations between patient age, factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions, and preferences for information and involvement in treatment decision making.

## 5.3. Materials and methods

## Participants

Participants were recruited from a single tertiary referral hospital in Sydney, Australia. Patients aged over 18 years who had been admitted for CRC surgery within the previous 24 months were invited to participate either during their hospital stay or during a follow-up appointment with their surgeon. Eligible patients had sufficient English skills to participate, did not have cognitive impairment, and were not currently receiving chemotherapy. A surgical team member provided the researchers with the details of patients who gave their consent to be approached. Patients were given written information and the survey to complete in their own time. Those who received the survey during a follow-up appointment were provided with a reply-paid envelope, and non-responders were contacted at 2 weeks and 4 weeks. The study was approved by the Sydney South West Area Health Service Ethics Review Committee.

## Survey instrument

A self-administered survey was developed to determine CRC patients' views on factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions, preferences for treatment information, and preferences for involvement in treatment decision making.

Using a 10 cm visual analog scale, participants were asked to rate how important various factors were (or would be) when deciding about chemotherapy treatment. The list of factors was based on a literature review and included items about survival, health impacts, opinion of others, practical barriers (eg, cost), and cognitive/affective aspects (eg, fear). Information preferences were measured using a modified version of the validated Cassileth Information Styles Questionnaire.<sup>27</sup> Participants were asked to choose a statement that best described their general attitude toward information regarding their illness, as well as specific preferences for chemotherapy information, such as side effects, treatment progress, and effectiveness in other patients. Decision-making preferences were measured

using the Degner and Sloan scale,<sup>28</sup> where participants can choose between five decisionmaking styles. Participant characteristics (eg, age, sex, education, and comorbidity) were also obtained.

## Data analysis

For the purposes of this analysis, participants were divided into "younger" (<65 years) and "older" ( $\geq$ 65 years). The age of 65 years was selected to divide the sample because (1) the median age of the sample was 66 years, and (2) this cut-off is frequently used to define older age.<sup>29</sup>

## Factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions

A score for each factor was produced by measuring the distance from the lowest anchor point to the point that the participant marked on the scale, to the nearest half centimeter. To determine whether the importance of each factor differed significantly by age, mean scores for the older group were compared with mean scores for the younger group, using independent-samples t-tests. Mann-Whitney rank sum tests were also performed to determine whether any skewing to the high end of the scale affected these results. Because treatment preferences appear to become more favorable after the decision has been made to proceed with adjuvant chemotherapy,<sup>30</sup> multiple regression was used to assess whether any age differences in the importance of factors remained significant after adjusting for received or planned adjuvant chemotherapy.

Mean scores were also used to rank the overall importance of factors in chemotherapy decision making. Factors were tabulated by highest to lowest importance for the older age group. As a measure of complexity of decision making, the mean number of factors that participants rated as "important" was calculated. Factors with a rating over 5 were considered "important," as this was the midpoint value of the visual analog scale ("not at all important" to "very important").

## Preferences for information and involvement in decision making

X<sup>2</sup> tests were used to examine age differences in information and decision-making preferences. Participants could select from four possible responses for their preferences for general information about illness. The proportions of older and younger participants who preferred as much information as possible about their illness were compared. Eight questions assessed specific preferences for chemotherapy information. The difference in the proportions of younger and older participants who reported that they "needed" or "wanted" all detailed chemotherapy information was examined. There were five options for preferred level of involvement in treatment decision making. The proportions of older and younger participants preferring active or collaborative decision-making roles were compared.<sup>28</sup>

## Associations between preferences and factors influencing decisions

Specific associations between information and decision-making preferences and factors influencing decisions were examined. To determine whether those who preferred minimal treatment information felt that understanding was still important in their decision making, the mean of the two factors about understanding ("understanding what is going to happen during treatment" and "understanding the benefits and side effects") was calculated for all participants. A t-test was used to compare these mean scores between those who preferred not to have detailed information about chemotherapy and those who did.

To determine whether those who preferred less involvement in decision making still considered a range of factors when making treatment decisions, the mean number of factors rated as "important" (mean score >5 on a 10-point visual analog scale) was compared between those who preferred a passive role and those who preferred an active/collaborative role, using a t-test.

## 5.4. Results

Of 75 patients with CRC who consented to participate in the study, 68 returned the survey (91%). The participants ranged in age from 25 years to 82 years, with a mean age of 64 years. More participants were male and most spoke English at home (see Table 1 for further details). Nonparticipants did not differ significantly from participants for any of the characteristics listed in Table 1, though nonparticipants were slightly older (67 years versus 64 years).

	Older group	Younger group	
Characteristic	n (%)	n (%)	P-value <sup>*</sup>
Total participants	35 (51)	33 (49)	
Age in years (mean/SD)	73.9 (4.8)	53.6 (9.1)	
Male	22 (63)	17 (52)	0.34
English spoken at home	25 (71)	28 (85)	0.18
High school or tertiary	14 (40)	24 (73)	0.007
Employed full or part time	5 (14)	22 (67)	<0.001
Private health insurance	16 (46)	20 (61)	0.22
Lives alone	14 (40)	5 (15)	0.02
One or more comorbidities	27 (77)	14 (42)	
Site of cancer			0.32
Colon	20 (57)	14 (42)	
Rectum	13 (37)	17 (51)	
Dukes stage of cancer			0.79
A	5 (14)	4 (12)	
В	14 (40)	11 (33)	
C	11 (31)	12 (36)	
D	2 (6)	1 (3)	
Adjuvant chemotherapy (received or planned)	10 (29)	17 (51)	0.08

**Table 1.** Characteristics of colorectal cancer patients responding to survey

<sup>a</sup>P-values based on X<sup>2</sup> tests. *Abbreviation:* SD, standard deviation.

## Factors influencing chemotherapy treatment decisions

Six factors were significantly more important to older patients than younger patients in deciding whether to have chemotherapy: "fear of dying from cancer" (t[66]=7.07; p<0.001), "how unwell I am to start with" (t[66]=3.87; p<0.001), "how old I am" (t[63]=2.87; p=0.006), "maintaining a good QOL during treatment" (t[66]=2.94; p=0.005), "understanding the benefits and side effects" (t[66]=2.87; p=0.005), and "understanding what is going to happen during treatment" (t[66]=2.95; p=0.004). After adjusting for received or planned chemotherapy, all of these factors remained significant except for "how old I am" (p=0.07).

"Reducing the risk of the cancer coming back" was the most highly rated item, on average, for both older and younger groups (see Table 2). "Having a doctor whose expertise I trust" and "having a doctor whom I feel comfortable asking questions of" both rated very highly. Another factor rated highly by both groups was "returning to my normal QOL after treatment." Factors of lowest importance were also comparable between age groups. Traveling for treatment and treatment cost and duration were rated low by both older and younger patients, and "avoiding side effects" and "the opinion of my family" were also of low importance.

On average, both groups rated nearly all of the 22 factors as "important" in chemotherapy decision making (ie, mean score >5 on a 10-point visual analog scale). The older group rated more factors as "important" (mean [standard deviation {SD}] = 18.1 [3.1]) than the younger group (mean [SD] = 16.7 [3.6]) and had a slightly higher mean score for the importance of all factors (8.0 versus 7.4), but these differences were not significant.

Factor	Older group, mean (SD)	Younger group, mean (SD)	P-value <sup>b</sup>
Reducing the risk of the cancer coming back	9.3 (0.5)	9.3 (0.8)	0.44
Having a doctor whose expertise I trust	9.2 (0.5)	9.2 (0.6)	0.49
Understanding the benefits and side effects	9.2 (0.7)	8.5 (1.3)	0.02
Understanding what is going to happen during treatment	9.2 (0.6)	8.1 (2.2)	0.02
Returning to my normal QOL after treatment	9.1 (0.6)	9.3 (0.8)	0.10
Having a doctor who I feel comfortable asking questions	9.1 (0.6)	9.0 (1.0)	0.68
Maintaining a good QOL during treatment	9.1 (0.7)	8.1 (2.0)	0.04
The recommendation of the doctor	9.0 (0.9)	8.6 (1.2)	0.19
Increasing my chance of living longer	8.9 (1.3)	8.5 (1.6)	0.17
Doing everything possible to fight the cancer	8.9 (1.3)	8.4 (2.7)	0.71
Fear of dying from cancer	8.9 (1.3)	4.8 (3.2)	<0.001
How unwell I am to start with	8.5 (1.5)	6.0 (3.6)	0.03
Having someone to look after me during treatment	7.9 (2.5)	6.8 (2.8)	0.13
Maintaining my independence	7.8 (2.5)	8.4 (1.5)	0.70
Being able to look after significant others	7.5 (3.1)	7.5 (2.5)	0.97
How old I am	7.5 (3.1)	5.0 (3.8)	0.009
Having time to decide about treatment	7.3 (2.9)	7.7 (2.9)	0.28
Avoiding side effects	6.7 (3.2)	6.2 (3.3)	0.45
The opinion of my family	6.7 (3.6)	6.0 (3.0)	0.21
Total duration of the treatment	5.8 (3.3)	6.8 (3.5)	0.25
Cost of treatment	5.5 (3.6)	5.5 (3.6)	0.81
How far I would have to travel for treatment	3.8 (2.8)	5.5 (4.0)	0.05
Mean score of all factors	8.0 (1.0)	7.4 (1.4)	0.27

# **Table 2.** Factors of importance in chemotherapy decision making<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Ranked highest to lowest for older group, based on 10-point visual analog scale;

<sup>b</sup>P-values based on Mann-Whitney rank sum tests. *Abbreviation:* SD, standard deviation.

## Preferences for information and involvement in decision making

Fifty percent of older participants preferred to have as much information as possible about their illness, compared with 76% of younger participants ( $\chi^2$ [1]=4.75, p=0.03). However, the majority of the older group reported wanting or needing as much detailed information about chemotherapy as possible (60%), and this proportion was not significantly different from the younger group (76%) ( $\chi^2$ [1]=1.93, p=0.17). Most patients from both the older and younger groups had a preference for some degree of involvement in decision making (83% and 91%, respectively); no one expressed a preference for sole decision making. Although a greater proportion of younger participants preferred an active/collaborative role than older participants, this difference was not significant ( $\chi^2$ [1]=2.37, p=0.12). These results are summarized in Table 3.

	Older group, n (%)	Younger group, n (%)	P-value <sup>a</sup>
Preference for information about illness:			0.03
As much information as possible, good and bad <sup>b</sup>	17 (50)	25 (76)	
Only the information needed to care for self properly	4 (12)	6 (18)	
Additional information only if it is good news	3 (9)	0 (0)	
Leave it up to the doctor	10 (29)	2 (6)	
Preference for detailed information about chemotherapy:			0.17
Would like or needs to have all detailed information ${}^{\mathrm{b}}$	21 (60)	25 (76)	
Does not want all detailed information	14 (40)	8 (24)	
Preference for treatment decision making:			0.12
Shared responsibility with doctor for decisions <sup>b</sup>	13 (37)	14 (42)	
Select treatment by self after seriously considering doctor's opinion <sup>b</sup>	5 (14)	9 (27)	
Make final selection of treatment by self <sup>b</sup>	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Doctor makes final decision but considers their opinion	11 (31)	7 (21)	
Leave all decisions about treatment to doctor	6 (17)	3 (9)	

Table 3. Patient preferences for information and involvement in decision making

 $^aP\text{-values}$  based on  $\chi^2$  tests;  $^b$  indicates grouping for significance testing of proportions.

## Associations between preferences and factors influencing decisions

Participants who preferred to have detailed information about chemotherapy rated the understanding of treatment procedures and their effects as significantly more important in their decision making than those who preferred not to have detailed information (mean [SD] = 9.1 [0.9] versus 8.2 [1.7], p=0.04). However, the high mean score (8.2) for those preferring not to have detailed information indicates that understanding treatment procedures and effects was still important for these participants.

Those who expressed a preference for involvement in decision making rated significantly more factors as "important" than those who preferred to leave all decisions about treatment to the doctor (mean [SD] = 17.8 [3.2] versus 14.9 [3.4], p=0.01). Although a significant difference, participants preferring to leave all decisions to the doctor still rated a mean 15 of 22 factors as "important" in their decision making.

## 5.5. Discussion

In this study, fear of dying, health status, age, QOL, and understanding treatment and its benefits and side effects were significantly more important to older patients than younger patients in deciding whether to accept chemotherapy. Reducing cancer recurrence and physician trust were highly important to both age groups, and practical barriers such as travel and cost were of low importance. Older patients preferred less information and less involvement in treatment decision making than younger patients. However, 60% of the older group still wanted detailed information about chemotherapy, and 83% wanted some degree of involvement in treatment decision making. Those preferring less information and less involvement in decision making still rated many factors as important in their decision making, including understanding treatment procedures and effects.

Much of the literature that investigates patient preferences for chemotherapy focuses on weighing survival benefit against treatment toxicity.<sup>31</sup> That these preferences are difficult to predict on the basis of patient or treatment characteristics implies that other factors

may influence patients' decisions to accept treatment.<sup>16</sup> In our study, fear of dying was significantly more important to older patients than younger patients in deciding whether to have chemotherapy. Fear has been noted in other studies as both a barrier to adjuvant chemotherapy use<sup>20</sup> and a factor involved in decision making generally.<sup>32</sup> Although fear of death is typically reported to decrease with age,<sup>33</sup> the greater fear of dying from cancer for older people in this study could stem from a historical belief that no treatment will work against cancer. This is a major concern, as those with higher levels of fear are more likely to avoid cancer information<sup>34</sup> that could actually help to dispel negative expectations about chemotherapy use and cancer survival.

Attitudes toward ageing may be another cognitive/affective factor influencing treatment decisions. In our study, age was significantly more important in chemotherapy decision making for older patients than younger patients. Older physicians also appear to place greater importance on patient age than younger physicians.<sup>8,10</sup> Although age alone may be an important consideration for the oldest old, even those aged 80-84 years can experience treatment-associated survival benefit,<sup>35</sup> and current evidence supports the safety of adjuvant chemotherapy in fit older patients.<sup>4</sup> Attitudes toward older age and treatment may change with the ageing of the "baby boomer" generation, as this group appears to have high expectations for their health, longevity, and care.<sup>36</sup> Until such a time, ensuring that both patients and physicians are aware of current research on the effectiveness of adjuvant chemotherapy for older adults could help to reduce the impact of attitudes on treatment receipt.

Practical barriers such as cost, duration, and traveling for treatment were factors of low importance for both older and younger participants in our study. Cost and travel were also factors that least influenced chemotherapy decisions in a previous survey of older patients with colon cancer.<sup>19</sup> However, in a self-reported practice survey, traveling a long distance for adjuvant chemotherapy was the factor that most decreased the likelihood that surgeons would refer an older patient compared with a younger patient.<sup>8</sup> Physician and

patient views frequently differ in many aspects of treatment decision making.<sup>13,19,25</sup> As emotional motivators appear to play a large role in patient preferences, and practical considerations such a small one, the question then arises whether patients are best placed to make difficult treatment decisions at such a highly stressful time. On the other hand, physicians may also make decisions based on their own attitudes, under the pressure of a finite health system where the benefits to older patients are much less clearly defined. Given the expected rise in the number of cancer cases due to population ageing, these motivational and economic considerations deserve substantial attention.

Many of the other findings in this study are comparable to those of previous research in treatment decision making. Trust in the physician and physician recommendation, rated highly by the participants in our study, are often reported as important factors influencing treatment decisions.<sup>19,21</sup> Reducing recurrence and increasing survival are the benefits against which risks are commonly weighed in patient preference studies, and these were factors that both age groups rated highly in our study. Function preservation and maintenance of QOL represent major goals for an increasing proportion of older patients.<sup>37</sup> In our study, QOL and health status were indeed factors that older patients considered more important in their decision making than younger patients. Comorbid health status is similarly a key consideration in the treatment decisions of physicians.<sup>8-10</sup> Although emerging evidence suggests that adjuvant chemotherapy does not substantially alter the QOL of older patients<sup>38</sup> and can provide a significant survival benefit in some chronic conditions,<sup>39</sup> further research is needed if QOL and comorbidity are to cease being barriers to treatment.

The preferences of older patients for information and involvement in decision making may also create a barrier to adjuvant chemotherapy use. Older patients are generally reported to prefer less information than younger patients and to prefer a more passive role in treatment decision making.<sup>22,23</sup> This was the case in our study, with 40% not wanting detailed information about chemotherapy and 17% wanting to leave all treatment

decisions to the doctor. However, older patients were actually significantly more likely than younger patients to report that both understanding treatment procedures and understanding treatment benefits and side effects were important factors in decision making. In addition, those participants preferring not to be involved in decision making still rated 15 of 22 factors as important considerations. Similar paradoxes have been reported elsewhere,<sup>24,26</sup> and may help to explain why physicians have difficulty predicting patient preferences.<sup>25</sup> It has been suggested that patients seek to understand the rationale behind doctors' recommendations rather than to make decisions themselves.<sup>40</sup> Given that older patients have greater difficulty understanding and remembering the information they receive<sup>24,41</sup> and may not feel comfortable asking questions of their physicians,<sup>23</sup> the responsibility for ensuring that all patients are adequately informed and involved likely lies with physicians. Decision aids may be useful in increasing understanding, even where patients prefer a passive role in treatment decision making.<sup>42</sup>

This was a relatively small single-site study, and the results should be interpreted with caution. None of the participants in our study refused chemotherapy, and therefore insights into actual barriers for this population could not be explored. Nevertheless, the results largely match previous findings about the decision-making processes of older adults and further illuminate specific age differences in CRC patients' treatment decisions.

## Conclusion

A range of factors appears to influence patients' chemotherapy decision making, including, but not limited to, survival benefits and treatment toxicity. For older patients, balancing the risks and benefits of treatment may be made more complex by the impact of emotional motivators, greater health concerns, and conflicts between their need for understanding and their preferences for information and involvement in decision making. The variability in perceived barriers to treatment and preferences for information and involvement demonstrates the need for explicit and individualized assessment of both of these areas. Without formal assessment, physicians might assume that older patients would not travel

for adjuvant chemotherapy or that they do not want information on their prognosis and treatment. Through greater understanding of perceived barriers to treatment and unique motivators for treatment choice, older patients may be better supported to make fully informed decisions about their care.

## Acknowledgments

Thank you to all participants who took part in this research study, and to the members of their surgical teams. Mikaela L Jorgensen was supported by a postgraduate scholarship from the Cancer Institute NSW.

## 5.6. References

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) books. Canberra, Australia: AIHW; 2012. Available from: http://www.aihw.gov.au/acim-books/. Accessed July 22, 2013.
- Australian Cancer Network Colorectal Cancer Guidelines Revision Committee.
   Guidelines for the prevention, early detection and management of colorectal cancer.
   Sydney, Australia: The Cancer Council Australia and Australian Cancer Network;
   2005.
- Sargent DJ, Goldberg RM, Jacobson SD, et al. A pooled analysis of adjuvant chemotherapy for resected colon cancer in elderly patients. N Engl J Med. 2001;345(15):1091–1097.
- Papamichael D, Audisio R, Horiot JC, et al. Treatment of the elderly colorectal cancer patient: SIOG expert recommendations. Ann Oncol. 2009;20(1):5–16.
- Ananda S, Field KM, Kosmider S, et al. Patient age and comorbidity are major determinants of adjuvant chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer in routine clinical practice. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(27): 4516–4517.
- Etzioni DA, El-Khoueiry AB, Beart RW. Rates and predictors of chemotherapy use for stage III colon cancer: a systematic review. Cancer. 2008;113(12):3279–3289.

- Quipourt V, Jooste V, Cottet V, Faivre J, Bouvier A. Comorbidities alone do not explain the undertreatment of colorectal cancer in older adults: a French populationbased study. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(4): 694–698.
- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(3):335–341.
- Krzyzanowska MK, Regan MM, Powell M, Earle CC, Weeks JC. Impact of patient age and comorbidity on surgeon versus oncologist preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;208(2):202–209.
- Keating NL, Landrum MB, Klabunde CN, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: do physicians agree about the importance of patient age and comorbidity? J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(15): 2532–2537.
- 11. Landrum MB, Keating NL, Lamont EB, Bozeman SR, McNeil BJ. Reasons for underuse of recommended therapies for colorectal and lung cancer in the Veterans Health Administration. Cancer. 2012;118(13): 3345–3355.
- 12. El Shayeb M, Scarfe A, Yasui Y, Winget M. Reasons physicians do not recommend and patients refuse adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: a population based chart review. BMC Res Notes. 2012;7(5):269.
- Harrison JD, Solomon MJ, Young JM, et al. Patient and physician preferences for surgical and adjuvant treatment options for rectal cancer. Arch Surg. 2008;143(4):389–394.
- 14. Blinman P, Duric V, Nowak AK, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy for early colon cancer: what survival benefits make it worthwhile? Eur J Cancer. 2010;46(10):1800–1807.
- 15. Couture J, Chan R, Bouharaoui F. Patient's preferences for adjuvant postoperative chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 2005;48(11):2055–2060.
- Jansen SJ, Otten W, Stiggelbout AM. Review of determinants of patients' preferences for adjuvant therapy in cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(15):3181–3190.

- Stiggelbout AM, De Haes JCJM. Patient preference for cancer therapy: an overview of measurement approaches. J Clin Oncol. 2001;19(1): 220–230.
- Kreling B, Figueiredo MI, Sheppard VL, Mandelblatt JS. A qualitative study of factors affecting chemotherapy use in older women with breast cancer: barriers, promoters, and implications for intervention. Psychooncology. 2006;15(12):1065–1076.
- 19. Kutner JS, Vu KO, Prindiville SA, Byers TE. Patient age and cancer treatment decisions. Patient and physician views. Cancer Pract. 2000;8(3):114–119.
- Bickell NA, Cohen A. Understanding reasons for underuse: an approach to improve quality and reduce disparities in breast cancer treatment. Mt Sinai J Med.
   2008;75(1):23–30.
- 21. Salkeld G, Solomon M, Short L, Butow PN. A matter of trust: patient's views on decision-making in colorectal cancer. Health Expect. 2004;7(2):104–114.
- Pinquart M, Duberstein PR. Information needs and decision-making processes in older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2004;51(1):69–80.
- Ankem K. Factors influencing information needs among cancer patients: a metaanalysis. Libr Inf Sci Res. 2006;28(1):7–23.
- Beaver K, Campbell M, Craven O, Jones D, Luker KA, Susnerwala SS. Colorectal cancer patients' attitudes towards involvement in decision making. Health Expect. 2009;12(1):27–37.
- Elkin EB, Kim SH, Casper ES, Kissane DW, Schrag D. Desire for information and involvement in treatment decisions: elderly cancer patients' preferences and their physicians' perceptions. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(33):5275–5280.
- Jenkins V, Fallowfield L, Saul J. Information needs of patients with cancer: results from a large study in UK cancer centres. Br J Cancer. 2001;84(1):48–51.
- Cassileth BR, Zupkis RV, Sutton-Smith K, March V. Information and participation preferences among cancer patients. Ann Intern Med. 1980;92(6):832–836.

- Degner LF, Sloan JA. Decision making during serious illness: what role do patients really want to play? J Clin Epidemiol. 1992;45(9):941–950.
- Orimo H, Ito H, Suzuki T, Araki A, Hosoi T, Sawabe M. Reviewing the definition of "elderly". Geriatr Gerontol Int. 2006;6(3):149–158.
- 30. Jansen SJ, Otten W, Baas-Thijssen MC, CJ VDV, Nortier HW, Stiggelbout AM. Stability of preferences with regard to adjuvant chemotherapy: impact of treatment decision, experience and the passing of time. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2008;17(1):74–83.
- Blinman P, King M, Norman R, Viney R, Stockler MR. Preferences for cancer treatments: an overview of methods and applications in oncology. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(5):1104–1110.
- Zafar SY, Alexander SC, Weinfurt KP, Schulman KA, Abernethy AP. Decision making and quality of life in the treatment of cancer: a review. Support Care Cancer. 2009;17(2):117–127.
- Russac RJ, Gatliff C, Reece M, Spottswood D. Death anxiety across the adult years: an examination of age and gender effects. Death Stud. 2007;31(6):549–561.
- Miles A, Voorwinden S, Chapman S, Wardle J. Psychologic predictors of cancer information avoidance among older adults: the role of cancer fear and fatalism. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2008;17(8): 1872–1879.
- Zuckerman IH, Rapp T, Onukwugha E, et al. Effect of age on survival benefit of adjuvant chemotherapy in elderly patients with stage III colon cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57(8):1403–1410.
- Quine S, Carter S. Australian baby boomers' expectations and plans for their old age. Australas J Ageing. 2006;25(1):3–8.
- Repetto L, Comandini D, Mammoliti S. Life expectancy, comorbidity and quality of life: the treatment equation in the older cancer patients. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2001;37(2):147–152.

- Bouvier AM, Jooste V, Bonnetain F, et al. Adjuvant treatments do not alter the quality of life in elderly patients with colorectal cancer: a population-based study. Cancer. 2008;113(4):879–886.
- Gross CP, McAvay GJ, Guo Z, Tinetti ME. The impact of chronic illnesses on the use and effectiveness of adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. Cancer. 2007;109(12):2410–2419.
- 40. Beaver K, Jones D, Susnerwala S, et al. Exploring the decision-making preferences of people with colorectal cancer. Health Expect. 2005;8(2): 103–113.
- 41. Posma ER, van Weert JCM, Jansen J, Bensing JM. Older cancer patients' information and support needs surrounding treatment: an evaluation through the eyes of patients, relatives and professionals. BMC Nursing. 2009;8:1.
- Butow PN, Solomon M, Young JM, et al. Consumer impact of an interactive decision aid for rectal cancer patients offered adjuvant therapy. Colorectal Dis. 2006;8(8):676–682.

## Appendix 5.1. Permission to reproduce published material

From:	Jeanette
To:	Mikaela Jorgensen
Subject:	RE: Permission to use final electronic version of published article in thesis
Date:	Monday, 2 September 2013 2:59:28 PM

## Dear Mikaela

Thank you for your request below for permission regarding your paper 'Adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer: age differences in factors influencing patients' treatment decisions'.

We grant permission for the use stated as long as there is a suitable acknowledgement to the source, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows: "Reprinted from Publication Title, Volume Number, Author(s), Title of Article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Dove Medical Press Ltd." There is no fee associated with this. Please contact me if the use changes from the details stated.

Also please contact me if you have any further questions regarding this.

Kind regards

Jeanette

Jeanette Pearce Operations Manager, Dove Medical Press Ltd 44 Corinthian Drive, Albany, Auckland, New Zealand PO Box 300-008, Albany, Auckland, 0752, New Zealand p +649 443 3060 (Extn 201) f +649 443 3061 e Jeanette@dovepress.com Peer-reviewed journals for professionals www.dovepress.com - open access to scientific and medical research Dove Medical Press is a member of the Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association

From: Mikaela Jorgensen [mailto:mikaela.jorgensen@sydney.edu.au]
Sent: Friday, 30 August 2013 4:52 p.m.
To: Jeanette
Subject: Permission to use final electronic version of published article in thesis

Dear Ms Pearce,

I am completing a PhD degree at the University of Sydney. I wish to make my research thesis available for public access online via the University's digital archive (http://escholarship.usyd.edu.au/).

My thesis includes the following work published in 2013 in the journal Patient Preference and Adherence: <u>http://www.dovepress.com/articles.php?article\_id=14146</u>

I would like to confirm that per the publication agreement, the final electronic version may be used, provided a link to the published version of the paper on the journal's website is provided, and attributions to Dove and the journal with full citations is given.

Thank you for your help, Mikaela.

MIKAELA JORGENSEN | Research Officer & PhD Candidate Cancer Epidemiology and Services Research | Sydney School of Public Health

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY

Room 204, Queen Elizabeth II Research Institute (D02) | The University of Sydney | NSW | 2006 T +61 2 9036 5419 | E mikaela.jorgensen@sydney.edu.au | W <u>CESR website</u>

## Appendix 5.2. Inpatient version of patient survey



effective

## Which statement best describes your point of view? Please circle the corresponding number.

- 1) I prefer to make the final selection about which treatment I receive
- 2) I prefer to make the final selection of my treatment after seriously considering my doctors' opinion
- 3) I prefer that my doctor and I share responsibility for deciding which treatment is best for me
- 4) I prefer that my doctor makes the final decision about which treatment will be used, but seriously considers my opinion
- 5) I prefer to leave all decisions regarding my treatment to my doctor

Inpatient Version

Page 1 of 4

## Section 2:

Please indicate your views by putting a cross (X) on the line.

## How important would the following factors be if you were deciding whether to have chemotherapy?

	Not at all important	Very important
Avoiding side effects (e.g. nausea, hair loss)		
Maintaining a good quality of life during treatment		
Maintaining my independence		
How unwell I am to start with		
Returning to my normal quality of life after treatment		
How old I am		
Reducing the risk of the cancer coming back		
Increasing my chance of living longer		
Doing everything possible to fight the cancer		
Fear of dying from cancer	<u> </u>	
Being able to look after significant others (e.g. spouse, children)		
Having someone to look after me during treatment		

Inpatient Version

Page 2 of 4

## Section 2 cont'd:

## How important would the following factors be if you were deciding whether to have chemotherapy?

	Not at all important	Very importan
How far I would have to travel for treatment		
The total duration of the treatment		
The cost of treatment		
The opinion of my family		
The recommendation of the doctor		
Having a doctor who I feel comfortable asking questions		
Having a doctor whose expertise I trust		
Having time to decide about treatment		
Understanding what is going to happen during treatment		
Understanding the benefits and side effects		
Other (please specify below)		

## Any comments:

Inpatient Version

Page 3 of 4

Section 3: Demographic Information

Your age:	years	Male		Female	
Country of birth:		Language s	spoken at h	ome:	
Date of surgery:		What is you	ur postcode	?	
Are you going to have chemothe	erapy?	Yes Unsure		No	
Do you have private health insur	ance?	Yes		No	
What is your highest level of edu	cation?	None/Prima	ry		
Intermediate Cert./Year 10		Technical C	ert. or Dip		
Leaving Cert./Year 12		Tertiary			
What is your employment status	?				
Full time		Unemployee	d		
Part time		Retired/Hon	ne duties		
Who do you live with? Tick all th	at apply.				
Spouse/Partner		Live alone			
Child/Children		Other, spec	ify		
Do you have any other medical o	onditions beside	s your cancer?	Please list		
1)		3)			
2)		4)			
Because of your health or physic	cal condition do y	ou need help v	with:	Yes	No
Shopping for personal items (like to	piletries, medicines	)?			
Managing money (like keeping trac	k of expenses, pay	ving bills)?			
Walking across the room? (use of a	a cane or walker is	OK)			
Doing light housework (like washin	g dishes, straighter	ning up, light cle	eaning)?		
Bathing or showering?					
Do you have a friend or family m	ember who:		Yes	Sometimes	No
Could help you with preparing meals or other chores if you were sick? $\hfill \Box$					

## THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE

Inpatient Version

Could take you to the doctor if needed?

You can confide in or talk to if you have a problem?

Page 4 of 4

# **6** A risk model

In Chapter 3, continuing age differences in the receipt of guideline-recommended adjuvant therapy in NSW were identified. The results of Chapter 4 indicate that surgeon knowledge and views are a contributing factor to these differences. The variability in older patients' perceived barriers to treatment in Chapter 5 and their preferences for less information and decision-making involvement may also impact treatment receipt. Together, these findings suggest that more evidence-based tools should be developed to guide adjuvant therapy decisions and facilitate discussion of patient preferences and treatment benefits and risks.

This chapter presents a mortality risk prediction model that could be used by clinicians to assist the treatment decision-making process. The model identifies older lymph nodepositive colon cancer patients who are unlikely to survive the first year after surgery and so would not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy. The emphasis on a range of factors that predict mortality may help to reduce variation in guideline-recommended treatment that occurs on the basis of patient age alone.

## This chapter is presented as the following paper:

Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. A mortality risk prediction model for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer. [Submitted]

## CONTRIBUTION STATEMENT

## Dear co-authors,

**RE:** Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Dobbins TA, Solomon MJ. A mortality risk prediction model for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer.

I would like to use the above paper as one of the chapters of my PhD thesis and request your permission to do so. As one of the requirements of the Academic Board of the University of Sydney, a signed written statement is required from all co-authors attesting to my contribution as evidence to satisfactorily identify the work for which I am responsible.

## Author contributions

Jorgensen ML conceived and designed the study, analysed and interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript. Young JM designed the study, data acquisition, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Dobbins TA designed the study, data cleaning and linkage, interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. Solomon MJ interpreted the data, critically revised the paper. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

If you agree with the contributions outlined above and give permission for this paper to be a part of my thesis, please sign next to your name below. Your support is greatly appreciated.

Kind regards,

## Mikaela Jorgensen

Jane M Young		
e e	)	
Timothy A Dobbins		
Michael J Solomon		

A mortality risk prediction model for older adults with lymph node-positive colon cancer

## 6.1. Abstract

BACKGROUND: Surgeons and oncologists are less likely to recommend adjuvant chemotherapy for older adults based on their age alone. Physicians may rely on chronological age as a proxy for other age-related factors when making treatment recommendations. The aim of the study was to develop a mortality risk model to assist treatment decision making by identifying patients who are unlikely to survive the first year after surgery and thus will not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

PATIENTS AND METHODS: All lymph node-positive patients aged ≥65 years receiving surgery for colon cancer in New South Wales, Australia in 2007/2008 were identified using a linked routinely collected population-based dataset (n=1,550). Multilevel logistic regression was used to build a model for predicting the risk of one-year all-cause mortality. Scores derived from each factor in the model were summed for each patient.

RESULTS: One-year mortality was 11.5% after excluding those who died within 30 days of surgery (n=67). The risk model consisted of fourteen factors, including patient comorbidities, hospital admission factors, and other markers of frailty or health status. Age was not an independent predictor of mortality in the adjusted model. People with a total risk score of 0, 1 or 2 were considered at low risk (predicted one-year mortality of 3.0%), those scoring 3 to 6 at medium risk (7.5% mortality), and those with a score of 7 or above were considered at high risk of mortality (25.8% mortality). The model had good discrimination (AUC=0.791, 95% CI: 0.754-0.828) and calibration (p=0.46).

CONCLUSION: The risk model developed in this study accurately predicts one-year mortality in older lymph node-positive cancer patients. The model may be useful in shifting the emphasis in treatment decision making from chronological age to the identification of those of any age who will live to benefit from these resources.

## 6.2. Introduction

The majority of colorectal cancer cases occur in those aged over 65 years.<sup>1</sup> For lymph nodepositive colon cancer, surgical resection followed by adjuvant chemotherapy is the widely recommended standard of care.<sup>2</sup> Clinical practice guidelines explicitly state that age alone should not be used to exclude patients from being offered chemotherapy, as even those over 80 years can derive survival benefits.<sup>3</sup> However, both surgeons and oncologists are less likely to recommend adjuvant chemotherapy for older adults on the basis of their age alone.<sup>4,5</sup> Physicians may be relying on chronological age as a proxy for other age-related factors when making treatment recommendations.<sup>6</sup>

The heterogeneity of the ageing process means that chronological age is not a reliable way to estimate life expectancy or the risk of treatment complications. Better predictors of patient outcomes include comorbidity, functional status, and other specific markers of frailty.<sup>7,8</sup> Determining how these factors contribute to mortality risk for this subset of nodepositive patients is important, as survival is the primary benefit against which the risks of treatment are balanced. Results of randomised trials suggest that survival benefits from chemotherapy begin to emerge between one to two years after surgery.<sup>9,10</sup> For those who are not likely to survive the first year, the potential impact of treatment on quality of life would make adjuvant chemotherapy untenable. Older patients, since mortality in the first postoperative year accounts for much of the age differences in survival following colorectal cancer surgery.<sup>11</sup>

Prognostic indices appear to be a useful way to help move clinical decision making beyond arbitrary age cut-offs.<sup>12</sup> A number of models and tools exist for determining mortality risk in older cancer patients, but these tend to focus on postoperative mortality for surgical decision making<sup>13-15</sup> or are developed on single area samples.<sup>16</sup> Risk tools for chemotherapy are generally developed to predict treatment toxicity<sup>17,18</sup> or only involve a limited evaluation of health status as they are not specifically designed for older patients.<sup>19</sup>

Thus, the aim of the current study was to use population-based data to develop a mortality risk model for older node-positive colon cancer patients, which could be used in treatment decision making to clarify which patients would not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

## 6.3. Methods

## Data source

A linked dataset was used that consisted of the records of all people with a first unique cancer of the colon, rectosigmoid junction or rectum registered in 2007 or 2008 by the population-based NSW Central Cancer Registry (CCR). Data on all public and private hospital separations from the NSW Admitted Patients Data Collection (APDC) and death data from the NSW Registry of Births, Deaths and Marriages were linked to the CCR data by the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL). Ethics approval was provided by the NSW Population & Health Services Research Ethics Committee.

All people aged 65 years and over with lymph node-positive colon cancer that had an admission to a hospital for a surgical resection were identified from the dataset (see Figure 1). Those who died within 30 days of surgery were subsequently excluded, as initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy does not generally occur before this time.<sup>20</sup>





## Developing the risk model

Multilevel logistic regression was used to build a model for predicting the risk of one-year all-cause mortality. Multilevel models take into account the clustering of patients within hospitals (n=90 in the current study). Candidate predictors for the risk model were based on previously established prognostic risk factors for older cancer patients. These were patient age,<sup>7,13,21,22</sup> marital status,<sup>22,23</sup> emergency resection,<sup>13,21,24</sup> long length of stay,<sup>16,24</sup> comorbidities as outlined in the revised Charlson comorbidity index,<sup>25</sup> as well as depression, malnutrition, and falls risk, which are commonly assessed domains in geriatric

oncology.<sup>7</sup> All of the candidate predictors were included in the final risk model. A full model approach using a small number of pre-established candidate variables attempts to avoid overfitting and selection bias that is known to occur when variables are included in a risk model based on significance testing in univariate analysis.<sup>26</sup> Age was categorised into five-year age intervals for ease of interpretation and usability of the risk model. Interactions between age group and all of the other variables in the final model were tested to determine whether there were any multiplicative effects of increasing age and other factors on mortality.

Comorbidities were identified from the APDC hospital separations data using ICD-10-AM diagnosis codes.<sup>25</sup> Malnutrition was similarly identified using diagnosis codes for mild, moderate or severe protein-energy malnutrition (E40-E46). Reduced mobility was defined from the codes for immobility (R26.3), other reduced or poor mobility (R26.8), difficulty in walking (R26.2), need for assistance due to reduced mobility (Z74.0), or presence of pressure ulcer (L89). The codes for falls (R29.81) and tendency to fall (R29.6) were used to identify those at high risk of falls. The accuracy of recording of comorbidities has been previously validated in NSW administrative data collections.<sup>27</sup> While a number of the other health markers have been used in previous Australian research,<sup>28,29</sup> their validity has not been assessed.

The American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical health status score was available for 79.0% of the cohort. However, this variable couldn't be used in the main model as the characteristics of those with missing ASA score differed from the rest of the cohort, indicating potential systematic bias in its recording. Those with missing ASA score were more likely to be treated in a private hospital ( $\chi^2$ [1]=54.4, p<0.001), have no comorbidities ( $\chi^2$ [1]=9.0, p=0.003), and have low socioeconomic disadvantage ( $\chi^2$ [4]=51.4, p<0.001) than those with ASA recorded. Two separate sensitivity models were run using the subset with ASA recorded to determine whether the inclusion of this variable improved the accuracy of the risk model.

## Determining model accuracy and validity

Model discrimination, or how well the model distinguishes between those who do and do not have the outcome, was assessed by calculating the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC or C-statistic). Model calibration, or how well the predicted outcome rates match the observed rates, was measured using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit chi-square test. The internal validity of the risk model was assessed using bootstrap resampling.<sup>30</sup> This technique simulates the process of sample generation from an underlying population by taking a large number of random samples of the same size as the original dataset, with replacement. *With replacement* means that an observation can be included repeatedly within a bootstrap sample while others may not be included at all. An optimism-corrected AUC was obtained by fitting the model to the bootstrap samples (n=500) and subtracting the average difference between the AUC in the samples and the original prediction model from the AUC in the original model.<sup>30</sup> Because all data are used for model development, bootstrapping provides a more efficient and accurate estimation of internal validity than other techniques such as split-sample validation.<sup>30</sup>

## Developing risk scores

A score for each factor in the risk model was calculated by dividing the beta coefficient of each variable by the lowest beta coefficient in the model, and rounding to the nearest whole number.<sup>31</sup> A total risk score was assigned to each person by summing the scores for each present risk factor e.g. a person with pulmonary disease (5 points) who was 70 years old (1 point) but who did not have long length of stay (0 points) would have a total of 6 points. Predicted outcome rates were calculated for each total score level using the model regression formula.

Categories of low, medium, and high risk were created by dividing the cohort into three equal sized groups, ordered by total risk score. This is the preferred method in the absence of an a priori clinical consensus on grouping cut-points.<sup>32</sup> Rates of one-year mortality for each risk category were based on the predicted model estimates from the risk model.

## 6.4. Results

1,483 people aged  $\geq$  65 years were diagnosed with lymph node-positive colon cancer in 2007/2008 and survived longer than 30 days after surgery. Of these people, 170 (11.5%) had died within one year. Patient characteristics are presented in Table 1. Notably, 42.6% of the one-year mortality occurred within the first 30 days for those over 85 years, compared to 24.0% for the rest of the cohort.

## Risk model predictors

Table 2 presents the adjusted odds ratios for the 14 factors included in the risk model. While increasing patient age was a significant predictor of one-year mortality in univariate regression ( $\chi^2$ [5]=15.8, p=0.008), this association was no longer evident after adjusting for other risk factors (p=0.79). Most of the other factors in the risk model were significant independent predictors of mortality, including hospital admission factors (emergency admission, long length of stay), comorbidities (dementia, pulmonary disease, kidney or liver disease, other cancer), and other markers of frailty or health status (previous emergency admissions, malnutrition, reduced mobility or falls risk). There were no significant interactions between age group and any other factor in the risk model.

One-year mortality following surgery varied between hospitals. Approximately 2.5% of the total variability in one-year mortality was attributable to hospitals in the risk model (hospital variance [SE] = 0.08 [0.10], intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.025). Adding hospital type and location to the patient characteristics in the model did not help to explain this variation (intraclass correlation coefficient = 0.023).
	n (%)
Age at diagnosis (65-69)	319 (21.5)
70-74	344 (23.2)
75-79	338 (22.8)
80-84	293 (19.8)
85-89	157 (10.6)
90-95 (max)	32 (2.2)
Male	728 (49.1)
No current partner (single/divorced/widowed)	562 (38.4)
Socioeconomic status (SEIFA)	
1 Least disadvantaged	334 (22.5)
2	260 (17.5)
3	304 (20.5)
4	291 (19.6)
5 Most disadvantaged	293 (19.8)
ASA physical health status*	
1 Healthy	62 (4.2)
2 Mild systemic disease	523 (35.3)
3 Severe systemic disease	504 (34.0)
4 Severe systemic disease, constant threat to life	82 (5.5)
Hospital type – public (vs private)	924 (62.3)
Hospital location – metropolitan (vs rural/regional)	1,023 (69.0)
Emergency admission for resection	252 (17.0)
Length of stay > 21 days	247 (16.7)
Comorbidities	
Congestive heart failure	48 (3.2)
Dementia	15 (1.0)
Chronic pulmonary disease	50 (3.4)
Kidney or liver disease	66 (4.5)
Diabetes with chronic complications	38 (2.5)
Other malignancy (non-colorectal)	43 (2.9)
Depression	22 (1.5)
Markers of frailty or health status	
Previous emergency admissions (1 or more)	688 (46.4)
Malnutrition	21 (1.4)
Reduced mobility or high falls risk	56 (3.8)

Table 1. Characteristics of older patients receiving surgery for node-positive colon cancer

\*Some data missing; SEIFA = Socio-economic indexes for areas<sup>43</sup>

	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P value
Age group (ref= 65-69)		0.79
70-74	1.3 (0.7-2.3)	
75-79	1.2 (0.7-2.2)	
80-84	1.5 (0.8-2.7)	
85-89	1.0 (0.5-2.1)	
90+	1.2 (0.4-3.7)	
No current partner	1.2 (0.8-1.8)	0.29
Hospital admission factors		
Emergency admission for resection	1.6 (1.1-2.5)	0.02
Length of stay > 21 days	2.1 (1.4-3.3)	<0.001
Comorbidities		
Congestive heart failure	1.5 (0.7-3.3)	0.27
Dementia	4.4 (1.4-14.0)	0.01
Chronic pulmonary disease	2.3 (1.1-4.8)	0.02
Kidney or liver disease	2.5 (1.3-4.7)	0.007
Diabetes with chronic complications	1.2 (0.6-2.4)	0.53
Other malignancy (non-colorectal)	2.8 (1.8-4.5)	<0.001
Markers of frailty or health status		
Depression	1.2 (0.3-5.6)	0.83
Previous emergency admissions	1.6 (1.1-2.4)	0.01
Malnutrition	4.1 (1.5-11.3)	0.007
Reduced mobility or high falls risk	2.7 (1.3-5.3)	0.006

Table 2. Risk factors for one-year mortality in multilevel logistic regression model

# Model accuracy and validity

The AUC for the risk model was 0.791 (95% CI: 0.754-0.828), indicating good to very good discrimination.<sup>12</sup> There was evidence that this model had considerably better discrimination than a model with age as the sole predictor of mortality (AUC=0.634, 95% CI: 0.589-0.678; p<0.001). The Hosmer-Lemeshow test for the risk model indicated no significant lack of fit ( $\chi^2$ [10]=9.74, p=0.46). No multicollinearity was apparent in the model, with all variance inflation factors less than 2.

The optimism-corrected AUC based on the bootstrap resampling was 0.736 (95% CI: 0.645-0.828). This measure of interval validity indicates that the model would still have good discriminatory power when applied to new patients with similar characteristics.

ASA health status was significantly associated with one-year mortality in univariate analysis ( $\chi^2$ [3]=55.6, p<0.001). However, the discriminatory ability of the risk model was not substantially increased by the inclusion of this variable in a subset sensitivity analysis for those with ASA recorded. Without ASA score in the model, the AUC for the risk model in this subset population was 0.805 (95% CI: 0.765-0.845). Adding ASA score to the model, the AUC was 0.811 (95% CI: 0.773-0.849). There was some evidence of multicollinearity between ASA score and the variable "previous emergency admission". These factors were independent predictors of mortality when entered into the model separately, but when both factors were in the model neither was significant and their variation inflation factors were between 4 and 7. Indeed, ASA status was significantly associated with previous emergency admission in univariate regression ( $\chi^2$ [3]=52.4, p<0.001). Previous emergency admission may therefore be a useful proxy variable for ASA status.

# Risk scores

Scores for each factor in the risk model are presented in Table 3. A person with all of these risk factors (excluding age) would receive a total risk score of 54. In our cohort, total scores ranged from 0 to 31 (mean [SD] = 5.4 [5.1], median = 4.0). Figure 2 displays the observed and predicted rates of one-year mortality by total risk score. For this figure, the 14 people scoring over 22 (0.9% of the cohort) were grouped with those scoring 22 to create a more reliable point estimate.

	β coefficient (SE)	Score
Age group		
70-74	0.24 (0.30)	1
75-79	0.20 (0.30)	1
80-84	0.40 (0.30)	2
85-89	0.02 (0.36)	0
90+	0.18 (0.58)	1
Depression	0.17 (0.79)	1
No current partner	0.20 (0.19)	1
Diabetes with chronic complications	0.21 (0.34)	1
Congestive heart failure	0.43 (0.39)	2
Previous emergency admissions	0.48 (0.19)	3
Emergency admission for resection	0.50 (0.21)	3
Length of stay > 21 days	0.76 (0.22)	4
Chronic pulmonary disease	0.85 (0.36)	5
Kidney or liver disease	0.90 (0.33)	5
Reduced mobility or falls risk	0.98 (0.36)	6
Other malignancy	1.05 (0.23)	6
Malnutrition	1.40 (0.52)	8
Dementia	1.49 (0.59)	9

**Table 3.** Scores for each factor in mortality risk model

Predicted rates of one-year mortality for each risk category were calculated from the model estimates. Those with a total score of 0, 1 or 2 were considered at low risk (predicted one-year mortality of 3.0%), those scoring 3 to 6 at medium risk (7.5% mortality), and those with a score of 7 or above were considered at high risk of mortality (25.8% mortality). The proportion of people at high risk of one-year mortality increased with age ( $\chi^2$ [5]=100.6, p<0.001), from 15.0% of those aged 60-64 years to 46.9% of those aged  $\geq$  90.





# 6.5. Discussion

This study used population-based data to develop a risk model that predicts one-year mortality in older node-positive colon cancer patients with considerably greater accuracy than a model based on patient age alone. While age was associated with mortality in univariate regression, it was not an independent predictor in the risk model after accounting for other factors such as comorbidities, hospital admission factors, and markers of frailty or health status. The model could be useful in clarifying which patients would not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

There is evidence that older colon cancer patients experience similar survival benefits from adjuvant chemotherapy as younger patients, without substantial increases in toxicity.<sup>3</sup> However, the diminishing returns of any curative treatment with increasing age may cause clinicians to apply an arbitrary age cut-off, if it is not clear which older patients will live to benefit from treatment. In our study, age was not associated with one-year mortality after adjusting for comorbidities and other health-related factors. Similar findings have been reported in a number of studies of mortality in cancer patients.<sup>33,34</sup> Patel and colleagues (2013) suggest that higher rates of 30-day mortality in older patients account for much of the overall age differences in survival.<sup>35</sup> This was also a likely contributing factor to our finding for age, as the large proportion of people over 85 who died within 30 days were necessarily excluded. Those elders who survive this period and do not have significant health problems may therefore represent a group who could benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy well into their 80s and beyond. While older age was not an independent risk factor in our study, a greater proportion of the older groups were deemed at high risk of one-year morality due to increasing prevalence of health conditions, and these people clearly have less to benefit from chemotherapy. Nonetheless, the risk model may be useful in helping to shift the emphasis in treatment decision making from chronological age alone to the identification of those of any age who will live to benefit from these resources.

Our risk model may also be useful for identifying older adults who require more comprehensive assessment and ongoing management to better cope with treatment. While routine screening to identify vulnerable and frail elderly is widely recommended,<sup>36</sup> there is no consensus on the definition of frailty,<sup>37</sup> and current screening tools have insufficient discriminative power to select cancer patients for further evaluation.<sup>38</sup> However, consistent predictors of risk across the literature imply that programs known to improve outcomes should be more regularly employed. Targeting malnutrition and physical mobility or function in cancer prehabilitation can decrease treatment-related morbidity and improve health outcomes.<sup>39</sup> Length of stay can be reduced through the incorporation of Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) protocols to ease surgical stress and minimise complications,<sup>40</sup> and improved screening of older people can help to lessen the risks associated with emergency resection.<sup>41</sup> Poorer survival for those without a current partner suggests that social support remains a key target area. In addition, the variability in mortality that was attributable to the hospital where surgery was performed indicates the need to further explore and address potential differences in the provision of care.

Markers of patient frailty or health status are frequently unavailable in routinely collected administrative datasets and are not often incorporated in prognostic models, though they can add important information about mortality risk<sup>8</sup> and would readily form part of clinician judgement in practice. In the current study, ASA physical status could not be used as the characteristics of those with missing ASA score differed from the rest of the cohort. The variable 'previous emergency admissions' could be a potential substitute for ASA status in research or peer comparisons that rely on administrative data, as there was a strong association between these variables, and model performance was similar whether one or other of these variables was used. The discrimination and calibration results for our risk model were also as good or better than many other mortality models.<sup>12</sup> Nonetheless, more complete data for ASA status or the incorporation of other health measures such as ECOG performance status or activities of daily living could further increase the accuracy of the risk model and therefore its usefulness.

Although routinely collected population data can lack breadth, one advantage that it has over other methods of data collection is a reduction in the potential for sampling bias. The risk model developed in this study may be more clinically acceptable than similar models in that it uses population-based data as well as incorporates markers of frailty and health status. The optimism-corrected AUC also indicated that the model should perform well when applied to other patients that are similar to the development sample. However, external validation is required if the risk model is to be used outside of NSW, particularly as colorectal cancer mortality in this state is relatively low compared to many other areas.<sup>42</sup> Another limitation of this study is the high likelihood of underascertainment of comorbidities and other health status markers through the use of hospital separations data.<sup>27</sup> While many of these factors have been reported to have high specificity,<sup>27</sup> some comorbidities may not have been recorded where they were not perceived to directly impact on the patient's cancer or treatment. Finally, any prognostic model will ultimately only be useful if there is evidence of its clinical effectiveness. The proposed risk model is currently being developed into an online tool where its ability to impact treatment decision making and improve patient assessment and management will be evaluated.

For older cancer patients, treatment decisions involve careful consideration of the potential risks and benefits of treatment. Major gaps in evidence from clinical trials about the optimal treatment of older patients,<sup>3</sup> and the significant financial costs associated with chemotherapy within a finite health system, make these decisions all the more difficult. Despite limitations of the data, the current study creates a greater understanding of how pre-existing patient factors influence outcomes for a specific population who are potentially at risk of suboptimal care. A tool developed from the risk model may be useful in helping to supplement clinicians' judgements about prognosis and the utility of adjuvant chemotherapy, and could be incorporated into shared decision-making discussions alongside quality of life considerations, patient preferences, and the potential for treatment toxicity. By shifting the emphasis from chronological age to better predictors of survival, the variation that occurs on the basis of age alone may be reduced and the care and outcomes of older cancer patients may improve.

#### Acknowledgements

Many thanks to the data managers and custodians of each of the data collections used in this study and to the staff at the Centre for Health Record Linkage (CHeReL) for preparing the data for linkage.

# 6.6. References

- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). ACIM (Australian Cancer Incidence and Mortality) Books. Canberra: AIHW; 2012. Available: http://www.aihw.gov.au/acim-books/.
- Labianca R, Nordlinger B, Beretta G, Brouquet A, Cervantes A, ESMO Guidelines Working Group. Primary colon cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, adjuvant treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol 2010;21:70-7.

- Merlin F, Prochilo T, Tondulli L, Kildani B, Beretta GD. Colorectal cancer treatment in elderly patients: an update on recent clinical studies. Clin Colorectal Cancer 2008;7(6):357-63.
- Jorgensen ML, Young JM, Solomon MJ. Older patients and adjuvant therapy for colorectal cancer: surgeon knowledge, opinions, and practice. Dis Colon Rectum 2011;54(3):335-41.
- Krzyzanowska MK, Regan MM, Powell M, Earle CC, Weeks JC. Impact of patient age and comorbidity on surgeon versus oncologist preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. J Am Coll Surg 2009;208(2):202-9.
- National Cancer Equality Initiative & Pharmaceutical Oncology Initiative. The impact of patient age on clinical decision-making in oncology. London: Department of Health; 2005.
- Puts MTE, Hardt J, Monette J, Girre V, Springall E, Alibhai SMH. Use of geriatric assessment for older adults in the oncology setting: a systematic review. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104(15):1133-63.
- Partridge JSL, Harari D, Dhesi JK. Frailty in the older surgical patient: a review. Age Ageing 2012;41(2):142-7.
- Hamada C, Sakamoto J, Satoh T, Sadahiro S, Mishima H, Sugihara K, et al. Does 1 year adjuvant chemotherapy with oral 5-FUs in colon cancer reduce the peak of recurrence in 1 year and provide long-term OS benefit? Jpn J Clin Oncol 2011;41(2):299-302.
- 10. Gill S, Loprinzi CL, Sargent DJ, Thome SD, Alberts SR, Haller DG, et al. Pooled analysis of fluorouracil-based adjuvant therapy for stage II and III colon cancer: who benefits and by how much? J Clin Oncol 2004;22(10):1797-806.

- Dekker JWT, Van Den Broek CBM, Bastiaannet E, Van De Geest LGM, Tollenaar RA, Liefers GJ. Importance of the first postoperative year in the prognosis of elderly colorectal cancer patients. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18(6):1533-9.
- 12. Yourman LC, Lee SJ, Schonberg MA, Widera EW, Smith AK. Prognostic indices for older adults: a systematic review.JAMA 2012;307(2):182-92.
- Heriot AG, Tekkis PP, Smith JJ, Cohen CRG, Montgomery A, Audisio RA, et al.
   Prediction of postoperative mortality in elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum 2006;49(6):816-24.
- Tran Ba Loe P, Tezenas Du Montcel S, Duron JJ, Levard H, Suc B, Descottes B, et al. Elderly POSSUM, a dedicated score for prediction of mortality and morbidity after major colorectal surgery in older patients. Br J Surg 2010;97(3):396-403.
- 15. Pope D, Ramesh H, Gennari R, Corsini G, Maffezzini M, Hoekstra HJ, et al. Preoperative assessment of cancer in the elderly (PACE): a comprehensive assessment of underlying characteristics of elderly cancer patients prior to elective surgery. Surg Oncol 2006;15(4):189-97.
- 16. Levine SK, Sachs GA, Jin L, Meltzer D. A prognostic model for 1-year mortality in older adults after hospital discharge. Am J Med 2007;120(5):455-60.
- Extermann M, Boler I, Reich RR, Lyman GH, Brown RH, Defelice J, et al. Predicting the risk of chemotherapy toxicity in older patients: the Chemotherapy Risk Assessment Scale for High-Age Patients (CRASH) score. Cancer 2012;118(13):3377-86.
- Hurria A, Togawa K, Mohile SG, Owusu C, Klepin HD, Gross CP, et al. Predicting chemotherapy toxicity in older adults with cancer: a prospective multicenter study. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(25):3457-65.

- Ravdin PM, Siminoff LA, Davis GJ, Mercer MB, Hewlett J, Gerson N, et al. Computer program to assist in making decisions about adjuvant therapy for women with early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2001;19(4):980-91.
- 20. Biagi JJ, Raphael MJ, Mackillop WJ, Kong W, King WD, Booth CM. Association between time to initiation of adjuvant chemotherapy and survival in colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2011;305(22):2335-42.
- Panis Y, Maggiori L, Caranhac G, Bretagnol F, Vicaut E. Mortality after colorectal cancer surgery: a French survey of more than 84,000 patients. Ann Surg 2011;254(5):738-43.
- 22. Wang L, Wilson SE, Stewart DB, Hollenbeak CS. Marital status and colon cancer outcomes in US Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results registries: does marriage affect cancer survival by gender and stage? Cancer Epidemiol 2011;35(5):417-22.
- Vercelli M, Lillini R, Capocaccia R, Micheli A, Coebergh JW, Quinn M, et al. Cancer survival in the elderly: effects of socio-economic factors and health care system features (ELDCARE project). Eur J Cancer 2006;42(2):234-42.
- Greenblatt DY, Weber SM, O'Connor ES, Loconte NK, Liou JI, Smith MA. Readmission after colectomy for cancer predicts one-year mortality. Ann Surg 2010;251(4):659-69.
- 25. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, Fushimi K, Graham P, Hider P, et al. Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. Am J Epidemiol 2011;173(6):676-82.
- Royston P, Moons KGM, Altman DG, Vergouwe Y. Prognosis and prognostic research: developing a prognostic model. BMJ 2009;338(7707):1373-7.

- Goldsbury DE, Armstrong K, Simonella L, Armstrong BK, O'Connell DL. Using administrative health data to describe colorectal and lung cancer care in New South Wales, Australia: a validation study. BMC Health Serv Res 2012 12:387.
- Rowell DS, Jackson TJ. Additional costs of inpatient malnutrition, Victoria, Australia,
   2003-2004. Eur J Health Econ 2011;12(4):353-61.
- 29. New PW, Jackson T. The costs and adverse events associated with hospitalization of patients with spinal cord injury in Victoria, Australia. Spine 2010;35(7):796-802.
- Steyerberg EW, Harrell Jr FE, Borsboom GJ, Eijkemans MJ, Vergouwe Y, Habbema JD. Internal validation of predictive models: efficiency of some procedures for logistic regression analysis. J Clin Epidemiol 2001;54(8):774-81.
- 31. Lee SJ, Lindquist K, Segal MR, Covinsky KE. Development and validation of a prognostic index for 4-year mortality in older adults. JAMA 2006;295(7):801-8.
- 32. Mallett S, Royston P, Waters R, Dutton S, Altman DG. Reporting performance of prognostic models in cancer: a review. BMC Med 2010;8:21.
- Gooiker GA, Dekker JW, Bastiaannet E, Van Der Geest LG, Merkus JW, Van De Velde
   CJ, et al. Risk factors for excess mortality in the first year after curative surgery for
   colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2012;19(8):2428-34.
- Schiffmann L, Ozcan S, Schwarz F, Lange J, Prall F, Klar E. Colorectal cancer in the elderly: surgical treatment and long-term survival. Int J Colorectal Dis 2008;23(6):601-10.
- Patel SS, Nelson R, Sanchez J, Lee W, Uyeno L, Garcia-Aguilar J, et al. Elderly patients with colon cancer have unique tumor characteristics and poor survival. Cancer 2013;119(4):739-47.

- 36. Wildiers H, Kenis C. Comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) in older oncological patients: why and how? J Geriatr Oncol 2012;3(2):174-6.
- Sternberg SA, Schwartz AW, Karunananthan S, Bergman H, Mark Clarfield A. The identification of frailty: a systematic literature review. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011;59(11):2129-38.
- Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, de Rooij SE, Vos AG, Smorenburg CH, van Munster BC.
   Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 2012;13(10):437-44.
- 39. Silver JK, Baima J. Cancer prehabilitation: an opportunity to decrease treatmentrelated morbidity, increase cancer treatment options, and improve physical and psychological health outcomes. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2013;92(8):715-27.
- 40. Zhuang CL, Ye XZ, Zhang XD, Chen BC, Yu Z. Enhanced recovery after surgery programs versus traditional care for colorectal surgery: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Dis Colon Rectum 2013;56(5):667-78.
- 41. Scholefield JH, Robinson MHE, Mangham CM, Hardcastle JD. Screening for colorectal cancer reduces emergency admissions. Eur J Surg Oncol 1998;24(1):47-50.
- 42. Maringe C, Walters S, Rachet B, Butler J, Fields T, Finan P, et al. Stage at diagnosis and colorectal cancer survival in six high-income countries: a population-based study of patients diagnosed during 2000-2007. Acta Oncol 2013; 52(5):919-32.
- 43. Pink B. Socio-economic indexes for areas (SEIFA) Technical Paper, 2006. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2008. Available: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2039.0.55.001/.

# Conclusions

This thesis has presented a series of studies exploring the barriers to evidence-based care for older people with colorectal cancer, with a focus on the receipt of guidelinerecommended adjuvant chemotherapy and radiotherapy. While differences in the treatment of older patients continue to exist in NSW (Chapter 3), decision making for this population is inherently complex. Issues in the measurement of outcomes (Chapter 2), surgeon knowledge and views (Chapter 4), and patient preferences (Chapter 5) appear to contribute to age differences in treatment. A risk model that could be used by clinicians to assist treatment decision making was developed (Chapter 6). This final chapter outlines the unique contributions of this thesis to the literature, addresses limitations, and discusses implications for clinical practice and future research that will be needed to ensure greater understanding and improved outcomes for this growing and potentially vulnerable group.

# 7.1. Summary of unique research findings

#### 7.1.1. Measurement

Chapter 2 examined potential issues in the measurement of patient-reported outcomes (PROs) that may affect the treatment and care that older patients receive. In Study 1, the supportive care needs of older and younger patients were compared at one month and three months after hospital discharge for colorectal cancer surgery. As in prior research, younger age was an independent predictor of unmet need for nearly all domains at both time points. However, this study was unique in exploring whether this counterintuitive finding resulted from older patients being more likely to have their needs met ('satisfied'). In this study, older patients were actually *less* likely than younger patients to report 'satisfied' needs, instead being more likely to report that they had 'no need' ('not applicable'). These results may indicate that older patients are less likely to express their needs for help, or that their needs are not being adequately captured.

The study also adds to the literature by clarifying the absolute prevalence of unmet needs for older patients across the cancer trajectory. More than half of all older patients had unmet needs at one month (56%), and this figure had increased to 65% by three months. While expressing relatively fewer unmet needs than their younger counterparts, older patients may have less capacity to cope with *any* level of unmet need due to poorer health and less social support.

In Study 2, age differences in item non-response were explored in quality of life (QOL) assessments that had been completed at baseline, one month and three months after hospital discharge. As in previous research for other patient groups, older age was associated with non-response to a number of 'sensitive' questionnaire items (e.g. sex life, diarrhoea), as well as greater levels of missing data overall. This study was unique in further examining the effects of this missing data on QOL estimates. QOL in one domain was significantly overestimated when the suggested 'simple mean imputation' method was used to manage missing data, and item non-response was associated with poorer QOL overall. Where studies exclude patients with missing data, the QOL of older cancer patients may be inadequately or inaccurately represented.

#### 7.1.2. Local context

In Chapter 3, linked population-based administrative and clinical data was used to determine whether patient age alone remains a predictor of adjuvant therapy receipt for colorectal cancer in NSW. Other local factors that may hinder or facilitate adjuvant therapy

use were also identified. While previous state-based estimates of adjuvant treatment receipt have relied on resource-intensive clinician surveys, routinely collected clinical registry data was used for the first time in this study to monitor patterns of care.

The analysis revealed that increasing age remains an independent predictor of non-receipt of chemotherapy for lymph node-positive colon cancer and radiotherapy for high-risk rectal cancer. However, the overall levels of chemotherapy and radiotherapy use represent a considerable increase on treatment rates from a previous NSW study conducted in 2000, consistent with international trends. The current study accounted for both comorbidities and physical status (ASA score), which is rare in population-based health inequality studies. Determining the sources of variation in treatment through the use of three-level data modelling to account for the clustering of patients by surgeon and the clustering of surgeons within hospitals was another unique contribution of the study. Though much of the variation in adjuvant therapy receipt was found to be due to patient characteristics, the hospital where surgery was performed accounted for a considerable proportion of treatment variation. Other predictors of treatment receipt in this study, such as discussion of the case at a multidisciplinary meeting, indicate further opportunities to improve care.

#### 7.1.3. The surgeon

Surgeons act as important gatekeepers to the care of patients after their cancer surgery. Chapter 4 outlined the findings of a self-administered survey of Australian and New Zealand colorectal surgeons. The study aimed to identify factors affecting surgeons' decisions to refer older patients with colorectal cancer for adjuvant therapy by investigating surgeon knowledge, opinions, and self-reported practice across a range of scenarios.

Colorectal surgeons were significantly less likely to refer older patients with node-positive colon cancer for adjuvant chemotherapy than younger patients, based on chronological age alone. While previous physician surveys have tended to focus on patient age and comorbidity, this study found that other factors such as distance to treatment and social

support had considerable effects on surgeons' recommendations for referral of older patients. Lack of consensus among surgeons about the treatment of older patients was another major feature of the survey. Both knowledge and opinions about current research evidence and adjuvant therapy receipt were strongly associated with referral recommendations. In particular, older surgeons were less likely to report views that were consistent with national guidelines and less likely to hold similar opinions toward older and younger patients. Overall, 39% of colorectal surgeons indicated that there is an upper age limit after which chemotherapy is no longer worthwhile. These findings indicate that variation in surgeon opinions and practices may contribute to differences in the treatment of older patients.

# 7.1.4. The patient

It has been reported that older cancer patients are more likely to refuse recommended adjuvant therapy than younger patients. In Chapter 5, patient-based barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use were investigated through a self-administered survey of patients who had undergone colorectal cancer surgery within the previous 24 months. The survey aimed to identify factors that distinguish the decision-making processes of older patients from younger patients, including preferences for information and involvement in treatment decisions.

Previous research in this area has tended to focus on the balance of toxicity and survival benefits, or the strength of preferences for adjuvant therapy, or has not specifically investigated age differences in barriers. This survey found that a range of factors were uniquely important to older patients' treatment decision making. Fear of dying, health status, age, quality of life, and understanding treatment procedures and effects were more important to older patients than younger patients in deciding whether to accept chemotherapy. While older patients preferred less information and less involvement in treatment decisions, the majority of the older group did want detailed information about chemotherapy and some level of involvement in decision making. A novel finding of this

study was that patients who preferred less information and involvement still rated many factors as important in their decision making, including understanding treatment procedures and their effects. The results imply that treatment decisions for older patients may be more complex because of the impact of emotional motivators such as fear and perceptions about ageing, their greater health concerns, and conflicts between their need for understanding and their preferences for information.

This study also revealed that surgeons' and patients' perceived barriers to adjuvant chemotherapy use may differ. Practical barriers such as distance to treatment were important to the colorectal surgeons surveyed in Chapter 4, but were not important to the older patients in this study.

#### 7.1.5. A risk model

A mortality risk prediction model was presented in Chapter 6 that could be used to identify older patients who will not benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy. Physicians may use chronological age as a proxy for survival, though this is not a reliable way to estimate an individual patient's prognosis. Previous risk models for chemotherapy in older patients have been developed to predict treatment toxicity only. Where risk models have focused on survival, they are not specifically designed for older patients, or are only based on small single-centre samples.

Age was not a significant predictor of one-year mortality after excluding those who died within 30 days and accounting for other age-related factors. Instead, a range of factors including patient comorbidities, hospital admission factors, and other markers of health or frailty were used to build a model that predicted mortality risk with greater discrimination than age alone. This model was unique in being developed on a large population-based dataset, while also incorporating markers important to the assessment of older patients such as reduced mobility and malnutrition. The model may be useful in shifting the emphasis in chemotherapy decision making from chronological age alone to the identification of those of any age who may live to benefit from these resources.

### 7.2. Practical implications of findings

#### 7.2.1. For future research

PROs such as quality of life and supportive care needs are increasingly being seen as central to cancer treatment decision making.<sup>1</sup> In Chapter 5, older patients rated QOL as more important to their decision making than younger patients, consistent with previous literature.<sup>2</sup> However, recent research suggests that many oncologists do not feel comfortable using PRO data to inform clinical practice and their discussions with patients.<sup>3</sup> One cause may be a lack of methodological rigour in analysis and reporting.<sup>4</sup> Findings from Chapter 2 highlight the need for transparency of reporting of PROs for older patients particularly. Without noting the reasons why older patients are less likely to report unmet needs, clinicians may assume that older patients are simply more likely to have their needs 'met'. Where missing data or methods for handling missing data are not reported in QOL studies,<sup>5</sup> clinicians cannot determine whether accurate conclusions have been drawn about the QOL of those at greater risk of non-response.

A focus on relative age differences in many studies may also affect perceptions of older patients' needs, well-being, and treatment preferences. While older patients expressed relatively fewer unmet needs than younger patients in Chapter 2, over half reported unmet needs at both one and three months after surgery. Reporting solely that older patients have fewer unmet needs or better QOL may create the impression that their needs and well-being are being adequately addressed. Similarly, studies that report older patients prefer less treatment information and involvement in decision making should also document whether, as in Chapter 5, the majority of older patients actually would prefer to be involved and fully informed.

Much of the literature approaches issues in cancer and ageing from a disease-based perspective, with a particular emphasis on comorbidity. Consideration of comorbidity is certainly essential, in that chronic conditions can increase the risks of treatment and

decrease the potential for benefit.<sup>6</sup> However, greater understanding of the reasons for age differences in adjuvant therapy receipt likely requires a more 'holistic' approach, including consideration of psychological, social ageing, and lifespan aspects. In Chapters 4 and 5, the multifactorial nature of physicians' and patients' decision making was highlighted. Perceptions about the importance of social support, QOL, logistical barriers, and cognitive or affective factors appear to inform how both patients and physicians balance the potential risks and benefits of treatment. An individual's personal experiences and their own age will influence their views about ageing and disease, as well their beliefs about whether and for whom treatment is worthwhile. A number of surgeons specifically commented that all patients should be equally considered for treatment. However, 20% of surgeons reported that younger patients should have preference over older patients given the limited resources of the Australian health system. The rationality of patients' decision making at such a highly stressful time has also been questioned.<sup>7</sup> Older patients may be more vulnerable to forgoing worthwhile treatment because of a fear that cancer is a death sentence, or differences in their preferences for risk taking and certainty.<sup>8</sup> More research is therefore required to understand how these psychosocial factors underlie decision-making processes and preferences for both physicians and patients.

A 'holistic' approach also appears to be important in examining how variation in practice occurs within the health care system. Variation was a hallmark of surgeon opinions and practice recommendations for older patients in Chapter 4. However, a multilevel modelling approach using a population-based dataset in Chapter 3 indicated that the hospital of surgery was a far greater source of variation in treatment receipt than the surgeon, suggesting that these clinicians may actually hold similar preferences against the referral of older patients. The effects of the hospital and clinician are generally neither entirely independent nor synonymous.<sup>9</sup> Highly-trained clinicians may be attracted to hospitals where there is greater access to a range of specialist colleagues, a factor that is associated with adjuvant treatment receipt.<sup>10</sup> Further exploration of these complex interactions and patient care pathways is needed, and are important considerations for future research that aims to determine sources of treatment variation.

Understanding the reasons for differential treatment of older patients requires good quality data. Chapter 3 demonstrated that linkage of existing health datasets is a promising way to monitor at-risk patient groups in NSW. With greater coverage and access to data collected in the private sector, these resources could provide a timelier and more costeffective way of conducting patterns of care studies in NSW. Routine recording of factors such as patient refusal of treatment, or greater completeness of important health measures such as performance status or ASA physical status, would allow greater insight into the causes and magnitude of health inequalities. However, increasing the use of existing data in research is also feasible. In Chapter 6, a number of health measures were able to be extracted from hospital data and used to build a risk model that accurately predicts mortality for older colon cancer patients. While further validation of these variables and greater collection of physical performance measures is required, the results also indicated that potential proxy health measures, such as previous emergency admissions, could be useful in the interim.

### 7.2.2. For clinical practice

The concept of unmet needs appears to have originated in the gerontology literature.<sup>11</sup> It has evolved from an objective assessment of existing support for any functional deficits to increasingly focus on patient-perceived needs.<sup>11</sup> However, relying on patient-reported assessments may actually be detrimental to the outcomes of older patients. The results of Chapter 2 support previous findings that older patients are less likely to report their health needs. This could result from a number of factors including stoic attitudes towards coping,<sup>12</sup> lower expectations of care,<sup>13</sup> or being less willing to disclose 'sensitive' health issues, as in Chapter 2. When coupled with a tendency for physicians to be less communicative with older patients and to underestimate their needs,<sup>14,15</sup> older adults may be less likely to receive the care that would enable them to better cope with their cancer and cancer treatment, including adjuvant therapy. Increasing physicians' awareness of their communication behaviours and their use of specific communication techniques could

facilitate older patients to express their concerns.<sup>16</sup> Involving family or caregivers can also provide critical information, though the patient should always have the final word.<sup>17</sup>

More explicit and individualised assessment of patient preferences may also be necessary to ensure older patients are fully informed and supported throughout the decision-making process. In Chapter 5, a range of factors were important to older patients' treatment decisions, and there was considerable variability in patient preferences for information and involvement in decision making. Without formal assessment, physicians might assume that travelling for treatment is an important factor for older patients (as in Chapter 4), where patients themselves may not actually perceive this as a barrier to adjuvant therapy use (as in Chapter 5). An additional consideration is the apparent clash between older patients wanting less information and involvement in treatment decisions than younger patients, but being more likely to rate understanding of treatment as an important factor. Decision aids can be useful for all patients, including those who seek to understand the reasoning behind doctor's recommendations without wanting to make treatment decisions themselves.<sup>18</sup> Nonetheless, the majority of older patients in Chapter 5 did want to be fully informed and involved in their treatment decisions. Greater tailoring of information and awareness of the factors that individual patients perceive as important may help to improve patient satisfaction with decision making and ultimately patient outcomes.

The weight of the evidence suggests that non-receipt of adjuvant therapy rests predominantly in the hands of physicians. Physician recommendation and trust in the physician were rated highly by patients in Chapter 5, as in previous research.<sup>19</sup> The vast majority of older patients are willing to accept chemotherapy if it is offered.<sup>20,21</sup> In a patterns of care study conducted in NSW in 2000, the proportion of patients with nodepositive colon cancer refusing referral for adjuvant chemotherapy was 8.5%.<sup>22</sup> Too often, older patients report that adjuvant therapy was not discussed.<sup>23,24</sup> Variation in surgeon opinions and knowledge in Chapter 4 suggests that the individual surgeon a patient sees may determine whether they are referred for adjuvant therapy. The variation between

hospitals in rates of adjuvant therapy receipt in Chapter 3, and rates of one-year mortality in Chapter 6, demonstrate that the care a patient receives can depend on the hospital they attend for surgery.

However, variation also indicates that there is potential for improvements in care and outcomes. Multidisciplinary team meetings, a predictor of adjuvant therapy receipt in Chapter 3, can be effective in decreasing variation in management and survival.<sup>25,26</sup> Certainly, surgeons who work closely with oncologists have been found to have higher oncology consultation rates, which is a crucial factor in adjuvant therapy receipt.<sup>27</sup> The involvement of other disciplines such as the geriatrician and general practitioner are often advocated as part of shared care models or clinical care pathways for older patients.<sup>28,29</sup> Decreases in unmet need over time were less apparent for older patients in Chapter 2, suggesting a more prolonged assault of surgery and a need for greater ongoing monitoring, possibly through general practitioners in primary care. Other factors associated with adjuvant therapy use in Chapter 3, such as having a current partner, and the high importance that older patients placed on maintaining independence in Chapter 4, further indicate that greater social support and access to care may be necessary to facilitate adjuvant therapy use.

Chen and colleagues suggest that underutilisation of treatment for older cancer patients may be reduced if physicians had better tools to select patients who would benefit from and tolerate treatment.<sup>30</sup> It is now widely legislated that chronological age must not be used as a proxy for the proper assessment of individual need.<sup>31</sup> Indeed, age was not an accurate way of determining who will live to benefit from health resources in Chapter 6. Clinicians' estimates of life expectancy can be imprecise.<sup>32</sup> Risk stratification through the use of a simplified tool, such as that proposed in Chapter 6, may be a useful way to supplement physician judgements in the absence of the considerable resources that may be needed to complete the 'gold standard' comprehensive geriatric assessment for all patients.<sup>33</sup> Such tools can also be useful for identifying patients who may benefit from

prehabilitation strategies to optimise their health before starting treatment.<sup>34</sup> In Chapter 6, the mortality risk model that was developed indicated that factors such as malnutrition, length of stay, and emergency resection are potential targets for improving the outcomes of older patients.

#### 7.3. Limitations

#### 7.3.1. Adjusting for confounders

Determining whether age alone is a predictor of care or outcomes requires that factors associated with age, such as comorbidity and functional status, are both collected and used in analyses. The incorporation of health markers in clinical trials and population-based databases has been identified as a major gap in geriatric oncology research.<sup>35</sup> In Chapter 3, measures of both comorbidity and ASA physical status were able to be extracted from existing hospital data collections to examine age differences in adjuvant therapy receipt. A number of other health markers were able to be utilised to develop a mortality risk model for node-positive colon cancer patients in Chapter 6. However, it is likely that comorbidities and health markers are underascertained in the health datasets used for both of these studies.

There is also no gold standard approach to measuring comorbidity in cancer.<sup>36</sup> The use of a summary score may miss the impact of specific comorbidities, or the potential multiplicative effect of two or more chronic conditions in combination.<sup>37</sup> A standard validated summary score (Charlson index) was used in Chapter 3, while individual comorbidities were used in Chapter 6 to develop a more user-friendly risk model. Physical function is perhaps of greater importance for treatment decision making in older patients, and will not be adequately captured by a single physical status score. Indexes that predict physical function could therefore have greater usefulness for this population.<sup>38</sup> Increasing the completeness and collection of health status measures is vital for ensuring that the rich information provided by population-based datasets can be better utilised to generate evidence for underresearched groups such as older cancer patients.

Another major challenge when comparing older and younger populations is separating the effects of age, cohort and period.<sup>39</sup> That is, determining whether observed age differences are intrinsically due to the process of ageing, or can be attributed to the time in which a cohort grew up in, or are living in at present. These factors cannot be separated in the studies conducted as part of this thesis, as they are all cross-sectional (or short-term longitudinal) in nature. Older patients and physicians may have views about treatment and the medical encounter stemming from the poorer medical outcomes of the past, or from previous paternalistic models of care. Concerns about functional suitability for treatment could also be the result of cohort attitudes about the effect of functional dependence on family, or about present-day technology that is available to facilitate independence. As the baby boomer generation approaches old age, barriers and facilitators of treatment will likely change in response to the growing demand for services, views on how to allocate resources, and the high expectations of this generation for their health, longevity, and care.<sup>40</sup> Ongoing monitoring of vulnerable groups is therefore necessary.

Social desirability bias in self-report questionnaires can confound results.<sup>41</sup> The potential for older patients to underreport their symptoms was discussed in Chapter 2. Physicians have also been found to overestimate their adherence to treatment guidelines.<sup>42</sup> The finding that surgeon age was a predictor of survey responses in Chapter 4 could be biased if younger surgeons were more likely to inaccurately portray themselves as treating older and younger patients similarly. Nonetheless, considerable differences remained in referral recommendations for older and younger patients in this survey.

#### 7.3.2. Internal and external validity

While the surgeon survey in Chapter 4 achieved a good response rate (70%) and had a relatively large sample size (n=102), the studies of patients' needs and QOL in Chapter 2 and the patient survey in Chapter 5 consisted of relatively small samples (n<70) recruited from a single tertiary referral hospital. There is the potential that these studies were underpowered to detect age differences in unmet needs, missing data, or factors of

importance for patients' decision making. The patients recruited for these smaller studies were broadly representative of CRC patients in terms of sex, cancer stage, and country of birth, however the median age of both of these populations was 4-5 years lower than would be expected. These factors may affect the generalisability of the findings, particularly for the older age groups. In the patient survey of barriers to chemotherapy use, none of the participants had refused adjuvant therapy. Insights into actual barriers could therefore not be deduced. While the findings of these small studies should be treated with caution, it is encouraging that the results are largely consistent with previous findings and a priori hypotheses.

The trade-off between the cost and quality of data is an ongoing issue in monitoring the quality of care at a population level.<sup>43</sup> Issues in the coverage and completeness of the ClinCR dataset used to determine rates of adjuvant therapy uptake were extensively discussed in Chapter 3. However, the findings of Chapter 3 are likely to have high validity in the Australian context, as one third of the country's population resides in NSW. Developing cancer-specific geriatric tools is frequently cited as a priority area for improving the care and outcomes of older patients.<sup>44,45</sup> The use of local data to develop a risk model that included markers of frailty and health status in Chapter 6 may increase the clinical credibility and therefore the usefulness of this model, though it requires further development and testing.

#### 7.3.3. Specific research gaps

This thesis did not explore the potential for the impact of the oncologist on the treatment of older patients. While surgeons have previously been found to act as important gatekeepers in the receipt of adjuvant therapy, oncologists also appear to hold preferences against the treatment of older patients<sup>46</sup> and are less likely to recommend adjuvant therapy even in the absence of comorbidity.<sup>47</sup> In Chapter 3, the hospital variation in adjuvant therapy receipt that was present after accounting for surgeons could point to differing practices of oncologists, or breakdowns in the care pathway. An important

consideration for research examining surgeon treatment patterns in isolation is that surgeons generally happen to fall before oncologists in the treatment pathway. That is, the surgeon may select out those who the oncologist would deem unfit for adjuvant therapy anyway. Where hospital variation in adjuvant therapy receipt is large, a system-based approach to intervention may therefore be necessary.

This thesis also focused primarily on issues in adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer, rather than adjuvant or neoadjuvant radiotherapy for rectal cancer. While having similar aims in terms of prevention of recurrence and survival, these treatments differ significantly in their effects on the body and in surgical issues dictated by the tumour location. Overall rates of radiotherapy for rectal cancer were lower than rates of chemotherapy for colon cancer in Chapter 3, consistent with previous research. However, age differences in radiotherapy receipt were less significant. This finding was reflected in Chapter 4 where there was greater consensus between surgeons that age alone should not be a barrier to radiotherapy use. Greater exploration of the decision-making issues unique to radiotherapy in rectal cancer is needed, including the smaller potential benefits resulting from improved surgery techniques, additional local concerns around out-of-pocket costs and travel,<sup>48</sup> and the investment needed in new facilities to keep pace with the demand for services.<sup>49</sup>

#### 7.4. Future directions and priorities

Though cancer and ageing would appear to be obvious bedfellows, geriatric oncology is a relatively new field. The first programs dedicated to geriatric oncology only appeared in the mid 1990s,<sup>50</sup> and the first Australian program was created less than five years ago.<sup>51</sup> With the realisation that this group is rapidly becoming the vast majority of cancer patients, issues in geriatric oncology have been receiving increasing attention.<sup>52</sup> Treatment guidelines for adjuvant therapy in colorectal cancer have existed since 1990.<sup>53</sup> However, older cancer patients present a unique set of challenges for physicians, not least of which is their notorious under-examination in all aspects of health research.

What is needed to increase the evidence-based care of older colorectal cancer patients? The lack of consensus among surgeons in Chapter 4 suggests that more research is needed both to predict the benefits and risks of treatment for older patients, and to determine how information from emerging evidence can best be used to assist physicians' treatment decisions. Both of these are needed in tandem; more high-quality and specialised geriatric trials will not be of benefit unless this research can be translated into practice. Evidence is sparse on the best ways to affect change in physician treatment practices. Routine monitoring of performance and peer-comparison feedback is one potential avenue.<sup>54</sup> It is also promising to note that rates of guideline-recommended treatment are already on the rise, suggesting that further improvements are possible.

Recent trends towards personalised medicine based on an individual's genetic profile will certainly be of benefit for older cancer patients. Strides in identifying biomarkers that predict physiological age may help to shift the emphasis in treatment decision making from arbitrary age cut-offs to better predictors of treatment complications and life expectancy. In the meantime, the care and outcomes of older patients may be improved by routine assessment to identify fitness and vulnerability, greater use of tools to help patients and physicians balance the benefits and risks of treatment, investment in geriatrics training and service infrastructure, and more rigorous and valid PRO research. Additional informed debate is also required around the social and economic considerations in ageing and cancer, as no assessment tool on its own will be able to change attitudes about the value of treating cancer in older patients.

# 7.5. References

- Lipscomb J, Gotay CC, Snyder CF. Patient-reported outcomes in cancer: a review of recent research and policy initiatives. CA Cancer J Clin 2007;57:278-300.
- Wedding U, Pientka L, Hoffken K. Quality-of-life in elderly patients with cancer: a short review. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2203-2210.
- 3. Brundage M, Bass B, Jolie R, Foley K. A knowledge translation challenge: clinical use of quality of life data from cancer clinical trials. Qual Life Res 2011;20:979-985.
- Efficace F, Osoba D, Gotay C, Sprangers M, Coens C, Bottomley A. Has the quality of health-related quality of life reporting in cancer clinical trials improved over time? Towards bridging the gap with clinical decision making. Ann Oncol 2007;18:775-781.
- Fielding S, Maclennan G, Cook J, Ramsay C. A review of RCTs in four medical journals to assess the use of imputation to overcome missing data in quality of life outcomes. Trials 2008;9:51.
- Faivre J, Lemmens VE, Quipourt V, Bouvier AM. Management and survival of colorectal cancer in the elderly in population-based studies. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2279-2284.
- Jansen SJ, Kievit J, Nooij MA, De Haes JC, Overpelt IM, Van Slooten H, et al. Patients' preferences for adjuvant chemotherapy in early-stage breast cancer: is treatment worthwhile? Br J Cancer 2001;84:1577-1585.
- Mather M, Mazar N, Gorlick MA, Lighthall NR, Burgeno J, Schoeke A, et al. Risk preferences and aging: the "certainty effect" in older adults' decision making. Psychol Aging 2012;27:801-816.
- Archampong D, Borowski D, Wille-Jorgensen P, Iversen LH. Workload and surgeon's specialty for outcome after colorectal cancer surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;3:CD005391.

- Luo R, Giordano SH, Zhang DD, Freeman J, Goodwin JS. The role of the surgeon in whether patients with lymph node-positive colon cancer see a medical oncologist. Cancer 2007;109:975-982.
- Harrison J, Young J, Butow P, Solomon M. Needs in health care: what beast is that? Int J Health Serv 2013;43:567-585.
- 12. Yong HH. Can attitudes of stoicism and cautiousness explain observed age-related variation in levels of self-rated pain, mood disturbance and functional interference in chronic pain patients? Eur J Pain 2006;10:399-407.
- Walters K, Iliffe S, Orrell M. An exploration of help-seeking behaviour in older people with unmet needs. Fam Pract 2001;18:277-282.
- Amalraj S, Starkweather C, Nguyen C, Naeim A. Health literacy, communication, and treatment decision-making in older cancer patients. Oncology (Williston Park) 2009;23:369-375.
- 15. Shin DW, Kim SY, Cho J, Sanson-Fisher RW, Guallar E, Chai GY, et al. Discordance in perceived needs between patients and physicians in oncology practice: a nationwide survey in Korea. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:4424-4429.
- Williams SL, Haskard KB, DiMatteo MR. The therapeutic effects of the physician-older patient relationship: effective communication with vulnerable older patients. Clin Interv Aging 2007;2:453-467.
- Addington-Hall J, Kalra L. Measuring quality of life: who should measure quality of life? Br Med J 2001;322:1417-1420.
- Butow PN, Solomon M, Young JM, Whelan T, Salkeld G, Wilson K, et al. Consumer impact of an interactive decision aid for rectal cancer patients offered adjuvant therapy. Colorectal Dis 2006;8:676-682.
- Salkeld G, Solomon M, Short L, Butow PN. A matter of trust patient's views on decision-making in colorectal cancer. Health Expect 2004;7:104-114.

- 20. Razali RM, Bee PC, Gan GG. Survey of willingness to accept chemotherapy among elderly Malaysian patients. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013;14:2029-2032.
- 21. Extermann M, Albrand G, Chen H, Zanetta S, Schonwetter R, Zulian GB, et al. Are older French patients as willing as older American patients to undertake chemotherapy? J Clin Oncol 2003;21:3214-3219.
- Armstrong K, O'Connell DL, Leong D, Spigelman AD, Armstrong BK. The New South Wales Colorectal Cancer Care Survey 2000: Part 1. Surgical management. Sydney: The Cancer Council New South Wales 2004.
- 23. Shelton RC, Hillyer GC, Hershman DL, Leoce N, Bovbjerg DH, Mandelblatt JS, et al. Interpersonal influences and attitudes about adjuvant therapy treatment decisions among non-metastatic breast cancer patients: an examination of differences by age and race/ethnicity in the BQUAL study. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2012:1-12.
- 24. Thwin SS, Fink AK, Lash TL, Silliman RA. Predictors and outcomes of surgeons' referral of older breast cancer patients to medical oncologists. Cancer 2005;104:936-942.
- Wang J, Kuo YF, Freeman J, Goodwin JS. Increasing access to medical oncology consultation in older patients with stage II-IIIA non-small-cell lung cancer. Med Oncol 2008;25:125-132.
- Kesson EM, Allardice GM, George WD, Burns HJ, Morrison DS. Effects of multidisciplinary team working on breast cancer survival: retrospective, comparative, interventional cohort study of 13,722 women. BMJ 2012;344:2718.
- Luo R, Giordano SH, Freeman JL, Zhang D, Goodwin JS. Referral to medical oncology: a crucial step in the treatment of older patients with stage III colon cancer. Oncologist 2006;11:1025-1033.
- Cohen HJ. A model for the shared care of elderly patients with cancer. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:S300-S302.

- de Vries M, van Weert JC, Jansen J, Lemmens VE, Maas HA. Step by step development of clinical care pathways for older cancer patients: necessary or desirable? Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2170-2178.
- Chen RC, Royce TJ, Extermann M, Reeve BB. Impact of age and comorbidity on treatment and outcomes in elderly cancer patients. Semin Radiat Oncol 2012;22:265-271.
- Department of Health. Implementing a ban on age discrimination in the NHS making effective, appropriate decisions. 2012. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/21 2944/ban-on-age-discrimination.pdf
- Stockler MR, Tattersall MH, Boyer MJ, Clarke SJ, Beale PJ, Simes RJ. Disarming the guarded prognosis: predicting survival in newly referred patients with incurable cancer. Br J Cancer 2006;94:208-212.
- Rodin MB, Mohile SG. A practical approach to geriatric assessment in oncology. J Clin Oncol 2007;25:1936-1944.
- 34. Cheema FN, Abraham NS, Berger DH, Albo D, Taffet GE, Naik AD. Novel approaches to perioperative assessment and intervention may improve long-term outcomes after colorectal cancer resection in older adults. Ann Surg 2011;253:867-874.
- 35. Dale W, Mohile SG, Eldadah BA, Trimble EL, Schilsky RL, Cohen HJ, et al. Biological, clinical, and psychosocial correlates at the interface of cancer and aging research. J Natl Cancer Inst 2012;104:581-589.
- Sarfati D. Review of methods used to measure comorbidity in cancer populations: no gold standard exists. J Clin Epidemiol 2012;65:924-933.
- 37. Hurria A. Embracing the complexity of comorbidity. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:4217-4218.
- 38. Groll DL, To T, Bombardier C, Wright JG. The development of a comorbidity index with physical function as the outcome. J Clin Epidemiol 2005;58:595-602.

- Trask PC, Blank TO, Jacobsen PB. Future perspectives on the treatment issues associated with cancer and aging. Cancer 2008;113:3512-3518.
- Quine S, Carter S. Australian baby boomers' expectations and plans for their old age. Australas J Ageing 2006;25:3-8.
- 41. van de Mortel TF. Faking it: social desirability response bias in self-report research.Aust J Adv Nurs 2008;25:40-48.
- 42. Adams AS, Soumerai SB, Lomas J, Ross-Degnan D. Evidence of self-report bias in assessing adherence to guidelines. Int J Qual Health Care 1999;11:187-192.
- Malin JL, Keating NL. The cost-quality trade-off: need for data quality standards for studies that impact clinical practice and health policy. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:4581-4584.
- 44. Ring A. Treating cancer in older people. BMJ 2012;345:4954.
- 45. Pallis AG, Fortpied C, Wedding U, Van Nes MC, Penninckx B, Ring A, et al. EORTC elderly task force position paper: approach to the older cancer patient. Eur J Cancer 2010;46:1502-1513.
- 46. Foster JA, Salinas GD, Mansell D, Williamson JC, Casebeer LL. How does older age influence oncologists' cancer management? Oncologist 2010;15:584-592.
- 47. El Shayeb M, Scarfe A, Yasui Y, Winget M. Reasons physicians do not recommend and patients refuse adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: a population based chart review. BMC Res Notes 2012;7:269.
- 48. Hegney D, Pearce S, Rogers-Clark C, Martin-Mcdonald K, Buikstra E. Close, but still too far. The experience of Australian people with cancer commuting from a regional to a capital city for radiotherapy treatment. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2005;14:75-82.
- Barton MB, Delaney GP. A decade of investment in radiotherapy in New South
   Wales: why does the gap between optimal and actual persist? J Med Imaging Radiat
   Oncol 2011;55:433-441.

- 50. Extermann M. Future of geriatric oncology. Aging Health 2007;3:149-158.
- To TH, Okera M, Prouse J, Prowse RJ, Singhal N. Infancy of an Australian geriatric oncology program-characteristics of the first 200 patients. J Geriatr Oncol 2010;1:81-86.
- 52. Rao AV, Hurria A, Kimmick G, Pinheiro S, Seo PH. Geriatric oncology: past, present, future. J Oncol Pract 2008;4:190-192.
- 53. NIH consensus conference. Adjuvant therapy for patients with colon and rectal cancer. JAMA 1990;264:1444-1450.
- 54. Ivers N, Jamtvedt G, Flottorp S, Young JM, Odgaard-Jensen J, French SD, et al. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;6:CD000259.